
Board of Directors Regular Meeting Agenda 
Wharfinger Building, Bay Room (downstairs) 
1 Marina Way, Eureka, CA 95501 

Thursday, February 26 2026 
3:30 PM 

Meeting Information 
Meeting Reports and Comments 
Pursuant to Government Code section 54957.5, all writings or documents relating to any item on this 
agenda which have been provided to a majority of the Board, including those received less than 72 hours 
prior to the Board’s meeting, will be made available to the public at redwoodenergy.org.  
Speakers wishing to distribute materials to the Board at the meeting must provide 13 copies to the Board 
Clerk. 

How to Participate 
This is a hybrid in-person and virtual meeting. When technical difficulties arise that prevent members 
of the public from offering comments, or if broadcasting is disrupted due to matters out of RCEA’s control, 
the meeting will be discontinued unless otherwise allowed by law. 

To participate in the meeting online, go to https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81972368051.  

To participate by phone, call (669) 900-6833 or (253) 215-8782. Enter webinar ID: 819 7236 8051. 

To speak during the public comment periods, raise your hand in the online Zoom webinar, or press 
star (*) 9 on your phone to raise your hand. Staff will ask you to unmute your phone or computer when it 
is your turn. You will have 3 minutes to speak. 

Email written comments to PublicComment@redwoodenergy.org. Identify the agenda item number in 
the subject line. Comments will be included in the meeting record but not read aloud during the meeting. 

Accessibility 
Need help with accessibility? Any member of the public needing special accommodation to participate 
in this meeting or access the meeting materials should email LTaketa@redwoodenergy.org or call (707) 
269-1700 at least 3 business days before the meeting. Assistive listening devices are available.

1

https://maps.app.goo.gl/a9RhkqPk4SaRMpzj7
https://redwoodenergy.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81972368051
mailto:PublicComment@redwoodenergy.org
mailto:LTaketa@redwoodenergy.org


February 26, 2026 
RCEA Board of Directors Meeting Agenda 
Page | 2 

Open Session (Call to Order) 
1. Roll Call | Remote Director Participation

1.1. Brown Act Teleconference Participation Rules

2. Ceremonial Item
2.1. Proclamation Honoring 15 Years of Dedicated Service by Humboldt Bay Municipal Water

District Director Sheri Woo 

3. Reports from Member Entities

4. Oral & Written Communications
This time is provided for people to address the Board or submit written communications on matters not on the
agenda. At the conclusion of all oral communications, the Board may respond to statements. Any request that
requires Board action will be set by the Board for a future agenda or referred to staff.

5. Staff Reports
5.1. Executive Directors’ Report 

6. Consent Calendar
All matters in the Consent Calendar section are considered routine by the Board and are enacted in one
motion. There is no separate discussion of any of these items; if discussion is required, that item is removed
from the Consent Calendar and considered separately. At the end of the reading of the Consent Calendar,
Board members or members of the public can request that an item be removed for separate discussion.

6.1. Approve Minutes of January 22, 2026, Board Meeting. 
6.2. Accept Disbursement Report for December 2025, and Financial Reports for This Fiscal Year 

Through December 2025. 
6.3. Receive Federal Activity Report. 
6.4. Approve Amendment No. 1 to Agreement for Employment of Executive Director with Elizabeth 

Burks. 
6.5. Approve First Amendment to Commercial Lease Agreement for 633 3rd Street, with Rent in the 

Sum of $8,144.97 per Month and a Term Ending May 31, 2027, and Authorize the Executive 
Director to Execute All Applicable Documents Pending Review by RCEA Legal Counsel. 

6.6. Adopt Resolution 2026-2 Approving a Revised RCEA Records Retention Policy and Schedule. 
6.7. Accept RCEA Racial Justice Plan Progress Report. 
6.8. Appoint Carol Schmitt as an At-Large Community Advisory Committee Member with a Term 

expiring March 31, 2028. 
6.9. Receive Humboldt Bay Municipal Water District’s Notice of Withdrawal from RCEA Joint 

Powers Authority. 
6.10. Approve Amended and Restated Northern Rural Energy Network Memorandum of Agreement. 

7. Items Removed from Consent Calendar
Items removed from the Consent Calendar section will be heard under this section.

2



February 26, 2026 
RCEA Board of Directors Meeting Agenda 
Page | 3 

8. Old Business
8.1. Sandrini Battery Storage Community Benefits Fund 

Provide feedback and give direction to staff to: 
1. Engage with EDP Renewables to achieve agreement in principle on how funds will be

expended and
2. Develop a formal proposal for Board approval at a future meeting for a community

benefits endowment.

9. New Business
9.1. Rate Adjustment Cost of Service Rate Design Study Update and Rate Adjustment 

Consideration 

Direct staff to incorporate cost of service rate design considerations into future strategic 
planning efforts, and direct staff to implement the interim rate setting plan requiring staff to 
bring rate recommendations to the Board once projections show that unrestricted cash on 
hand will fall below the 180-day target within the coming 30 days. 

9.2. California Community Power’s Hydrostor Willow Rock Energy Storage Service Agreement 

Approve Resolution 2026-3 Authorizing Participation in California Community Power’s 
Procurement of Hydrostor’s Willow Rock Advanced Compressed Air Energy Storage Project. 

9.3. Harbor District Waterfront Facility Improvement Program Grant Contracting Opportunity 

Approve entering into a grant subrecipient agreement with the Humboldt Bay Harbor, 
Recreational and Conservation District to perform outreach and community engagement 
services for the Waterfront Facility Improvement Program grant and authorize the Executive 
Director to execute the Agreement once finalized and any associated documents necessary to 
secure the grant subaward. 

10. Future Agenda Items
Any request that requires Board action will be set by the Board for a future agenda or referred to staff.

11. Adjournment

Next Regular Meeting 
Thursday, March 26, 2026 | 3:30 PM 

Wharfinger Building Bay Room (downstairs), 1 Marina Way, Eureka, CA 95501 
Online and phone participation is available via Zoom. 

3



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

4



 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 1.1 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Eileen Verbeck, Deputy Executive Director 

Subject Revised Member Teleconference Participation Rules 

Background 
When emergency Brown Act meeting law changes went into effect in 2020 due to the COVID-19 public 
health emergency, the RCEA Board of Directors, Community Advisory Committee (CAC) and the 
subcommittees of those bodies met online via teleconference using the Zoom platform with no physical, 
public meeting location. Since the pandemic, the Brown Act has been amended to codify modern 
teleconference meeting practices both during and outside of declared states of emergency. SB 707 
(Durazo, 2025) sets out the latest Brown Act revisions which were signed into law on October 3, 3025. 

Summary 
RCEA Board Directors may attend up to two meetings per year from a remote location without making 
the location accessible to the public for the following, revised, “just cause” reasons: 

1. Childcare or caregiving to child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, domestic 
partner;  

2. Contagious illness that prevents in person attendance;  
3. Mental or physical need not subject to reasonable accommodation provisions;  
4. Travel while on official business of RCEA or another state or local agency;  
5. Immunocompromised child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or domestic partner 

that requires remote participation;  
6. Physical or family medical emergency; or 
7. Military service obligations.   

A vote is not necessary to request remote attendance for just cause, including for medical emergency 
remote attendance per SB 707 revisions. A brief description, protecting the Director’s (or family 
member’s) medical privacy, must be provided and the Director must publicly disclose whether anyone 18 
years of age or older is present in the room at the remote location, and the general nature of the 
individual’s relationship with the Director. 

At a future meeting, staff will recommend Board adoption of a revised Teleconferencing Policy capturing 
the latest Brown Act revisions and provide the Board an opportunity to pass a resolution enabling remote 
meeting participation for members who must travel at least 20 miles to the Wharfinger Building.  

5



 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Staff Recommendation 
None. Information only. 

Required Distribution Information 
The Revised Ralph M. Brown Act  
Link to California Government Code Sections 54950 - 549631, revised October 3, 2025, by SB 707 
(Durazo, 2025). 

Redwood Coast Energy Authority List of Physical Meeting Locations 
Body Date Time Location 

Board of Directors 4th Thursday of each 
month 3:30 p.m. Wharfinger Building, 1 Marina Way, 

Eureka, CA 95501 

Community Advisory 
Committee 

2nd Tuesday of odd-
numbered months 6 p.m. 

Jefferson Community Center 
Auditorium, 1000 B Street, Eureka, 
CA 95501 

Finance Committee As needed, dates TBD TBD RCEA Offices, 633 Third Street, 
Eureka, CA 95501 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 The Revised Ralph M. Brown Act, California Code, GOV 54950.5 - 54963: 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapt
er=9.&article= 

6

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article=
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=2.&title=5.&part=1.&chapter=9.&article=


 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 5.1 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Elizabeth Burks, Executive Director 

Subject Executive Directors’ Report 

Summary 
Executive Director Elizabeth Burks will provide updates on topics as needed. These updates include but 
are not limited to the following. 

RCEA Updates 
CADEMO Offshore Wind Project Roundtable Participation 
On February 27, 2026, I will attend an in-person roundtable discussion in Lompoc, CA, hosted by Senate 
President pro Tempore Monique Limón, the California Foundation on the Environment and the Economy 
(CFEE), and the State Building & Construction Trades Council of California. The discussion will focus on 
the CADEMO project and its potential role in the energy transition. The session will convene a small 
group of public officials, labor leaders, energy providers, project representatives, and other stakeholders 
for a focused discussion on the status of the project, key policy and implementation considerations, and 
areas where additional coordination or information may be helpful moving forward. In addition to Senate 
President pro Tempore Monique Limón, Assembly Speaker Robert Rivas is confirmed to attend.  

Call Log Summary 
In January 2026 there were 130 incoming phone calls logged in the CRM (customer relationship 
management software), which is up 110% from December 2025, but is consistent with January of 2025 
total of 131. The top categories for phone calls were: 

• Billing Inquiry: 33 (25% of total)  
• Collections: 20 (15% of total) 
• Opt Out Inquiry: 18 (14% of total) 

 
Beginning in January of 2026 RCEA began tracking interactions that are not logged in the CRM.  These 
are calls or in person visits from people who are either not a CCA customer or not inclined to give their 
account number.  A total of 60 interactions were reported, 53 of which were phone calls. Rebate inquiries 
had the highest volume of calls of any category, followed by general billing questions.    

Community Activity Summary 
See attached.  

7



 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Supporting our Community Program Marketing Initiative 
We have had a strong initial response to our launch of the Supporting Our Communities marketing 
initiative, with 13 applications coming in immediately following our press release. We are evaluating 
which opportunities we can support. Even for the requests we cannot support we have been following up 
with each applicant and sharing information about RCEA and exploring other ways to connect or 
collaborate.   

Upcoming Conferences 
Board members are encouraged to participate in the upcoming conferences where there will be a chance 
to gain deeper understanding of the issues and opportunities related to RCEA business. Upcoming 
opportunities include:  

• CalCCA Conference May 12-14, 2026 in Sacramento, CA 
• CivicWell Policymakers Conference March 12-15, 2026, in Yosemite National Park (RCEA has 

one complimentary registration for this conference.)  
• California Climate and Energy Collaborative (CCEC) Forum June 24-25, 2026 in Los Angeles, 

CA. This conference is largely focused on work related to Regional Energy Networks, such as 
NREN.  

 

If you are interested in any of these opportunities please let me know.  

Staff Recommendation 
None. Information only. 

Attachments 
1. Community Outreach Events Summary 

 

8



Presentation & Event

The focus in February has been on planning the
events and workshops for the year.

2026 Planning

Redwood Coast
Energy Authority –
Community Outreach
& Events Summary

February 2026
AT A GLANCE

Each month, RCEA connects with
community members across Humboldt
County through events, presentations, and
outreach efforts that build awareness of
our programs and services. This summary
provides a snapshot of our outreach reach,
engagement highlights, and upcoming
opportunities to connect with the
community.

The focus this year is on holding more
workshops and staffing community events.

Upcoming Events
Presentations: Tri-County Independent Living-
March 3 and Cal Poly Humboldt OLLI Brown
Bag Lunch- March 16
Residential Workshop: Understanding Bil ls-
March 20
Event: Tabling at the Perilous Plunge, March 21

Brytann Busick presented to members of the Peninsula
Community Collaborative (PCC) in Fairhaven on
February 9 . The PCC works to promote health, safety,
and well-being on the Samoa Peninsula.

th

Staffed an education table at the McKinleyville Family
Resource Center on February 25 .th

9



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

10



 
 

Board of Directors Draft Meeting Minutes 
Wharfinger Building, Bay Room (downstairs) 
1 Marina Way, Eureka, CA 95501 

Thursday, January 22 2026 
3:30 PM 

Attendance 
Present 
Scott Bauer Carlos Diaz 

Michael Gerace Skip Jorgensen 

Jason Ramos Elise Scafani 

Sarah Schaefer (left at 6:58 p.m.) Jack Tuttle 

Sheri Woo (left at 5 p.m.) Frank Wilson 

Mike Wilson *  

* Director Mike Wilson participated remotely with just cause, travel for state agency business. There was 
no one present at the remote location with him during this meeting. 

None Absent 

Staff and Others Present 
Name Title 

Ken Beals Information Technology Technician 

Lori Biondini Director of Business Planning & Finance 

Elizabeth Burks Executive Director 

Faith Carlson Regulatory & Legislative Policy Manager 

Ronnie Chaussé Acting Finance Manager 

Nancy Diamond RCEA Legal Counsel 

Richard Engel Power Resources Director 

11

https://share.google/dFckBC0P6LwqzLHom


 

 
1/22/26 
RCEA Board of Directors DRAFT Minutes 
Page | 2 
 

Roku Fukui Local Government Partner Program Manager 

Lori Taketa Board Clerk 

Patricia Terry Northern Rural Energy Network Senior Portfolio Mgr.  

Eileen Verbeck Deputy Executive Director 

Open Session 
Chair Bauer called a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Redwood Coast Energy Authority to order 
at the above location and date at 3:32 p.m. Notice of this meeting was posted on January 17, 2026. 

Board Appointments 
2.1. Election of Officers and Community Advisory Committee Liaison Appointments 

There were no public comments on this agenda item. 

M/S: M. Wilson, Schaefer: Appoint Michael Gerace as RCEA Board Chair and Sarah Schaefer as 
Vice Chair to serve through January 2027 and authorize them as signers on RCEA bank accounts. 

The motion passed with a unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: Bauer, Diaz, Gerace, Jorgensen, 
Ramos, Scafani, Schaefer, Tuttle, F. Wilson, M. Wilson, Woo. Noes: None. Absent: None. Abstain: 
None. 

M/S: Schaefer, Scafani: Appoint Sarah Schaefer as Board Liaison and Scott Bauer as Alternate 
Liaison to the Community Advisory Committee to serve through January 2027. 

The motion passed with a unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: Bauer, Diaz, Gerace, Jorgensen, 
Ramos, Scafani, Schaefer, Tuttle, F. Wilson, M. Wilson, Woo. Noes: None. Absent: None. Abstain: 
None. 

Director Bauer facilitated the remainder of this meeting. 

2.2. Board Finance Committee Member Assignment 

There were no public comments on this agenda item. 

M/S: Bauer, Scafani: Continue the standing Finance Committee and appoint Chair Gerace and 
Directors Bauer, Jorgensen, Ramos and F. Wilson to serve on the Finance Committee for one-
year terms ending on February 28, 2027. 

The motion passed with a unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: Bauer, Diaz, Gerace, Jorgensen, 
Ramos, Scafani, Schaefer, Tuttle, F. Wilson, M. Wilson, Woo. Noes: None. Absent: None. Abstain: 
None. 

Reports from Member Entities 
Director Woo reported that the Humboldt Bay Municipal Water District Board voted to withdraw from both 
the RCEA and Redwood Region Economic Development joint powers agreements effective March 1. The 
directors thanked Director Woo for her committed service since 2011. Director Woo also reported on the 

12



 

 
1/22/26 
RCEA Board of Directors DRAFT Minutes 
Page | 3 
 

Water District’s involvement in fighting the recent Arcata fire. Water District staff ran pumps with 
generators due to higher PG&E daytime rates and there was adequate water pressure and supply. Vice 
Chair Schaefer reported on the countywide effort to contain the fire. 

Chair Gerace reported that the Yurok Tribe, through its construction corporation Merk Confederated, will 
fund and begin planned battery storage and a solar array installation, the initial components of a 
microgrid with islanding and backup capabilities. These assets were originally planned as part of the 
Tribal Energy Resilience and Sovereignty project which won, then lost, Federal funding support. The 
Tribe is planning a 1 to 1.5 MW Ke’pel Creek hydroelectric system to generate energy for the microgrid. 
RCEA may wish to discuss involvement in this project in the future. 

Director Mike Wilson recommended RCEA Board Director attendance at the upcoming CivicWell 
Policymakers Conference in March and at the California Climate and Energy Collaborative Forum in 
June. 

Oral & Written Communications 
There were no non-agenda item public comments. 

Consent Calendar 
5.1. Approve Minutes of November 24, 2025, Board Meeting. 
5.2. Approve Disbursement Reports for October and November 2025, and Financial Reports for this 

Fiscal Year Through November 2025. 
5.3. Receive Federal Activity Report. 
5.4. Approve the 2026 RCEA Board of Directors Meeting Calendar. 
5.5. Provide Suggestions for This and Future Policy Platform Updates, and  

Accept 2026 RCEA Policy Platform. 

There were no requests from the public or directors to remove items from the Consent Calendar. 

M/S: Scafani, Schaefer: Approve all Consent Calendar items. 

The motion passed with a unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: Bauer, Diaz, Gerace, Jorgensen, 
Ramos, Scafani, Schaefer, Tuttle, F. Wilson, M. Wilson, Woo. Noes: None. Absent: None. Abstain: 
None. 

Staff Reports 
7.1. Executive Director’s Report 

Executive Director Burks summarized RCEA’s community outreach efforts during the past month, and:  

• Announced RCEA’s sponsorship program which will award $25,000 to local organizations for 
activities or projects that can further RCEA’s presence and mission in the community.  

• PG&E will implement its base services charge in March 2026. The billing change is meant to 
provide relief for customers, especially in high-heat areas. Locally, however, customers with low 
energy use will see an increase in their bills.  

• RCEA received one complimentary registration for the Civic Well Policy Maker’s conference and 
can support a Board member’s travel to the event, and to other RCEA-related education events.  

13



 

 
1/22/26 
RCEA Board of Directors DRAFT Minutes 
Page | 4 
 

Begin Community Choice Energy (CCE) Business 
CCE Business Consent Calendar 
8.1. Adopt Resolution 2026-1 Adopting the Updated Energy Risk Management Policy. 

No one from the public nor the Board requested separate discussion of the CCE Business Consent 
Calendar item. 

M/S: Jorgensen, Schaefer: Approve Community Choice Energy Consent Calendar item. 

The motion passed with a unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: Bauer, Diaz, Jorgensen, Scafani, 
Schaefer, Tuttle, F. Wilson, M. Wilson. Noes: None. Abstain: None. Non-Voting: Gerace, Ramos, 
Woo. Absent: None.  

Old CCE Business 
10.1. Power Charge Indifference Adjustment Update (Information only) 

Regulatory and Legislative Policy Manager Carlson explained the Power Charge Indifference Adjustment 
(PCIA), where it appears on customer bills, how it affects how much Community Choice Aggregators like 
RCEA can charge for electricity and still remain competitive with the investor-owned utilities, and recent 
changes to how the PCIA is calculated that severely impact CCAs. The directors discussed actions the 
CCAs are taking to try to change the PCIA calculation method, and how in other states with CCA’s the 
PCIA charge usually ends in 10 years. California is the only state where the PCIA persists without a 
sunset date. Staff asked the directors to help educate legislators with whom they meet about this issue. 
There were no public comments on this agenda item. 

10.2. Energy Risk Management Semi-Annual Report 

Power Resources Director Engel described RCEA’s declining electricity load, which appears to be 
caused mostly by local population decrease and business closures. Business Planning and Finance 
Director Biondini outlined how RCEA handles customer debt, efforts to get customers on payment plans 
and the relatively small, but expected, amounts recovered by RCEA’s collection agency. PG&E’s 
decreased generation rates combined with increased PCIA charges for RCEA customers are expected to 
result in about $15 million less in electricity sales revenue than expected. This is projected to result in 
negative $1.1 million net revenue this year and negative $6.6 million in the next fiscal year. If RCEA 
maintains a generation rate that is slightly less than PG&E’s, RCEA’s cash on hand is projected to 
steadily decline from $44 million to $2.1 million at the end of 2028. Different rate change scenarios and 
their impact on customer bills were described. Staff asked the board for short-term direction on RCEA 
customer rates relative to PG&E’s rates for 2026. Staff will update the Board on the cost-of-service rate 
study currently underway at a future meeting and alerted the Board that action would need to be taken 
soon. Staff asked the Board to convey to the community RCEA’s value beyond affordability in the form of 
local control, energy efficiency programs and jobs. There were no public comments on this agenda item. 

 

End of CCE Business | Resume RCEA General Business 

14



 

 
1/22/26 
RCEA Board of Directors DRAFT Minutes 
Page | 5 
 

Old Business 

12.1. Community Advisory Committee (CAC) Member Appointments and Recruitment 

Deputy Executive Director Verbeck described current CAC vacancies and committee changes with the 
Water District’s departure from RCEA. Vice Chair Schaefer and Director Bauer volunteered to serve on 
an ad hoc committee to review at-large applications and recommend appointees. There were no public 
comments on this agenda item. 

M/S: Bauer, Schaefer: Reappoint Ethan Lawton, Benjamin Fordham, and Dennis Leonardi to the 
Community Advisory Committee for Two-Year Terms Ending on March 31, 2028. 

The motion passed with a unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: Bauer, Diaz, Gerace, Jorgensen, 
Ramos, Scafani, Schaefer, Tuttle, F. Wilson, M. Wilson. Noes: None. Absent: Woo. Abstain: None. 

New Business 
13.1. Presentation on Northern Rural Energy Network (NREN) 2028-31 Business Plan 

NREN Senior Portfolio Manager Terry described successful uptake of NREN energy efficiency programs 
during the program’s launch year both in Humboldt County and in other rural Northern California 
counties. Plans for the next business cycle include offering the same programs to an expanded area 
including Yolo and Trinity Counties and other rural, unserved counties identified through a market 
characterization study. There were no public comments on this item. 

M/S: Schaefer, Ramos: Approve submission of the 2028-2031 Northern Rural Energy Network 
Business Plan Application to the California Public Utilities Commission. 

The motion passed with a unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: Bauer, Diaz, Gerace, Jorgensen, 
Ramos, Scafani, Schaefer, Tuttle, F. Wilson, M. Wilson. Noes: None. Absent: Woo. Abstain: None. 

13.2. Baker Tilly Engagement for Redwood Coast Airport Microgrid and Electric Vehicle Charging 
Station Tax Credits 

Deputy Executive Director Verbeck reported that RCEA auditor Baker Tilly determined that the airport 
microgrid (RCAM) and RCEA’s electric vehicle charger network were eligible for tax incentives through 
the 2022 Inflation Reduction Act. RCAM is eligible for $1.6 million in investment tax credits. The EV 
charging network is eligible for $40,000 in credits, but filing costs make this credit not worth pursuing. 
There were no public comments on this item. 

M/S: M. Wilson, Schaefer:  

1. Approve an amendment to Baker Tilly Advisory Group, LP Master Service Agreement to 
increase the not-to-exceed amount by $31,000 for a total not-to-exceed of $80,500. 

2. Approve scope of work 2 with Baker Tilly for the preparation and filing of Investment Tax 
Credit documents for the Redwood Coast Airport Microgrid project. 

The motion passed with a unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: Bauer, Diaz, Gerace, Jorgensen, 
Ramos, Scafani, Schaefer, Tuttle, F. Wilson, M. Wilson. Noes: None. Absent: Woo. Abstain: None. 

15



 

 
1/22/26 
RCEA Board of Directors DRAFT Minutes 
Page | 6 
 

13.3. PG&E Local Government Partnership Contract to Provide Energy Efficiency Services Change 
Order 

Program Manager Fukui described recent projects with Local Government Partnership (LGP) including 
the Arcata Community Center and rural fire stations. The LGP program provides no-cost energy 
assessments, project management and planning support, and help securing loans for energy efficiency 
projects, among other supportive services for local government agencies, schools, commercial 
businesses and Tribes. Staff encouraged facility managers to contact RCEA for a no cost energy 
efficiency assessment. There were no public comments on this item. 

M/S: Schaefer, Scafani: Approve a Change Order to the PG&E Local Government Partnership 
Contract to extend the term through 2027, increase the budget by $799,992, and make 
amendments to the program design and authorize the Executive Director to execute all applicable 
documents after review and approval of RCEA General Counsel. 

The motion passed with a unanimous roll call vote. Ayes: Bauer, Diaz, Gerace, Ramos, Scafani, 
Schaefer, Tuttle, F. Wilson, M. Wilson. Noes: None. Absent: Jorgensen, Woo. Abstain: None. 
 

13.4. Discuss Regional Climate Action Plan Implementation 

Executive Director Burks described RCEA’s past involvement in the countywide Regional Climate Action 
Plan and asked the directors whether they would support RCEA hosting the Regional Climate Program 
Manager staff position and Regional Climate Committee to coordinate the Plan’s work. The directors 
discussed Humboldt County Association of Governments’ role in the Plan’s implementation, how having 
a climate action officer makes jurisdictions and Joint Powers Authorities eligible for additional funding, 
RCEA’s involvement in half of the Climate Action Plan’s measures, and how RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
describes the agency’s role as a regional energy planning and coordination leader, specifically in 
assisting climate action plan implementation. After inquiring about staff bandwidth and funding concerns, 
the directors expressed support for further exploring RCEA hosting the position. 

Colin Fiske, submitting written comments as the Executive Director of the Coalition for Responsible 
Transportation Priorities, supported further exploration of RCEA coordinating Regional Climate Action 
Plan implementation. 

Future Agenda Items 
Director Bauer requested Information on what RCEA control of regional electricity transmission and 
distribution would entail and how it has been accomplished with power cooperatives, public utility districts 
and cities in other areas. The Yurok Tribe is investigating ownership of the grid in Tribal areas and could 
benefit from RCEA’s research. 

Closed Session 
15.1. Real Property Negotiations Pursuant to Government Code § 54956.8 in re: APN 001-135-007:  

 RCEA negotiator: Executive Director; Owner’s negotiating party: Wells Commercial: Under 
 negotiation: price and terms. 

15.2. Conference with Legal Counsel: Deciding whether to initiate litigation, pursuant to Government 
Code Section 54956.9(d)(4). 

16



 

 
1/22/26 
RCEA Board of Directors DRAFT Minutes 
Page | 7 
 

15.3. Public Employee Performance Evaluation, pursuant to Government Code § 54957: Executive 
Director. 

15.4. Conference with Labor Negotiator, pursuant to Government Code § 54956.7. RCEA designated 
representative, Board Chair; Unrepresented employee, Executive Director. 

 
There were no public comments on the closed session items. The Board adjourned to closed session at 
5:38 p.m. and reconvened in open session at 6:59 p.m. Director Bauer stated that there was nothing to 
report from closed session. The meeting was adjourned at 7 p.m. 

 

 

Lori Taketa 
Clerk of the Board 

17



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

18



 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 6.2 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Lori Biondini, Business Planning and Finance Director 

Subject Profit & Loss, Balance Sheet and Monthly Disbursements Reports 

Summary 
The attached Disbursements Report lists RCEA’s checks, debits and electronic payments made during 
the period identified on the report. The Business Planning and Finance Director certifies that the 
disbursements were drawn in payment of demands conforming to RCEA’s adopted Financial Policy and 
budget. 

The Financial Reports (Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual and Balance Sheet) are presented to keep the 
Board apprised of current agency receipts and spending relative to budget line items. 

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
Agency financial tracking and reporting are necessary administrative functions supporting RCEA 
strategic plan goal implementation. 

Financial Impact 
The disbursements presented were drawn in payment of demands included within the adopted budget. 

Staff Recommendation 
Approve Disbursement Reports for December 2025, and Financial Reports for This Fiscal Year Through 
December 2025. 

Attachments 
1. Disbursements Report for December 1 through December 31, 2025 
2. Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual Report, July 2025 through December 2025 
3. Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2025 

19



 Accrual Basis  Redwood Coast Energy Authority

 Disbursements Report
 As of December 31, 2025

Type Date Num Name Memo Amount

Bill Pmt -Check 12/03/2025 ACH The Energy Authority CISO112625 -37,820.14

Liability Check 12/05/2025 ACH EDD 12/05/2025 Payroll -10,881.13

Liability Check 12/05/2025 ACH Internal Revenue Service 12/05/2025 Payroll -46,267.19

Liability Check 12/05/2025 ACH Ascensus 12/05/2025 Payroll -16,468.24

Liability Check 12/05/2025 ACH Ascensus 12/05/2025 Payroll -19,510.23

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 ACH CA Community Power FY 2025-26 Phase 3 project costs -3,604.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 ACH CRMCrew Limited NREN Monday.com Consulting & Training -4,650.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 ACH Leapfrog Power, Inc Nov 2025 RA -36,740.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 ACH Sonoma Clean Power Authority Nov 2025 Flex RA -261,000.00

Check 12/05/2025 21849 S.A.F.E Planners 2024 NEM Yearly Payout- Reissue -242.69

Check 12/05/2025 21850-8 NREN Customers Rebate NREN Equipment Res -4,550.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21859 Adventures Edge Nov 2025: 1 E-Bike Voucher -600.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21860 AT&T RCAM router: 10/19-11/18/25 -163.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21861 Baker Tilly Energy Tax Credit Analysis- through 11/30/25 -7,953.75

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21862 Braun Blaising & Wynne, P.C. Legal - Regulatory & Procurement Oct 2025 -15,494.33

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21863 Busick, B. Nov 2025 Mileage -98.49

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21864 Chausse-Heath, V. Reimbursement - Snacks for Nov Board Mtg -20.44

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21865 CivicWell 2026 CivicWell Policymakers Conf. Sponsorship -3,000.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21866 Davco Pest Inspection for 718 3rd St. -650.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21867 Donald Dame CCE Consulting services- Nov 2025 -248.50

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21868 Eureka Concert and Film Center RCEA Staff Holiday Event rental -500.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21869 Gallagher Benefit Services, Inc 2025 Class & Comp Study- additional classes -1,650.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21870 Hooven & Co., Inc. 6th St, EV Charging Stations - 11/30/25 -2,498.60

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21871 Humboldt Bay Coffee Co. Office Coffee- 917 3rd St. -44.40

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21872 Humboldt HyCycle Dec 2025: 3 E-Bike Vouchers -1,600.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21873 Liebert Cassidy Whitmore Legal - HR Oct 2025 -3,015.50

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21874 North Coast Cleaning Services, Inc. November office cleaning -1,090.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21875 North Coast Events & Rentals Cocktail tables for Staff Holiday Party -34.56

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21876 Pacific Paper Company Office Supplies -400.98

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21877 PG&E-Office Utility 10/13-11/12/2025 633 3rd Street -1,158.76

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21878 PG&E CCA Oct 2025 CCE Charges -21,813.26

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21879 Revolution Bicycles, Inc. Dec 2025: 1 E-Bike Voucher -400.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21880 Rodriguez, Louis Nov 2025 Mileage -15.12

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21881 Scrapper's Edge E-Bike voucher printing -26.12

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21882 Stephens Electrical, Inc RRGP progress payments - Nov 2025 -44,175.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21883 Times Printing Company PCL Postcard printing and postage -32,365.33

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21884 Ubeo Business Services Printer Charges: 11/06-12/05/25 -285.52

Bill Pmt -Check 12/05/2025 21885 Yakovleva, Vera A. Travel Per Diem & Reimbursement -342.08

Paycheck 12/05/2025 ACH Employees Payroll -103,346.35

Bill Pmt -Check 12/08/2025 ACH The Energy Authority CISO120325 -71,877.27

Check 12/09/2025 ACH CADEMO Corporation Loan Disbursement per 12/8/25 Agreement -1,110,500.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/15/2025 ACH The Energy Authority CISO121025 -1,056,386.71

Bill Pmt -Check 12/15/2025 ACH The Energy Authority Monthly TEA Invoice #TEA112025 Nov 2025 -2,568,502.56

Check 12/17/2025 ACH VISA- Commercial Card Statement Date 11/30/25 Acct 1901 -13,854.70

Liability Check 12/19/2025 ACH Ascensus 12/19/25 Payroll -14,849.18

Liability Check 12/19/2025 ACH CICCS Coalition for Controlling Insurance Dec 2025 Premiums -66.98

Liability Check 12/19/2025 ACH EDD 12/19/25 Payroll -8,665.75

Liability Check 12/19/2025 ACH Internal Revenue Service 12/19/25 Payroll -37,866.81

 Page 1 of 3
20



 Accrual Basis  Redwood Coast Energy Authority

 Disbursements Report
 As of December 31, 2025

Type Date Num Name Memo Amount

Liability Check 12/19/2025 ACH Keenan Jan 2026 Premiums -56,949.65

Liability Check 12/19/2025 ACH Ascensus 12/19/25 Payroll -15,688.47

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 ACH CalCCA PG&E GRC Phase 1 Asses. Qrtly -942.86

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 ACH CalPine Corporation Nov 2025 Data Management -68,145.38

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 ACH EDPR CA Solar Park LLC II Nov 2025 Contract Energy -381,070.70

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 ACH Humboldt Sawmill Co. Nov 2025 Contract Energy -484,118.03

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 ACH Snow Mountain Hydro, LLC Nov 2025 Contract Energy -3,718.91

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 ACH Valley Clean Energy Alliance MTR RA Swap Agreement- Nov 2025 -24,991.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 ACH Viridity Energy Solutions, Inc. Nov 2025 RA -16,224.00

Liability Check 12/19/2025 ACH Principal Life Insurance Company 12/19/25 Payroll -129.88

Liability Check 12/19/2025 ACH Colonial Life Dec 2025 Premiums -3,268.60

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 WIRE PG&E Voluntary Allocation Aug 2025 RPS -143,046.40

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 WIRE USDA Loan Payment Q4-2025 -96,217.11

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21886 A&I Roofing, Inc. Roof inspection for 718 3rd. St -400.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21887 Adventures Edge Dec 2025 3 E-bike vouchers -1,400.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21888 AM Conservation Group, Inc. NREN Res Kits: RCEA Qty 23 -2,405.67

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21889 Amazon.com Monthly billing - Nov 2025 -611.67

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21890 AT&T RCAM data 11/29-12/28-2025 -660.01

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21891 AT&T Long Distance Phone charges 10/29 - 11/24/2025 -7.16

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21892 Bithell, M. Nov 2025 Mileage Reimb. -16.80

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21893 Busick, B. Dec 2025 Mileage Reimb -78.40

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21894 Carter Properties 917 3rd Street Office Lease - Jan 2026 -2,450.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21895 City of Eureka-Water 917 & 633 3rd. St. 10/29/25-11/25/25 -375.72

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21896 CPH Sponsored Programs Foundation Oct 2025 RCAM Task Order Services -5,416.96

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21897 Developed Employment Services, LLC 805 3rd St. Yard work -85.32

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21898 Donnelly, S. Per Diem for NREN/CAEEC Mtg -183.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21899 Gwynn, J. Reimbursement: CalCCA Procurement Mtg. -85.16

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21900 Humboldt Bay Coffee Co. Office Coffee- 633 3rd St. -64.10

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21901 John Winzler Office Lease - 633 3rd St. -8,144.97

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21902 Kilowatt Engineering, Inc. NREN Program Support Services - Nov 2025 -5,487.50

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21903 Kullmann, S. Per Diem for NREN/CAEEC Mtg -183.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21904 Law Offices of Nancy Diamond Nov 2025 Legal Services - various -6,583.75

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21905 Law Offices of Susie Berlin Oct 2025 Legal Services - NREN -2,125.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21906 Mantova's Two Street Music Corp Microphones and hardware for meetings -7,430.85

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21907 Mission Linen & Uniform Service Dec 2025 janitorial supplies/mat service -238.65

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21908 NewGen Strategies and Solutions, LLC Cost of Service & Rate Design - 11/15/25 -17,420.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21909 NYLEX.net, Inc. HPE Instant On Switch Labor- 2nd invoice -325.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21910 Optimum Business-633 633 3rd St Phone & Internet - 12/1/25-12/31/25 -1,102.40

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21911 Pacific Paper Company Office supplies -21.40

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21912 PG&E- EV Nov 2025 EVSE usage -1,572.11

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21913 PG&E-Office Utility 10/04-12/04/2025 917 3rd Street -530.51

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21914 PG&E - ACV- 6674-0 RCAM site utilities 11/01/25- 12/01/25 -236.63

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21915 Rennie, J Mileage and purchase reimbursement - Nov 2025 -109.96

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21916 Terry, P. Per Diem for NREN/CAEEC Mtg -183.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21917 Times Printing Company Dec 2025 mailers and postage -2,195.41

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21918 Wex Health, Inc Monthly COBRA Payment -23.88

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21919 Yaskawa Solectria Solar VOID: External Fans x 3 for RCAM 0.00

Bill Pmt -Check 12/19/2025 21920 AT&T RCAM data 12/07-01/06//25 -331.95

 Page 2 of 3
21



 Accrual Basis  Redwood Coast Energy Authority

 Disbursements Report
 As of December 31, 2025

Type Date Num Name Memo Amount

Check 12/19/2025 21921 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Yearly Payout- reissue -214.10

Check 12/19/2025 21922 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -141.73

Check 12/19/2025 21923 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -113.06

Check 12/19/2025 21924 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -39.54

Check 12/19/2025 21925 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -311.74

Check 12/19/2025 21926 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -361.21

Check 12/19/2025 21927 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -489.25

Check 12/19/2025 21928 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -323.33

Check 12/19/2025 21929 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -335.48

Check 12/19/2025 21930 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -51.77

Check 12/19/2025 21931 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -37.88

Check 12/19/2025 21932 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -130.77

Check 12/19/2025 21933 NEM Customer 2025 NEM Close Out -0.28

Check 12/19/2025 21934 NREN Customer Rebate NREN Equip Res -700.00

Check 12/19/2025 21935 NREN Customer VOID: Rebate NREN Equip Res 0.00

Check 12/19/2025 21936-58 NREN Customers Rebate NREN Equip Res -12,190.50

Check 12/19/2025 21959 CCE Customer Rebate CCE EV -2,000.00

Check 12/19/2025 21960 CCE Customer Rebate CCE EV -2,000.00

Liability Check 12/19/2025 21961 Ameritas Life Insurance Corp.- Vision Jan 2026 Premiums -511.92

Liability Check 12/19/2025 21962 Ameritas Life Insurance Corp. - Dental Jan 2026 Premiums -3,162.24

Paycheck 12/19/2025 ACH Employees Payroll -91,801.55

Check 12/22/2025 Debit Columbia Bank Service Charge -197.22

Check 12/22/2025 Debit Columbia Bank Service Charge -257.28

Bill Pmt -Check 12/22/2025 ACH The Energy Authority CISO121725-DEC25 -45,839.04

Bill Pmt -Check 12/30/2025 ACH The Energy Authority CISO122425 -125,766.45

TOTAL -7,217,266.94

 Page 3 of 3
22



 Redwood Coast Energy Authority

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July through December 2025

Jul - Dec 25 Budget % of Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Total 4 GRANTS AND DONATIONS 2,500.00

5 REVENUE EARNED

Total 5000 · Revenue - government agencies 4,827,544.41 11,331,517.00 42.6%

Total 5100 · Revenue - program related 470,498.50 77,000.00 611.04%

Total 5300 · Revenue - Interest Earned 631,595.95

Total 5400 · Revenue-nongovernment agencies 261,009.14 296,090.00 88.15%

Total 5500 · Revenue - Electricity Sales 35,344,574.75 71,539,945.00 49.41%

Total 5 REVENUE EARNED 41,535,222.75 83,244,552.00 49.9%

Total Income 41,537,722.75 83,244,552.00 49.9%

Gross Profit 41,537,722.75 83,244,552.00 49.9%

Expense

Total 6 WHOLESALE POWER SUPPLY 23,246,064.77 57,617,586.00 40.35%

Total 7 PERSONNEL EXPENSES 2,494,215.41 6,404,096.00 38.95%

Total 8.1 FACILITIES AND OPERATIONS 699,666.89 2,171,607.00 32.22%

Total 8.2 COMMUNICATIONS AND OUTREACH 147,296.01 363,250.00 40.55%

8.4 PROFESSIONAL & PROGRAM SRVS

8400 · Regulatory 59,973.00 150,000.00 39.98%

Total 8410 · Contracts - Program Related Services 2,979,829.56 6,775,186.00 43.98%

8420 · Accounting 158,240.92 228,000.00 69.4%

8430 · Legal 101,746.58 249,000.00 40.86%

8450 · Wholesale Services - TEA 528,851.14 896,946.00 58.96%

8460 · Procurement Credit - TEA 69,597.29 572,390.00 12.16%

8470 · Data Management - Calpine 409,456.92 808,002.00 50.68%

8480 · Customer Billing - PG&E 131,163.62 256,634.00 51.11%

Total 8.4 PROFESSIONAL & PROGRAM SRVS 4,438,859.03 9,936,158.00 44.67%

Total 8.6 INCENTIVES & REBATES 191,092.86 1,622,655.00 11.78%

Total 9 NON OPERATING COSTS 61,150.08 129,200.00 47.33%

Total Expense 31,278,345.05 78,244,552.00 39.98%

Net Ordinary Income 10,259,377.70 5,000,000.00 205.19%

Net Income 10,259,377.70 5,000,000.00 205.19%

 Page 1 of 1 23



 Redwood Coast Energy Authority

 Balance Sheet
 As of December 31, 2025

Dec 31, 25

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

1010 · Petty Cash 300.00

1060 · Umpqua Checking Acct 0560 1,809,437.82

1071 · Umpqua Deposit Cntrol Acct 8215 3,430,095.32

1075 · Umpqua Reserve Account 2300 26,072,853.83

1077 · JP Morgan Chase Act 74999 386,207.84

1078 · CA CLASS Reserve Fund 0001 13,237,408.51

Total Checking/Savings 44,936,303.32

Total Accounts Receivable 564,453.34

Other Current Assets

1101 · Allowance for Doubtful Accounts -9,111,777.20

1103 · Electricity Receivable 18,945,023.44

1120 · Inventory Asset 21,822.24

1205 · Prepaid Insurance 2,417.54

1210 · Retentions Receivable 97,406.07

Total Other Current Assets 9,954,892.09

Total Current Assets 55,455,648.75

Total Fixed Assets 10,632,617.82

Other Assets

1700 · Security Deposits 795,280.43

Total Other Assets 795,280.43

TOTAL ASSETS 66,883,547.00

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Total Accounts Payable 4,369,467.39

Total Credit Cards 16,362.76

Other Current Liabilities

2002 · Deposits Refundable 1,118,120.01

2011 · NEM Escrow Liability 407,482.87

2013 · Unearned Revenue 5,030,325.63

Total 2100 · Payroll Liabilities 229,052.06

2200 · Accrued Expenses 0.00

Total Other Current Liabilities 6,784,980.57

Total Current Liabilities 11,170,810.72

Total Long Term Liabilities 5,723,553.38

Total Liabilities 16,894,364.10

Equity

3900 · Fund Balance 39,729,805.37

Net Income 10,259,377.53

Total Equity 49,989,182.90

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 66,883,547.00

 Page 1 of 1 24



 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 6.3 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Faith Carlson, Regulatory and Legislative Policy Manager 
Kyle Groben, Regulatory and Legislative Policy Intern 

Subject Federal Activity Report 

Summary 
The attached report was generated by Local Energy Aggregation Network’s (LEAN Energy) lobbyist. 
LEAN is a non-profit organization founded in 2011 that focuses on the success and advancement of CCA 
programs across the nation through support, resources, and expertise. Their core services consist of 
outreach, CCA market analysis, regulatory and legislative affairs, federal engagement, and market 
development.  

After the LEAN monthly report was published, the Environmental Protection Agency announced on 
February 12, 2026, that it was terminating the endangerment findings which had been in place since 
2009. These findings formally declared that greenhouse gas emissions, including those from vehicles 
and industry, endanger public health and welfare, and allowed the federal government to implement 
emission limits for the oil industry, power plants, and vehicles. Terminating these findings essentially 
removes the EPA’s role in regulating greenhouse gas emissions. A coalition of environmental and health 
organizations have already filed a lawsuit challenging the termination.    

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
Staff will continue to track Federal actions and identify those that may impact RCEA’s ability to deliver on 
the goals and strategies in the RCEA Strategic Plan.  

Financial Impact 
The cost of LEAN membership and staff time required to track federal activity are included in the RCEA 
budget.  

Staff Recommendation 
Receive federal activity report. 

25



 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Attachments 
1. LEAN CCA Monthly Federal Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26



 
 

Page 1 of 4 
 

Agenda Item # 6.3 – Attachment 1 
Summary 

Congress spent the majority of January focused on negotiating and passing the remaining government 
funding legislation, with the Jan. 30 deadline increasing the pressure to reach a deal. Although January 
ended with a four-day partial government shutdown, Congress passed full-year funding bills for agencies 
and programs of importance to CCAs, including the Department of Energy, Environmental Protection 
Agency, and the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP), among others.  

While the funding votes dominated Congressional floor time, the Senate and House both held hearings 
relevant to Community Choice Aggregators (CCAs). The Senate Environment and Public Works 
Committee held a hearing on permitting reform, the first formal discussion of the topic since Senate 
Democrats paused negotiations due to the Trump Administration’s stop work orders on offshore wind 
projects. The House Energy and Commerce Subcommittee on Energy held an oversight hearing of the 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), discussing the Commission’s role in delivering 
affordable and reliable energy as well as the connection of large load customers, such as data centers, 
to the grid.  

In Administration news, the Department of Energy Office of Critical Minerals and Energy Innovation 
(CMEI) announced the restructuring of its three offices, The CMEI realignment follows a DOE agency-
wide restructuring announced Nov. 20 to advance Trump administration priorities, which LEAN has been 
closely tracking.  

Outside of Congress and the Administration, the Courts played an active role in energy policy. In 
response to the Interior Department’s December stop-work orders on offshore wind projects, federal 
judges granted preliminary injunctions in all five cases, allowing construction to continue, an early but 
positive signal for the wind sector and CCAs procuring clean energy.  

LEAN Federal Advocacy Highlights 

LEAN signed onto the National Energy and Utility Affordability Coalition’s All Parties letter in support of 
full funding for Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) in FY27. A copy of the letter and 
list of signatories. 

LEAN and a small group of California CCAs met with Representative Bera (D-CA-06) on January 14 to 
share some information about the CCA model and discuss energy affordability. 

LEAN drafted a Permitting Reform Outlook memo for members. 

Congressional Actions 

Five-Bill Spending Deal Ends Partial Shutdown, Sets New Deadline to Resolve DHS Funding Bill: 

Congress returned from holiday recess the week of Jan. 5 with just four weeks to pass the nine 
remaining FY26 funding bills in order to avert a partial shutdown on Jan. 30.  Earlier in the month 
Congress passed and President Trump signed on Jan. 23 into law a three-bill spending package, which 
included the Energy-Water, Commerce-Justice-Science, and Interior and Environment funding bills.  A 
high-profile shooting of a protester in Minnesota on Jan. 24 caused Democrats to withdraw support for 
the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) bill, imperiling the passage of the remaining six-bill funding 

27

https://neuac.org/all-parties-letter/
https://neuac.org/all-parties-letter/
https://cyaf5wjab.cc.rs6.net/tn.jsp?f=0015GzfxZGdIzCfz02pkJSNyXFbPhO_jUJlRCMWfcmCF9Z_2UTlJyqk211Tq2RmsgALKfvawf_6ukd-KgAM83MdhauFeawDUG73YKKqAfHRBHTGQbMMLAyDF-zkUZxLUxqdqfkBXQbvlOLuhb3c2gCS3nnMQoYimfYf6SUcNIKsWU9pO2v9i-jAyU4L_9pzTDeZ1cl_lARPSmknEWXiY6r_rDEO2-38zn9fW56rBX0u_oc=&c=1gUMS195zsm6EguHRIPnCBXPfd_UwT9t-X62nbqviPJ1GM_QQVjbYg==&ch=lXhRZSKInT1jO2RWXKjVIv1MLKQsurYuJU1aTZBX0JPRzrxFXhgHHQ==


 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

package.  On Jan. 29, the White House and Senate Democrats negotiated a compromise that would 
remove DHS funding from the six-bill package and instead pass a two-week DHS extension until Feb. 
13.  The Senate approved the amended package on Jan. 30, by a vote of 71-29.  However, the House 
was in recess during the week of Jan. 26, resulting in a four-day partial government shutdown that 
concluded on Feb. 3 after the chamber approved the bill by a 217–215 vote and President Trump signed 
it into law.  

Of interest to CCAs, the compromise Energy-Water bill would provide $58 billion for its programs, 
including roughly $49 billion for the DOE.  The bill demonstrates bipartisan priorities in research and 
nuclear energy, as the Office of Science would receive $8.4 billion (a $160 million increase), and $1.8 
billion for nuclear energy programs (a $100 million increase).  The proposed package includes $3.1 
billion in repurposed funds to support the advanced reactor demonstration program and small modular 
reactors.  The bill eliminates DOE’s Office of Clean Energy Demonstrations while allocating $3.1 billion 
for clean energy and energy efficiency programs, exceeding both the FY26 request and House-passed 
funding level and avoids the fate of several other programs that have been restructured or eliminated by 
the agency.  The appropriations package passed on Feb. 3 includes funding for the Department of Health 
and Human Services, which appropriates $4.045 billion for LIHEAP, a $20 million increase. 

Senate Committee Holds Permitting Reform Hearing Despite Stalled Negotiations: 

On Jan. 28, the Senate Environment and Public Works (EPW) Committee held a hearing on permitting 
reform, even as negotiations have stalled.  EPW Ranking Member Sheldon Whitehouse (D-RI), and 
Energy and Natural Resources Committee Ranking Member Martin Heinrich (D-NM), paused 
negotiations on permitting reform following the Trump administration’s Dec. 22 stop-work order issued to 
five offshore wind projects.  While Sen. Whitehouse expressed his desire to pass bipartisan permitting 
reform legislation, he also argued that legislation could not move forward without assurances that the 
Administration’s attacks on clean energy would stop.  EPW Chair Shelley Moore Capito (R-WV) 
empathized with Sen. Whitehouse, highlighting the Biden administration’s blockage of the Keystone XL 
oil pipeline, and emphasized the need to remove politics from permitting.  Industry representatives, 
including the oil and solar executives, who testified before the panel, demonstrated unified support for 
permitting certainty for all energy projects as well as additional reforms, including transmission 
permitting, which was not included in the House-passed permitting reform bill, as part of a 
comprehensive permitting reform bill.  Despite the broad display of support for permitting reform shown 
at the hearing, there is still no clear path to resuming Senate negotiations. Of interest to CCAs, despite 
the broad display of support for permitting reform shown at the hearing, there is still no clear path to 
resuming negotiations. 

Energy and Commerce Subcommittee Holds FERC Oversight Hearing: 

On Feb. 3, the House Energy and Commerce Subcommittee on Energy held an oversight hearing on the 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), with all five commissioners testifying. Chair Laura 
Swett made her first appearance before Congress, highlighting FERC’s role in delivering affordable, 
reliable power and pointing to ongoing efforts to streamline processes and shorten interconnection 
timelines. The hearing focused on how FERC will address challenges around grid reliability and rising 
power prices as electricity demand increases from AI 
operations. The Commissioners largely supported an “all-of-the-above" energy policy in response to 
questions from panel members on the Administration’s actions against renewable energy and 
prioritization of fossil fuels. Of interest to CCAs, Rep. Doris Matsui (D-CA) questioned the commissioners 
on FERC’s jurisdictional authority regarding large load interconnections, particularly whether the 

28



 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

Commission's streamlining of these interconnections would overstep state authority. In response, 
Commissioner David Rosner asserted that FERC has authority over connecting large load 
customers directly to the transmission system, and Chair Swett reaffirmed FERC’s commitment 
to facilitating large load connections, while adhering to federal law and maintaining fair and reasonable 
energy costs. FERC is in the process of reviewing comments to the Department of Energy’s Advanced 
Notice of Proposed Rulemaking on large load interconnection.  

Administrative Actions 

DOE Finalizes Restructuring of Critical Minerals and Energy Innovation Office: 

On Jan. 28, the Department of Energy’s (DOE) Office of Critical Minerals and Energy Innovation (CMEI) 
announced the restructuring of offices concerning critical minerals, manufacturing, federal codes and 
standards, and energy technology research and development.  CMEI will be divided into three offices, 
each led by a deputy assistant secretary. The Office of Critical Minerals, Materials, and Manufacturing 
will focus on accelerating mining activities, diversifying the supply chains for critical minerals and 
metals.  The Office of Energy Technology will focus on research and development for energy 
technologies, fuels, chemicals, and hydropower, as well as driving the commercialization and deployment 
of technologies that enhance energy networks.  The Office of Innovation, Affordability, and Consumer 
Choice will exercise DOE’s appliance standards and building codes authority and will oversee and 
manage multiple state and community energy and weatherization programs.  The realignments, which 
LEAN Energy US has been tracking, follow a DOE restructuring announced Nov. 20 to advance Trump 
administration priorities. 

Judicial Actions 

Offshore Wind Projects See Victories in Court: 

Offshore Wind project developers have seen a series of court victories in their efforts to overturn stop-
work orders issued by the Interior Department.  The orders originated on Dec. 22, when the Trump 
administration claimed that national security concerns identified by classified reports from the 
Department of War necessitated a halt to the active construction of five offshore wind projects.  The 
pause applied to the Vineyard Wind 1, Revolution Wind, Coastal Virginia Offshore Wind, Sunrise Wind 
and Empire Wind 1 projects, which were set to be completed in the next two years.  In response to the 
stop-work order, each project developer initiated a lawsuit to resume construction.  In all five cases, 
federal judges have issued preliminary injunctions to overturn the stop-work order.  While the details of 
the decisions differ based on each project's specific situation, in each of the cases the judges found 
insufficient evidence of national security risks in the classified documents to warrant the stop-work 
orders.  Although these are preliminary injunctions, with the court cases still ongoing, the 
decisions mark a significant win for the offshore wind industry, which has faced the ire of the Trump 
administration.   

Funding Opportunities 

Department of Energy Re-Launches Digitizing Utilities Prize, Round 3: 

On Jan.12, the Department of Energy (DOE) announced the re-launch of Digitizing Utilities Prize 
Round 3: Resilient Grid Innovation, offering a total prize pool of over $2.4 million in cash prizes and 
vouchers to work with a DOE national laboratory. The competition is open to CCAs, private 

29

https://cyaf5wjab.cc.rs6.net/tn.jsp?f=0015GzfxZGdIzCfz02pkJSNyXFbPhO_jUJlRCMWfcmCF9Z_2UTlJyqk2z3pPLrOI5lJ6eCYOyOBKl7kz8WT_Psw3zJe6wAgTwM8B-i3ssmHoQx2k4CFQr-hVrsoPraIVw_nwLEG_kqN6g386oCwxVmAdCThVxIlDrl-_rV1EsXEsXKwubxWzRcXR50xrxBHNLG6qmD3bYjIzS6YjQK6MyIHMGUvD3KNZ_H7&c=1gUMS195zsm6EguHRIPnCBXPfd_UwT9t-X62nbqviPJ1GM_QQVjbYg==&ch=lXhRZSKInT1jO2RWXKjVIv1MLKQsurYuJU1aTZBX0JPRzrxFXhgHHQ==
https://cyaf5wjab.cc.rs6.net/tn.jsp?f=0015GzfxZGdIzCfz02pkJSNyXFbPhO_jUJlRCMWfcmCF9Z_2UTlJyqk2z3pPLrOI5lJ6eCYOyOBKl7kz8WT_Psw3zJe6wAgTwM8B-i3ssmHoQx2k4CFQr-hVrsoPraIVw_nwLEG_kqN6g386oCwxVmAdCThVxIlDrl-_rV1EsXEsXKwubxWzRcXR50xrxBHNLG6qmD3bYjIzS6YjQK6MyIHMGUvD3KNZ_H7&c=1gUMS195zsm6EguHRIPnCBXPfd_UwT9t-X62nbqviPJ1GM_QQVjbYg==&ch=lXhRZSKInT1jO2RWXKjVIv1MLKQsurYuJU1aTZBX0JPRzrxFXhgHHQ==


 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

entities, nonfederal entities, and academic institutions, although non-utility teams must partner with an 
energy sector partner. The aim of the award is to develop partnerships to transform digital systems, data 
analytics, and grid resource integration for the electric sector, and ultimately increase energy 
affordability. DOE intends for the solutions developed under this prize to be shared as examples with the 
broader energy sector community on how to solve data and/or resource integration challenges.  The 
submission deadline is April 9, 2026.   

Department of Energy Reopens Beyond the Meter Prize: 

On Feb. 3, the Department of Energy’s (DOE) Office of Electricity announced the reopening of the 
Beyond the Meter Prize to accelerate behind-the-meter solutions to enhance affordability of 
energy storage. The competition is open to for-profits, nonprofits, municipalities, academic institutions 
and has a submission deadline of April 30, 2026. DOE will award funds to teams that develop solutions 
that maximize the value and flexibility of consumer-focused energy resources for both consumers and 
the grid. The two-phase competition requires applicants to submit their solutions to either the Residential 
Solution Track or the Commercial/Industrial Track.  DOE is providing a larger prize pool of $3.4 million in 
cash prizes and $800,000 in vouchers to work with a national laboratory.  

 

 

30

https://cyaf5wjab.cc.rs6.net/tn.jsp?f=0015GzfxZGdIzCfz02pkJSNyXFbPhO_jUJlRCMWfcmCF9Z_2UTlJyqk211Tq2RmsgALSwNYR8gjTdtHXr5GEdvxpZfFJD9LEp1xUARly5uGUkQX_sgL0coPAsT0sl5PLAzhUcaDtJBwIlPNNZrX6McM7eQ_gVEORBMuxpYgW-eRVF5p8IPqznvqLp0Svw5FAlzS8HczNsD2eayyMUu3j3A7gywyJCQb42SAChbSyMX68UJcr3M8LS8iYMCmZUVlr1k97JIXclLblOAeLS_7CQyPq5_bkeguEP1reYo-jPE5j611kogvZn16mC0V5k_920z3oqRAxc17jGaAbrTuJLNFqg==&c=1gUMS195zsm6EguHRIPnCBXPfd_UwT9t-X62nbqviPJ1GM_QQVjbYg==&ch=lXhRZSKInT1jO2RWXKjVIv1MLKQsurYuJU1aTZBX0JPRzrxFXhgHHQ==


 

STAFF REPORT 
Agenda Item # 6.4 

 

AGENDA DATE: February 26, 2026 
TO: Board of Directors 
PREPARED BY: Michael Gerace, Chair Board of Directors 

Sarah Schaefer, Vice Chair Board of Directors 
Scott Bauer, Board of Directors 

SUBJECT: Employment Contract, Executive Director, Amendment #1 
 
BACKGROUND 

Elizabeth Burks began her appointment as RCEA’s Executive Director on January 5, 2025. The 
Board of Directors recently completed a review of Ms. Burks’ first year and determined that she 
had outstanding work performance during the 2025 calendar year. The Board of Directors’ ED 
Evaluation Ad-hoc Sub-Committee (Board Directors Gerace, Schaefer and Bauer) recommends 
providing the Executive Director with a 5% meritorious salary increase, from Step 5 to Step 7 as 
defined by the Board approved Job Classifications and Pay Scales. The advance to Step 7 
would bring her annual salary to $212,052.95. Additionally, the Sub-Committee recommends 
extending Ms. Burks’ employment contract for five years. Amendment No. 1 to the Executive 
Director Employment Agreement proposes to implement these adjustments, effective on 
January 5, 2026. 

SUBCOMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION  

Approve Amendment No. 1 to Agreement for Employment of Executive Director with Elizabeth 
Burks. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Amendment No. 1 to Agreement for Employment with Executive Director. 

31



______________________________________________________      
Amendment No. 1 To Employment Agreement for Executive Director     Page 1 of 1 
February 26, 2026 

AMENDMENT No. 1 TO 
AGREEMENT FOR EMPLOYMENT 

OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
 

This is an amendment (“Amendment”) to that certain agreement by and between the Redwood 
Coast Energy Authority (“RCEA”) and Elizabeth Burks (“Employee”) entitled Agreement for 
Employment of Executive Director, effective December 1, 2024, (“Agreement”) This Amendment is 
effective on January 5, 2026. 
 

RECITALS 
 
WHEREAS, Employee has acted in the capacity of Executive Director for RCEA since January 6, 2025 
pursuant to a one-year employment agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the RCEA Board of Directors completed an annual performance evaluation of Employee 
and finds the Employee’s performance to be outstanding; in consideration thereof, the Board of Directors 
desires to provide a merit salary increase; 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors and Employee desire to extend Employee’s employment as RCEA’s 
Executive Director for an additional five-year term. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, conditions and terms recited herein and 
made a material part hereof, the parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Term of Agreement. Section II, Term of the Agreement, is hereby amended by extending the date of 

termination by five (5) years to expire on January 5, 2031, unless terminated earlier as provided in the 
Agreement. 

 
2. Salary. Section IV.A, Salary, is hereby amended by adjusting Employee’s annual base salary from 

Executive Director Step 5 to Step 7, effective January 5, 2026.  
 
3. Ratification of Agreement. The terms and conditions of the Agreement, including all exhibits and 

attachments, are ratified in their entirety except to the extent inconsistent with the terms and 
provisions of this Amendment.  In the event of such inconsistency, this Amendment No. 1 shall 
control. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Employer has caused this Amendment No. 1 to be signed and executed on 
its behalf by its Chair of the Board of Directors, and the Employee has executed this Agreement, as of the 
day and year first above written. 
  
AUTHORITY     EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
 
________________________     ____________________________   
Michael Gerace, Chair of the Board  Elizabeth Burks 
 
Dated:       Dated:      
 
Approved as to form: 
___________________________  Dated:       

Nancy Diamond, General Counsel 
 

32



 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 6.5 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Eileen Verbeck, Deputy Executive Director 

Subject RCEA Office Lease Extension 633 3rd Street 

Summary 
Redwood Coast Energy Authority operates out of two facilities, one at 633 3rd Street in Eureka and a 
second at 917 3rd Street in Eureka. In June 2023, RCEA executed a three-year lease agreement for 633 
3rd Street, Eureka that is set to expire on May 31, 2026. RCEA requested an extension of this lease for 
one year, and the owners agreed. 

The proposed lease amendment updates the ownership of the property, extends the lease for one year, 
and maintains the current rent RCEA is paying.  

The lease extension will allow staff to continue to explore long-term solutions to house RCEA’s business 
office. 
 

Equity Impacts 
None – This is an operational item. 

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
None – This is an operational item. 

Financial Impact 
The lease extension maintains RCEA’s current rent amount of $8,144.97 per month, and there is no 
anticipated funding increase needed to execute the agreement. This rent amount is accounted for in the 
Board adopted budget.   

Staff Recommendation 
Approve first amendment to commercial lease agreement for 633 3rd Street, with rent in the sum of 
$8,144.97 per month and a term ending May 31, 2027, and authorize the Executive Director to execute 
all applicable documents pending review by RCEA Legal Counsel.   

Attachments 
1. First amendment to commercial lease agreement for 633 3rd Street, Eureka 

33



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

34



1 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT 

This “First Amendment to Commercial Lease Agreement” (this “First Amendment”) is 

entered into as of January 22, 2026, by and between JOHN R. WINZLER REVOCABLE 

TRUST, FLORA N. WINZLER MARITAL TRUST and REED A. KELLY (“Original 

Landlord”) and REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY, a local government Joint 

Powers Authority (“Tenant”). 

Recitals 

A. WHEREAS, Landlord is the owner of certain land and improvements consisting of 

an approximately 6,202 square foot building located at 633 3rd Street, Eureka, California 

(“Premises”); 

B. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant entered and executed that certain written 

“Commercial Lease Agreement” dated on or about June 1, 2023 (the “Lease”), a copy of which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated by reference herein;  

C. WHEREAS, the Initial Term of the Lease expires on May 31, 2026; 

D. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to continue the terms and conditions and 

tenancy created by the Lease, subject to the respective rights and obligations created by this First 

Amendment.  

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, and incorporating the above-

stated Recitals of Facts as material terms hereof, the parties agree as follows: 

Agreement 

Section 1. Change in Owners of the Premises 

 There has been a change in ownership of the Premises, and the landlords shall be, John 

Winzler, Jr., James P. Winzler, Debra Ann Friedenbach, Julie Winzler Siqueria, and Reed Kelly, 

collectively referred to as “Current Landlord”.  The Current Landlord shall be responsible for all 

of the terms and requirements of the “Landlord” under the Lease, as amended by this First 

Amendment. 

Section 2.  Continuation of Occupancy and Extension Term 

Landlord and Tenant agree to extend and continue Tenant’s right(s) to lease and occupy 

the Premises subject to the terms and conditions of the Lease and this First Amendment, for a 

period of time commencing June 1, 2026 and terminating at 11:59 PM, on May 31, 2027 (the 

“Extension Term”). 

Section 3.  Rent During Extension Term 

Tenant shall pay rent in the sum of Eight Thousand One Hundred Forty-Four Dollars and 

Ninety-Seven Cents ($8,144.97) per month, each and every month during the Extension Term. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

35



2 

 

Rent shall be due and payable on the first day of each month, and shall be deemed late if not 

tendered to Landlord prior to the fifth (5th) day of each month.   

 

Section 4.  Termination of Option 

 

 The Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that the option set forth in the Lease is 

hereby terminated and the Lease, as amended by this First Amendment, shall be read and 

interpreted as if the Option Term, recited in the Lease does not exist.  The Lease is now a fixed 

term obligation, with the term expiring at the end of the Extension Term (i.e., May 31, 2027). 

 

Section 5.  Continuation of Lease Terms 

Except to the extent amended and supplemented by the terms and conditions of this First 

Amendment, the Lease shall continue in full force and effect.  

 

Section 6.  Counterparts/Electronic Signature 

This First Amendment may be executed in counterparts, all of which shall be taken together 

as one whole.  The parties agree that this First Amendment to Commercial Lease Agreement and 

any related documents may be executed and delivered by electronic means, including but not 

limited to electronic signature via DocuSign or a similar secure electronic signature platform. The 

parties further agree that electronic signatures shall be deemed to be original signatures for all 

purposes, and shall have the same legal effect, validity, and enforceability as manual signatures in 

accordance with the California Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (Cal. Civ. Code §1633.1 et 

seq.) and the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act (15 U.S.C. §7001 et 

seq.). Each party agrees that delivery of an executed counterpart of this First Amendment by 

electronic transmission (including PDF, scanned image, or other digital format) shall constitute 

valid delivery of this First Amendment. 

 

[Signature Page to Follow] 

 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

36



3 

 

Effective as of the date first set forth above.  

 

Signatures 

 

LANDLORD:   

 

 

_____________________________    

John Winzler, Jr.   

 

 

_____________________________    

James P. Winzler 

 

 

_____________________________    

Debra Ann Friedenbach 

 

 

_____________________________    

Julie Qinzler Siqueira 

 

 

_____________________________    

Reed Kelly 

 

 

 

 

 

TENANT: 

 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY, a local government Joint Powers Agency 

 

 

By:         

  

Name: _________________________________________ 

 

Its: _________________________________________ 

 

Attachments 

 

“Exhibit A”: Commercial Lease Agreement 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

Eileen Verbeck

Interim Executive Director

37



4 

 

EXHIBIT A 

Commercial Lease Agreement 

 
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

38



   

Page 1 

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT 

(OFFICE LEASE) 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Section 1. 

 

Lease of Premises 

 

Section 2. 

 

Use 

 

Section 3. 

 

Term 

 

Section 4. 

 

Rent 

 

Section 5. 

 

Real Property Taxes 

 

Section 6. 

 

Personal Property Taxes 

 

Section 7. 

 

[Intentionally Left Blank] 

 

Section 8. 

 

Uses Prohibited 

 

Section 9. 

 

Alterations 

 

Section 10. 

 

Maintenance and Repair 

 

Section 11. 

 

Compliance with Law 

 

Section 12. 

 

Landlord’s Insurance 

 

Section 13. 

 

Tenant’s Insurance; Indemnification of Landlord 

 

Section 14. 

 

Free From Liens 

 

Section 15. 

 

Abandonment 

 

Section 16. 

 

Signs 

 

Section 17. 

 

Utilities 

 

Section 18. 

 

Entry 

 

Section 19. 

 

Damage and Destruction 

 

Section 20. 

 

Assignment and Subletting 

 

Section 21. 

 

Default 

 

Section 22. 

 

Surrender of Lease 

 

Section 23. 

 

Sale of Property 

 

Section 24. [Intentionally Left Blank] 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

39



   

Page 2 

Section 25. 

 

Attorney Fees 

 

Section 26. 

 

Security Deposit 

 

Section 27. 

 

Holding Over 

 

Section 28. 

 

Notices 

 

Section 29. 

 

Successors in Interest 

 

Section 30. 

 

Tenant’s Performance 

 

Section 31. 

 

Force Majeure 

 

Section 32. 

 

Partial Invalidity 

 

Section 33. 

 

Captions 

 

Section 34. 

 

Time 

 

Section 35. 

 

Subordination 

 

Section 36. 

 

Condemnation 

 

Section 37. 

 

No Oral Agreements 

 

Section 38. 

 

No Waiver 

 

Section 39. Tenant Improvements 

  

Section 40. 

 

Amendments 

 

Section 41. 

 

Section 42. 

 

Section 43. 

 

 

 

Governing Law 

 

Accessibility Requirements 

 

Counterparts and Signatures 

 

  

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

40



   

Page 3 

COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

THIS COMMERCIAL LEASE AGREEMENT (OFFICE LEASE) (this “Lease”) is entered and deemed effective as 

of June 1, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), by and between REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY, a local 

government Joint Powers Agency (“Tenant”) and JOHN R. WINZLER REVOCABLE TRUST, FLORA N. 

WINZLER MARITAL TRUST and REED A KELLY (“Landlord”). 

Recitals 

A.  Landlord is the owner of real property located at 633 3rd Street, Eureka, Humboldt County, 

California, and the improvements located on the real property (collectively, “Property”). 

  

B.  Tenant desires to lease from Landlord and Landlord desires to lease to Tenant that portion of the 

Property consisting of approximately 6,202 square feet of office space (“Leased Premises” or “Premises”), which 

Tenant occupies as of the Effective Date. 

C. Landlord and Tenant entered and executed that certain written “Commercial Office Lease” dated on 

or about September 1, 2019 (the “Lease”), that certain written “First Amendment to Commercial Office Lease” dated 

on or about May 5, 2020 (“First Amendment”), and that certain written “Second Amendment to Commercial Office 

Lease” dated on or about August 30, 2022 (“Second Amendment”). 

D. Landlord and Tenant desire to execute a new lease and continue Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises 

uninterrupted, as recited herein. 

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy of which are acknowledged, the 

parties agree as follows: 

Section 1. Lease of Premises 

Landlord leases to Tenant and Tenant leases from Landlord the Leased Premises on the terms and conditions set forth 

in this Lease. 

Section 2. Use 

Tenant agrees to use the Leased Premises for the purpose of operating a business office, including energy information 

for the public and uses reasonably related thereto at the location and for no other use without Landlord’s written 

consent, which may be granted or withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion.  

Section 3. Term 

The term of this Lease shall be for a period of three (3) years, commencing on June 1, 2023, and unless terminated 

sooner in accordance with this Lease, ending on May 31, 2026 (“Initial Term”).  In addition to the Initial Term, Tenant 

shall have the option to extend this Lease for an additional period of one (1) year, with the option period commencing 

on June 1, 2026 and terminating on May 31, 2027 (“Option Term”).  In order to validly exercise the Option Term, 

Tenant must provide Landlord prior written notice of Tenant’s election to exercise the relevant option period no later 

than one hundred and eighty (180) days prior to expiration of the Initial Term.  As used generally in this Lease, the 

word “Term” shall include the Initial Term and Option Term (if exercised); where specific reference to either the 

Initial Term or Option Term is intended, a specific recital is included. 

Section 4. Rent 

(a) Rent.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord during the first year of the Initial Term of this Lease as monthly 

rental for the Leased Premises the sum of Seven Thousand, Seven Hundred Fifty-Two Dollars and Fifty Cents per 

month ($7,752.50), which shall be paid in advance on the first day of each calendar month (“Monthly Rent”). Monthly 

Rent shall be paid in equal monthly installments on the first day of each and every month in advance. All rental to be 

paid by Tenant to Landlord shall be in lawful money of the United States of America and shall be paid without 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

41



   

Page 4 

deduction or offset, prior notice or demand at the address designated in Section 28 of this Lease.  Commencing on 

June 1, 2024, and annually on June 1 of each year thereafter during the Initial Term and (if exercised) at the 

commencement of the Option Term, Monthly Rent shall increase, but in no event decrease, by the greater of: (a) two 

and one-half percent per annum (2.50%), or; (b) if greater than two and one-half percent (2.50%) the percentage 

increased in the Consumer Price Index/All Urban Consumers—Okland, San Jose, California region published by the 

United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (“CPI-U”), not to exceed a four and one-half percent (4.50%) increase in any 

one Lease year if the CPI-U change exceeds four and one-half percent (4.50%).    

(b) Late Charge(s).  Tenant agrees that it would be impracticable or extremely difficult to fix the actual 

damage to Landlord accustomed by the failure of Tenant to make any payment of Monthly Rent during the Term 

within ten (10) days of the due date and, therefore, Tenant agrees that if any payment of rent is not made within ten 

(10) days of its due date, Tenant agrees to pay Landlord a ten percent (10%) late charge. This is an absolute net lease 

to Landlord with Tenants paying their pro rata share of all expenses pursuant to Section 7(c). 

Section 5. Real Property Taxes 

Landlord shall pay all real property taxes and assessments related to the Property, except any specifically assessed 

against Tenant or arising out of Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Leased Premises.  

Section 6. Personal Property Taxes 

During the Term, Tenant shall pay all taxes assessed against and levied upon fixtures, furnishings, equipment, and all 

other personal property of Tenant contained in the Leased Premises prior to delinquency, and when possible Tenant 

shall cause these fixtures, furnishings, equipment, and other personal property to be assessed and billed separately 

from the real property of Landlord. If any of Tenant’s fixtures, furnishings, equipment, and other personal property is 

assessed and taxed with Landlord’s real property, Tenant shall pay to Landlord Tenant’s share of the taxes within ten 

(10) days after delivery to Tenant by Landlord of a statement in writing setting forth the amount of the taxes applicable 

to Tenant’s property. 

Section 7. [Intentionally Left Blank] 

Section 8. Uses Prohibited 

Tenant shall not use, nor permit the Leased Premises, nor any part of the Leased Premises, to be used for any purpose 

other than the purpose set forth in Section 2. No use shall be made or permitted to be made of the Leased Premises, 

nor acts done, that will increase the existing rate of insurance upon the Property (once this rate is established), or cause 

a cancellation of any insurance policy covering the Property or any part of the Property, nor shall Tenant sell or permit 

to be kept, used, or sold in or about the Leased Premises any article that may be prohibited by standard form of fire 

insurance policies. Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost, comply with all requirements pertaining to the use of the Leased 

Premises, of any insurance organization or company necessary for the maintenance of reasonable fire and public 

liability insurance, covering the building and appurtenances. If Tenant’s use of the Leased Premises, as recited in 

Section 2, results in a rate increase for the building of which the Leased Premises are a part, Tenant shall pay annually 

on the anniversary date of this Lease, as additional rent, a sum equal to that of the additional premium occasioned by 

the rate increase. 

Section 9. Alterations 

Tenant shall not make or suffer to be made, any alterations of the Leased Premises, or any part of the Leased Premises, 

without the prior written consent of Landlord, and any additions to, or alterations of, the Leased Premises, except 

movable furniture and trade fixtures, shall become at once a part of the realty and belong to Landlord. Any alterations 

shall be in conformance with the requirements of all municipal, state, and federal authorities. Any alterations made 

with Landlord’s consent shall remain on and be surrendered with the Leased Premises on expiration or termination of 

the Initial Term (and/or Option Term if exercised), except that Landlord can elect within ten (10) days after termination 

of the Initial Term (and/or Option Term if exercised), to require Tenant to remove any alterations that Tenant has 

made to the Leased Premises, at Tenant’s cost. Three (3) months prior to vacating the Premises (whether Tenant elects 

to vacate at the end of the Initial Term or Option Term (if exercised), Landlord and Tenant shall determine and 

mutually agree upon alterations which must be removed and restoration of the interior of the Premises which must be 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

42



   

Page 5 

made prior to Tenant vacating the Premises. 

Section 10. Maintenance and Repair 

 (a) Tenant’s Responsibilities.  Tenant acknowledges that Tenant is leasing the Leased Premises on an 

“as is” basis, and that Tenant has occupied the Leased Premises prior to the Effective Date and is fully familiar with 

it. Tenant shall, subject to Landlord’s obligations under this Lease recited in Section 10(b), below, at all times during 

the Term, and at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, keep, maintain, and repair the building and other improvements upon 

the Leased Premises in good and sanitary order and condition (except as otherwise provided in this Lease) including 

without limitation, the maintenance and repair of any store front, doors, window casements, glazing, plumbing, pipes, 

electrical wiring and interior lighting (including light bulbs, tubes and ballasts), and conduits at Tenant’s sole cost and 

expense.  Additionally, shall be responsible for keeping and maintaining the heating and air condition units and procure 

a maintenance contract for the inspection and replacement of filters (with a minimum of Merv 12 rating), and making 

minor repairs and adjustments to the heating and air conditioning units on an annual basis as well as prior to vacating 

the Premises. Tenant shall provide Landlord with a copy of the inspection and maintenance performed to the address 

listed in Section 28 below. Tenant shall at Tenant’s sole cost be responsible for any alterations or improvements to 

the Leased Premises necessitated as a result of the requirement of any municipal, state, or federal authority. By entering 

into the Leased Premises, Tenant shall be deemed to have accepted the Leased Premises as being in good and sanitary 

order, condition, and repair, and Tenant agrees on the last day of the Term or on sooner termination of this Lease to 

surrender the Leased Premises with appurtenances, in the same condition as when received, reasonable use and wear 

and damage by fire, act of God, or by the elements excepted. Tenant shall regularly sweep and clean the sidewalks 

adjacent to the Leased Premises, as needed, and shall be responsible for keeping the Leased Premises’ trash enclosure 

free of debris and perform all janitorial obligations and landscaping related to Tenant’s Premises. 

 (b) Landlord’s Responsibilities.  Landlord shall, at Landlord’s expense, repair or replace the roof and 

heating and air conditioning units (for major repairs), exterior paint, and sidewalks as reasonably necessary to maintain 

the Property in good and sanitary order, condition, and repair. Tenant agrees that Tenant will not, nor will Tenant 

authorize any person to go onto the roof of the building of which the Leased Premises are a part without the prior 

written consent of Landlord. This consent will be given only upon Landlord’s satisfaction that any repairs necessitated 

as a result of Tenant’s action will be made by Tenant at Tenant’s expense and will be made in a manner so as not to 

invalidate any guarantee or warranty relating to this roof. Landlord shall not be required to make any repairs to the 

exterior walls, roof, and sidewalks unless Tenant has notified Landlord in writing of the need for repairs and Landlord 

shall have had a reasonable period of time to commence and complete the repairs. Tenant waives all right to make 

repairs at the expense of Landlord, and Tenant waives all rights provided for by Civ. Code, § 1941 to make these 

repairs. 

Section 11. Compliance with Law 

Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost, comply with all of the requirements of all municipal, state, and federal authorities 

now in force or that may later be in force pertaining to the use of the Leased Premises, and shall faithfully observe in 

this use all municipal ordinances and state and federal statutes now in force or that shall later be in force. The judgment 

of any court of competent jurisdiction, or the admission of Tenant in any action or proceeding against Tenant, whether 

Landlord be a party or not, that Tenant has violated any order or statute in this use, shall be conclusive of that fact as 

between Landlord and Tenant. Tenant shall not commit, or suffer to be committed, any waste upon the Leased 

Premises, or any nuisance or other act or thing that may disturb the quiet enjoyment of any other Tenant in the building 

in which the Leased Premises may be located. 

Section 12. Landlord’s Insurance 

Landlord shall maintain fire and casualty coverage throughout the Term in an amount equal to at least ninety percent 

(90%) of the replacement value of the building that includes the Leased Premises, together with other insurance as 

may be required by Landlord’s lender or by any governmental agency. Tenant waives any right of recovery from 

Landlord, Landlord’s officers and employees, and Landlord waives any right of recovery from Tenant, Tenant’s 

officers or employees, for any loss or damage (including consequential loss) resulting from any of the perils insured 

against in the standard form fire insurance policy with extended coverage endorsement.  

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

43

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000200&cite=CACIS1941&originatingDoc=Ie38a3f70c7d511d98ad98bb1b080d3ad&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)


   

Page 6 

Section 13. Tenant’s Insurance; Indemnification of Landlord 

 (a) During the entire Term of this Lease, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost, but for the mutual benefit 

of Landlord and Tenant, maintain general public liability insurance against claims for personal injury, death, or 

property damage occurring in or about the Leased Premises and on any sidewalks directly adjacent to the Leased 

Premises. The limitation of liability of this insurance shall be not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) in 

respect to injury or death of one person and to the limit of not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) in respect 

to any one accident and to the limit of not less than Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00) with respect to 

property damage. All policies of insurance shall be issued in the name of Tenant, with Landlord listed as an additional 

insured, and certificates of this insurance or copies of policies shall be delivered to Landlord within ten (10) days of 

the Effective Date. All insurance policies shall contain a provision, that a thirty (30) day prior written notice of any 

cancellation shall be given to Landlord and Tenant before the effective date of cancellation.  

 (b) Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost, shall keep and maintain a policy of Worker’s Compensation Insurance 

in a manner consistent with, and conforming to, California law with respect to all employees and operations occurring 

at the Leased Premises. 

 (c) Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost, shall maintain business interruption insurance for Tenant’s protection, 

with limits set at an amount approved by Tenant. 

 

 (d) All insurance policies of insurance described herein shall be procured to the satisfaction of Landlord 

and shall be underwritten by an insurer rated A-:VII or better in the A.M. Best’s Key Rating Guide and licensed to do 

business in the State of California.  All policies of insurance procured by Tenant shall include a waiver of subrogation 

against any insurance policies procured by Landlord and contain provisions reciting that Tenant’s policies of insurance 

are primary and non-contributory with any insurance policies procured by Landlord. Tenant shall require any 

contractors and/or subcontractors entering the Leased Premises to maintain in full force and effect insurance coverage 

with limits and requirements equal to those applicable to Tenant under this Lease insuring and covering all operations 

of the contractor(s) and/or subcontractor(s).   

 (e) Tenant, as a material part of the consideration to be rendered to Landlord under this Lease, waives 

all claims against Landlord for damage to goods, wares, and merchandise, in, upon, or about the Leased Premises and 

for injuries to persons in or about the Leased Premises, from any cause arising at any time; and Tenant will indemnify, 

defend and hold Landlord exempt and harmless from any damage or injury to any person or property (including the 

Premises), or the goods, wares, and merchandise of any person, arising from the use of the Leased Premises by Tenant, 

or from the failure of Tenant to keep the Leased Premises in good condition and repair, as provided in this Lease. 

Section 14. Free From Liens 

Tenant shall keep the Leased Premises and the Property free from any liens arising out of any work performed, material 

furnished, or obligation incurred by Tenant. 

Section 15. Abandonment 

Tenant shall not vacate or abandon the Leased Premises at any time during the Term; and if Tenant shall abandon, 

vacate, or surrender the Leased Premises or be dispossessed by process of law, or otherwise, any personal property 

belonging to Tenant and left on the Leased Premises shall, at the option of Landlord, be deemed abandoned. 

Section 16. Signs 

 (a) Tenant shall not place or permit to be placed any sign or poster upon the exterior or in the windows 

of the Leased Premises without Landlord’s prior written consent as well as that of any permitting authorities with 

jurisdiction regulating signage, nor shall Tenant change the color or exterior appearance of the Leased Premises 

without Landlord’s prior written consent. Tenant shall at Tenant’s sole cost prepare sign construction drawings, in 

accordance with those criteria drawings, which shall be submitted to Landlord for Landlord’s written approval. Tenant 

agrees to install a sign in accordance with the approved sign construction drawings within thirty (30) days after the 

commencement of the Term. Landlord hereby approves all existing Tenant signs. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

44



   

Page 7 

 (b) Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, display or sell merchandise outside the 

defined exterior walls and permanent doorways of the Leased Premises. Tenant shall not conduct or permit to be 

conducted any sale by auction in, upon, or from the Leased Premises, whether the auction is voluntary, involuntary, 

or some other solvency proceeding. Tenant shall not erect any visual barriers or walls within four (4) feet of all 

windows. 

Section 17. Utilities 

Tenant shall maintain in its own name and pay before delinquency all charges for gas, heat, electricity, power, water, 

sewer, telephone service, internet service, garbage/recycling disposal and all other services of utilities used in, upon, 

or about the Leased Premises by Tenant or any of Tenant’s subtenants, licensees, or concessionaires during the Term.  

Section 18. Entry 

Subject to reasonable (subject to 48 hours prior notice to Tenant) prior notice to Tenant, Tenant shall permit Landlord 

and Landlord’s agents (i.e. architects, consultants, contractors, material providers, etc.) to enter into and upon the 

Leased Premises at all reasonable times to inspect, assess, evaluate improvements or to maintain the building in which 

the Leased Premises are situated, or for making repairs, alterations, or additions to any other portion of the building, 

including the erection and maintenance of scaffolding, canopy, fences, and props as may be required, or for posting 

notices of nonliability for alterations, additions, or repairs, or for placing any usual or ordinary “For Sale” signs upon 

the property in which the Leased Premises is located. Tenant waives any damage claims for inconvenience to or 

interference with Tenant's business or loss of occupancy or quiet enjoyment of the Premises caused by Landlord's 

entry. Provided, however, if Landlord performs any work or otherwise forces Tenant to close the Premises or 

materially impacts Tenant's use of the Premises for at least three (3) consecutive days, Rent of the impacted Premises 

shall abate until such interruption is resolved.  

Tenant shall permit, at any time within six (6) months prior to the expiration of this Lease, Landlord and Landlord’s 

agents (i.e. architects, consultants, contractors, material providers, etc.) to enter and inspect the Leased Premises for 

the purpose of assessing and evaluating improvements to the Leased Premises prior to Tenant’s vacating the Leased 

Premises, and make minor alterations thereto so long as at least forty-eight (48) hours notice is provided to Tenant 

and Tenant’s possession of the Leased Premises is not unreasonably interrupted.  

Tenant shall permit Landlord, at any reasonable time within thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of this Lease, to 

place upon the Leased Premises any usual or ordinary “For Lease” signs, and during the thirty (30) day period Landlord 

or Landlord’s agents may, during normal business hours, enter upon the Leased Premises and exhibit them to 

prospective Tenants, upon 48 hours’ notice to Tenant and Tenant’s reasonable approval of such time of entry. 

Section 19. Damage and Destruction 

 (a)  Landlord shall make necessary repairs upon the occurrence of either: (i) partial destruction of the 

Leased Premises or the building containing the Leased Premises during the Term, requiring repairs to either the Leased 

Premises or the building; or (ii) declaration of the Leased Premises or the building containing the Leased Premises as 

unsafe or unfit for occupancy by any authorized public authority for any reason other than Tenant’s act, use, or 

occupation, which declaration requires repairs either to the Leased Premises or the building. 

 No partial destruction, including any destruction necessary to make repairs required by any declaration made 

by any public authority, shall in any way void this Lease except that Tenant shall be entitled to a proportionate 

reduction of Monthly Rent while these repairs are being made, this proportionate reduction to be based upon the extent 

to which the making of these repairs shall interfere with the business carried on by Tenant in the Leased Premises. 

  (b)  However, if the building in which the Leased Premises is located is damaged as a result of fire or 

any other insured casualty to an extent in excess of twenty-five percent (25%) of its then replacement cost (including 

foundations), Landlord may within thirty (30) days following the date the damage occurs elect not to repair the damage 

and terminate this Lease by written notice to Tenant. 

 If Landlord elects to make the repairs, and provided Landlord uses due diligence in making the repairs, this 

Lease shall continue in full force, and the Monthly Rent shall be proportionately reduced as provided in this Lease. If 

Landlord elects to terminate this Lease, all rentals shall be prorated between Landlord and Tenant as of the date of 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

45



   

Page 8 

destruction. 

Section 20. Assignment and Subletting 

Tenant shall not assign this Lease, or any interest in this Lease, and shall not sublet the Leased Premises or any part 

of them, or any right or privilege appurtenant to them, or permit any other person other than the agents and servants 

of Tenant to occupy or use the Leased Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord.  However, Tenant may 

assign this Lease without Landlord's written consent if the assignment is made: 

(i) to a successor corporation into which or with which Tenant is merged or consolidated in accordance with 

applicable statutory provisions for the merger or consolidation of corporations, 

(ii) to a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tenant, or 

(iii) to a corporation to which Tenant shall sell all or substantially all of Tenant's assets; and the liabilities of 

the corporations participating in the merger or consolidation or of the transferor corporation must be assumed 

by the corporation surviving the merger or created by the consolidation or by the transferee corporation, in 

the event of a transfer to a wholly-owned subsidiary or a sale of all or substantially all assets, and that 

corporation (except in the case of a wholly-owned subsidiary) must have a net worth at least equal to the net 

worth of Tenant at the time of execution of this Lease. Upon delivery to Landlord, by a successor corporation 

to which this Lease is assigned or transferred, of the agreement of the corporation to be bound by the terms, 

covenants, and conditions of this Lease to be performed by Tenant after the date of the assignment or transfer, 

Tenant shall be released and discharged from all obligations later arising under this Lease, except where the 

transfer is to a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tenant. 

Section 21. Default 

(a)  Each of the following shall constitute an event of default (“Event of Default”) under this Lease: 

 If by Tenant: 

(i)  If Tenant fails to make any payment required by the provisions of this Lease, when due; 

(ii) If Tenant fails to perform any obligation under this Lease, which by its nature Tenant has no 

capacity to cure; 

(iii)  If Tenant fails within ten (10) days after written notice to correct any breach or default of the 

other covenants, terms, or conditions of this Lease. If, however, by its nature the failure cannot 

be cured within ten (10) days, Tenant may have a longer period as is necessary to cure the 

failure, but this is conditioned upon Tenant's promptly commencing to cure within the ten (10) 

day period and thereafter diligently completing the cure. Tenant shall indemnify and defend 

Landlord against any liability, claim, damage, loss, or penalty that may be threatened or may in 

fact arise from that failure during the period the failure is uncured;  

(iv) Any of the following: A general assignment by Tenant for the benefit of Tenant's creditors; any 

voluntary filing, petition, or application by Tenant under any law relating to insolvency or 

bankruptcy, whether for a declaration of bankruptcy, a reorganization, an arrangement, or 

otherwise; the abandonment, vacation, or surrender of the Premises by Tenant without 

Landlord's prior written consent; or the dispossession of Tenant from the Premises (other than 

by Landlord) by process of law or otherwise;  

(v)  The appointment of a trustee or receiver to take possession of all or substantially all of Tenant's 

assets; or the attachment, execution or other judicial seizure of all or substantially all of Tenant's 

assets located at the Premises or of Tenant's interest in this Lease, unless the appointment or 

attachment, execution, or seizure is discharged within thirty (30) days; or the involuntary filing 

against Tenant, or any general partner of Tenant if Tenant is a partnership, of a petition to have 

Tenant, or any partner of Tenant if Tenant is a partnership, declared bankrupt, or a petition for 

reorganization or arrangement of Tenant under any law relating to insolvency or bankruptcy, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

46



   

Page 9 

unless, in the case of any involuntary filing, it is dismissed within sixty (60) days; or   

(vi)  If Tenant abandons the Leased Premises before the end of the Term. 

If by Landlord: 

(ii) If Landlord fails to perform any obligation under this Lease, which by its nature Landlord has 

no capacity to cure in compliance with the terms of this Lease; 

(iii)  If Landlord fails within ten (10) days after written notice to correct any breach or default of the 

other covenants, terms, or conditions of this Lease. If, however, by its nature the failure cannot 

be cured within ten (10) days, Landlord may have a longer period as is necessary to cure the 

failure, but this is conditioned upon Landlord's promptly commencing to cure within the ten 

(10) day period and thereafter diligently completing the cure.  

(iv) Any of the following: Any voluntary filing, petition, or application by Landlord under any law 

relating to insolvency or bankruptcy. 

(b) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, Landlord shall have the right at any time afterwards to 

elect to terminate the Lease and Tenant’s right to possession under the Lease. Upon this termination, Landlord shall 

have the right to recover against Tenant: 

(i) The worth at the time of award of the unpaid rent that had been earned at the time of termination; 

(ii) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent that would have been 

earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of this rental loss that 

Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided; 

(iii)  The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent for the balance of the 

Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of this rental loss that Tenant proves could be 

reasonably avoided; and 

(iv)  Any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all the detriment proximately caused 

by Tenant’s failure to perform Tenant’s obligations under the Lease or that in the ordinary 

course of things would be likely to result. The “worth at the time of award” of the amounts 

referred to in the previous subsections shall be computed by allowing interest at ten percent 

(10%) per annum. The worth at the time of award of the amount referred to in subsection (iii) 

shall be computed by discounting this amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank 

of San Francisco at the time of award plus one percent (1%). 

(c) Efforts Landlord may make to mitigate the damages caused by Tenant’s breach of this Lease shall 

not constitute a waiver of Landlord’s right to recover damages against Tenant, nor shall anything contained in this 

Lease affect Landlord’s right to indemnification against Tenant for any liability arising prior to the termination of this 

Lease for personal injuries or property damage, and Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any 

injuries and damages, including all reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred by Landlord in defending any action 

brought against Landlord for any recovery, and in enforcing the terms and provisions of this indemnification against 

Tenant. 

(d) However, the breach of this Lease by Tenant, or an abandonment of the Leased Premises by Tenant, 

shall not constitute a termination of this Lease, nor of Tenant’s right of possession under this Lease, unless and until 

Landlord elects to do so, and until that time Landlord shall have the right to recover rent and all other payments to be 

made by Tenant under this Lease as they become due; provided, that until Landlord elects to terminate this Lease and 

Tenant’s right of possession under this Lease, Tenant shall have the right to sublet the Leased Premises or to assign 

interests in this Lease, or both, subject only to the written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably 

withheld. 

Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that this Lease need not reference Civ. Code, § 1951.4 nor quote its 

language precisely in order for the Landlord to preserve its benefit in the event of a default by the Tenant.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

47

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000200&cite=CACIS1951.4&originatingDoc=Ie38a3f70c7d511d98ad98bb1b080d3ad&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)


   

Page 10 

(e) As security for the performance by Tenant of all duties and obligations under the Lease, in addition 

to and not limiting any other security Tenant may pledge to Landlord, Tenant assigns to Landlord the right, power, 

and authority, during the continuance of this Lease, to collect the rents, issues, and profits of the Leased Premises, 

reserving to Tenant the right, prior to any breach or default by Tenant under this Lease, to collect and retain the rents, 

(solely in the case of a sublease previously approved by Landlord) issues, and profits, from the operation of Tenant’s 

approved business use, as they become due and payable, and so long as payments to Landlord are also kept current. 

Upon any breach or default, Landlord shall have the right at any time afterward, without notice except as provided for 

previously, either in person, by agent, or by a receiver to be appointed by a court, enter and take possession of the 

Leased Premises and collect rents, issues, and profits, including those past due and unpaid, and apply the same, less 

costs and expenses of operation and collection, including reasonable attorney’s fees, upon any secured indebtedness, 

and in an order as Landlord may determine. 

(f)  The parties agree that acts of maintenance or preservation or efforts to release the Leased Premises, 

or the appointment of a receiver upon the initiative of Landlord to protect interests under this Lease shall not constitute 

a termination of Tenant’s right of possession for the purposes of this section unless accompanied by a written notice 

from Landlord to Tenant of Landlord’s election to so terminate. 

Section 22. Surrender of Lease 

The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant, or a mutual cancellation of the Lease, shall not work as a 

merger, and shall, at the option of Landlord, terminate all or any existing subleases or subtenancies, or may, at the 

option of Landlord, operate as an assignment to Landlord of any of the subleases or subtenancies.  Tenant has no right 

to cancel this except with Landlord’s express written consent, which may be granted or withheld in Landlord’s sole 

discretion.   

Section 23. Sale of Property 

If Landlord sells any of the Leased Premises, Landlord shall be and is entirely relieved of all liability under this Lease, 

and of all the covenants and obligations contained in or derived from this Lease arising out of any act, occurrence, or 

omission occurring after the consummation of the sale; and the purchaser, at the sale or any subsequent sale of the 

Leased Premises, shall be deemed to have assumed and agreed to carry out any of the covenants and obligations of 

Landlord under this Lease. 

Section 24. [Intentionally Left Blank] 

Section 25. Attorney Fees 

If either Landlord or Tenant shall commence any legal proceedings against the other with respect to any of the terms 

and conditions of this Lease the non-prevailing party shall pay to the other all expenses of the litigation, including 

reasonable attorney’s fees as may be fixed by the court having jurisdiction over the matter. The parties agree that the 

State of California is the proper jurisdiction for litigation of any matters relating to this Lease, and service sent by 

certified mail to the address of the parties set forth in this Lease shall be adequate service for this litigation. 

Section 26. Security Deposit 

(a) Tenant, previously deposited with Landlord a noninterest bearing sum of Four Thousand One Hundred 

Dollars and 00/100 ($4,100.00), receipt of which is acknowledged by Landlord, this deposit being given to secure the 

faithful performance by Tenant of all of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Lease by Tenant to be kept and 

performed during the Term. Tenant agrees that upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under this Lease, this 

deposit may, at the option of Landlord, be applied to any damages suffered by Landlord as a result of the Event of 

Default to the extent of the amount of the damages suffered. 

(b)  Nothing contained in this Section 26 shall in any way diminish or be construed as waiving any of Landlord’s 

other remedies as provided in Section 21, or by law, or in equity. Should the entire security deposit or any portion be 

appropriated and applied by Landlord for the payment of overdue rent or other sums due and payable to Landlord by 

Tenant, then Tenant shall, on the written demand of Landlord, immediately remit to Landlord a sufficient amount in 

cash to restore the security deposit to its original amount, and Tenant’s failure to do so within fifteen (15) days after 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

48



Page 11 

receipt of this demand shall constitute a breach of this Lease. Should Tenant comply with all of the terms, covenants, 

and conditions of this Lease and promptly pay of all of the rental provided for as it falls due and all other sums payable 

by Tenant to Landlord under this Lease, this security deposit shall be returned in full to Tenant at the end of the Term 

or upon the earlier termination of this Lease pursuant to the provisions of Section 19, except if the Leased Premises 

are sold as a result of the exercise of any power of sale under any mortgage or deed of trust, in which event this Lease 

shall be automatically amended to delete any reference to this Section 26, and Tenant shall be entitled to immediate 

reimbursement of Tenant’s security deposit from the party then holding this deposit. 

Section 27. Holding Over 

Any holding over after the expiration of the Term, with the consent of Landlord, shall be construed to be a tenancy 

from month-to-month, cancellable upon thirty (30) days’ written notice, and a rental and upon terms and conditions 

as existing during the last year of the Term. Any holding over after the expiration of the Term, without the consent of 

Landlord, shall be construed to be a tenancy-at-will at a Monthly Rent of one hundred and fifty percent (150%) of the 

Monthly Rent as existing during the last year of the Term, but otherwise on the terms and conditions in this Lease. 

Section 28. Notices 

Wherever in this Lease it shall be required or permitted that notice and demand be given or served by either party to 

the other, this notice or demand shall be given or served and shall not be deemed to have been given or served unless 

in writing and forwarded by certified mail, addressed as follows:  

If to Landlord: 

Email: 

If to Tenant: 

Attn: Eileen Verbeck 

Redwood Coast Energy Authority 

633 3rd Street 

Eureka, CA 95501 

Either party may change this address by written notice to the other. 

Section 29. Successors in Interest 

The covenants in this Lease shall, subject to the provisions as to assignment, apply to and bind the heirs, successors, 

executors, administrators, and assigns of all the parties to this Lease; and all of the parties to this Lease shall be jointly 

and severally liable. 

Section 30. Tenant’s Performance 

If Tenant shall fail within any time limits that may be provided in this Lease to complete any work or perform any 

other requirements to be performed by Tenant prior to the commencement of the Term, or if Tenant shall cause a delay 

in the completion of any work, Landlord may send Tenant written notice of this default and if this default is not 

corrected within ten (10) days afterwards, Landlord may, by written notice prior to the curing of this default, terminate 

this Lease. Landlord shall be entitled to retain as liquidated damages all deposits made under this Lease and these 

improvements as Tenant may have annexed to the realty that cannot be removed without damage. 

Section 31. Force Majeure 

If either party shall be delayed or prevented from the performance of any act required under this Lease by reason of 

acts of God, strikes, lockouts, labor troubles, inability to procure materials, restrictive governmental laws or 

regulations, or other cause without fault and beyond the control of the party obligated, performance of this act shall 

be excused for the period of the delay and the period for the performance of any act shall be extended for a period 

equivalent to the period of the delay; provided, however, nothing in this Section shall excuse Tenant from the prompt 

payment of any rental or other charge required of Tenant except as may be provided elsewhere in this Lease. 

Section 32. Partial Invalidity 

If any term, covenant, condition, or provision of this Lease is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be void or 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

49



   

Page 12 

unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions of this Lease shall remain in full force and shall in no way be affected, 

impaired, or invalidated. 

Section 33. Captions 

The various headings and numbers in this Lease and the grouping of the provisions of this Lease into separate sections 

and paragraphs are for the purpose of convenience only and shall not be considered a part of this Lease. 

Section 34. Time 

Time is of the essence in this Lease. 

Section 35. Subordination 

 (a) This Lease, at Landlord’s option, shall be subordinate to the lien of any first deed of trust or first 

mortgage subsequently placed upon the real property of which the Leased Premises are a part, and to any advances 

made on the security of it, and to all renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements, and extensions; provided, 

however, that as to the lien of any deed of trust or mortgage, Tenant’s right to quiet possession of the Leased Premises 

shall not be disturbed if Tenant is not in default and so long as Tenant shall pay the rent and observe and perform all 

of this Lease’s provisions, unless this Lease is otherwise terminated pursuant to its terms. If any mortgagee, trustee, 

or ground landlord shall elect to have this Lease prior to the lien of its mortgage, deed of trust, or ground lease, and 

shall give written notice to Tenant, this Lease shall be deemed prior to that mortgage, deed of trust, or ground lease, 

whether this Lease is dated prior or subsequent to the date of this mortgage, deed of trust, or ground lease, or the date 

of recording. 

 (b) If any foreclosure proceedings are brought, or if a power of sale under any mortgage or deed of trust 

made by Landlord covering Leased Premises is exercised, Tenant shall attorn to the purchaser upon any foreclosure 

or sale and recognize that purchaser as landlord under this Lease, provided that the purchaser shall agree that so long 

as no Event of Default exists under this Lease, Tenant’s right to quiet possession shall not be disturbed. 

 (c) If upon any sale, assignment, or hypothecation of the Leased Premises by Landlord, or at any other 

time, an estoppel certificate or financial statement shall be requested of Tenant, Tenant agrees, within ten (10) days 

afterwards, to deliver the financial statement or the estoppel certificate addressed to any proposed mortgagee or 

purchaser to Landlord certifying the requested information, including the dates of commencement and termination of 

this Lease, the amounts of security deposits, if any, that the Lease is in full force, and that there are no differences, 

offsets, or defaults of Landlord, or noting these differences, offsets or defaults actually exist. Tenant acknowledges 

that the mortgagee or purchaser shall have the right to rely on the estoppel certificate or financial statement. Tenant 

shall in the same manner acknowledge and execute any assignment of rights to receive rents as required by any 

mortgagee of Landlord. 

Section 36. Condemnation 

If a condemnation or a transfer in lieu thereof occurs on all or any portion of the Leased Premises, Landlord or Tenant 

may, upon written notice given within thirty (30) days after the taking or transfer in lieu thereof, terminate this Lease. 

Tenant shall not be entitled to share in any portion of the award, and Tenant expressly waives any right or claim to 

any part of the award. Tenant shall, however, have the right to claim and recover, only from the condemning authority, 

any amounts necessary to reimburse Tenant for the cost of removing stock and fixtures. 

Section 37. No Oral Agreements 

This Lease includes in full each agreement of every kind between the parties concerning the Leased Premises, and all 

preliminary negotiations and agreements of any kind or nature are merged in this Lease, and there are no oral 

agreements or implied covenants made in connection with this Lease. 

Section 38. No Waiver 

The waiver of any breech of any of the provisions of this Lease by Landlord shall not constitute a continuing wavier 

or a waiver of any subsequent breech by the Tenant either of the same or another provision of this Lease. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

50



   

Page 13 

Section 39. Tenant Improvements 

In the event any improvements to the Leased Premises are proposed by Tenant, Tenant shall provide Landlord with a 

set of plans showing Tenant’s proposed improvements to the Leased Premises. Within ten (10) business days after 

receipt of Tenant’s plans, Landlord shall provide Tenant with written approval or disapproval of the improvements, 

in Landlord’s sole discretion. Landlord shall file a notice of nonresponsibility prior to the start of any improvements. 

Prior to the commencement of improvements by Tenant, Tenant shall either obtain a Performance and Completion 

Bond or obtain Unconditional Lien Releases from all persons performing labor or providing materials on or to the 

Leased Premises. A copy of the bonds or lien releases, dated and with original signatures, shall be provided to Landlord 

prior to commencement of work. 

Section 40. Amendments 

This Lease may only be amended by a subsequent written agreement, executed jointly by Landlord and Tenant.  

Section 41. Governing Law 

This Lease shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California. 

Section 42. Accessibility Requirements; Continuation of Tenant’s Occupancy; Acceptance of Conditions 

The following requirements are included herein by Landlord to comply with Civ. Code, § 1938:  

  

 The Leased Premises have not undergone inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp). 

 The Leased Premises have undergone inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp). 

 Attached hereto is a copy of the current disability access inspection certificate. 

 Tenant acknowledges that it has received at least 48 hours prior to the execution of this Lease a copy of the report 

prepared by the Certified Access Specialist (CASp) dated [date of report], a copy of which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit [designation of exhibit] (the “CASp Report”). Tenants’ initials ______________. 

 [Landlord/Tenant] shall bear the cost of any work called for under the CASp Report. 

 Tenant hereby agrees to keep and maintain the confidentiality of the CASp Report and will not disclose the contents 

thereof to any third party without first obtaining the written consent of Landlord, which consent Landlord may grant 

or withhold in its sole and absolute discretion, except as necessary for Tenant to complete repairs and corrections of 

violations of construction-related accessibility standards that Tenant agrees to make. 

 Tenant acknowledges and agrees that a Certified Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the Leased Premises and 

determine whether the Leased Premises comply with all of the applicable construction-related accessibility standards 

under state law. Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the Leased Premises, the commercial 

property owner or lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp inspection of the Leased 

Premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lessee or tenant. The 

parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the payment of the 

fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to correct violations of construction-related 

accessibility standards within the Leased Premises. 

 

Tenant expressly acknowledges that, as of the Effective Date, Tenant is in occupation of the Premises and has 

remained in occupancy continually since as stated in Recital Paragraph A of this Lease.  Tenant accepts the condition 

of the Premises as of the Effective Date, and has requested no modifications to any structures or improvements within 

the Premises prior to the Effective Date.  In the event any accessibility modifications are required at the Premises as 

recited in this Section 42, Tenant shall make such improvements, at Tenant’s expense. 

Section 43. Counterparts and Signatures 

This Lease may be executed in counterparts, the separate executed parts of which will be taken as one whole.  

Electronically scanned and/or facsimile signatures, including, without limitation, those procured by DocuSign or 

similar service, shall be deemed to constitute originals and enforceable to the same extent as original signatures.    

 

x 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

51

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000200&cite=CACIS1938&originatingDoc=Ie38a3f70c7d511d98ad98bb1b080d3ad&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)


   

Page 14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease on the day and year first above written.   

 

LANDLORD:   

 

 

_ ________________________________________      

John R. Winzler, Trustee of the John R. Winzler Revocable Trust  

 

 

_ ________________________________________      

John R. Winzler, Trustee of the Flora N. Winzler Marital Trust  

 

 

                

Reed A. Kelly 

 

 

 

 

TENANT: 

 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY, a local government Joint Powers Agency 

 

 

By: _ _______________________      

  

Name: _________________________________________ 

 

Its:                _________________________________________ 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 5429F691-9B24-4D7E-97B3-C089DD1FDF09

Matthew Marshall

Executive Director

Docusign Envelope ID: 9DC760CF-ECA7-491E-93B7-A84CD972F2B6

52



 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 6.6 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Nancy Diamond, RCEA Legal Counsel 
Eileen Verbeck, Deputy Executive Director 

Subject Records Retention Policy Update 

Background 
The Board of Directors adopted RCEA’s first Records Retention Policy in February 2017. The original 
policy established the process and schedule for records retention and destruction based on the California 
Secretary of State’s Local Government Records Management Guidelines. 
 

Summary 
Staff propose revising both the RCEA Records Retention Policy and Retention Schedule to address the 
following:    

• Required records retention periods for some document types have changed since 2017. 
• A 2019 Community Choice Energy customer data privacy audit noted the need to reference 

CPUC Decision 12-08-045’s customer covered information protections in the agency’s Records 
Retention Policy.  

• Records management best practices call for a description of what constitutes a “record,” and the 
types of writings to which the policy and retention schedule apply. 

• The revised descriptions in the records retention schedule attached to the policy as Exhibit A 
better correspond to administrative records used in the course of RCEA business. 

 
Equity Impacts 
Not applicable. The Records Retention Policy and schedule are general business administration 
documents. 
 
Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
Not applicable.  

 

53



 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Financial Impact 
None for Records Retention Policy update adoption. Records management duties fall within budgeted 
staff costs. 

Staff Recommendation 
Adopt Resolution 2026-2 Approving a Revised RCEA Records Retention Policy and Schedule. 

Attachments 
1. Resolution 2026-2 Approving a Revised Records Retention Policy and Schedule 
2. Revised RCEA Records Retention Policy 
3. Exhibit A: Revised Records Retention Schedule 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54



Records Retention Policy Revision, 02-26-26  Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-2 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY   
ADOPTING UPDATES TO THE RECORDS RETENTION POLICY 

  
WHEREAS, the Redwood Coast Energy Authority (RCEA) wishes to improve its records 

management practices through the revision of its records retention policy; and 
 
WHEREAS, RCEA recognizes the value of maintaining a records retention policy to 

provide legal authority for the destruction of nonpermanent RCEA records when they are no 
longer needed and the permanent retention of RCEA records that have enduring value; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Secretary of State of California has made available Local Government 
Records Management Guidelines, as a framework for adoption by California local governments 
with or without local exceptions; and  

 
WHEREAS, the California Public Utility Commission’s required customer privacy 

protections as defined in Decision 12-08-045, also serves as a framework for adoption by 
California Community Choice Aggregators; and  

 
WHEREAS, updating of the Redwood Coast Energy Authority Records Retention Policy 

(hereinafter the “Policy”) will benefit RCEA, its member agencies and clientele by providing 
current minimum retention periods for RCEA records; and  

 
WHEREAS, certain updates and amendments to the Records Retention Policy are 

needed to address changes that have taken place and records management best practices that 
have been widely accepted since the Records Retention Policy was adopted in 2017. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of the Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
hereby adopts an updated Redwood Coast Energy Authority Records Retention Policy as based 
on the framework provided, and as it may be subsequently revised and amended from time to 
time, as set forth in Appendix A, attached hereto and incorporated herein.   
 
Adopted this 26th day of February, 2026. 
 
       ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________   ____________________________ 
Michael Gerace, RCEA Board Chair   Lori Taketa, Board Clerk 
 
Date: _________________________   Date: ________________________ 

 
 

55



Records Retention Policy Revision, 02-26-26  Page 2 of 3 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 
 

 I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2026-2 passed and 
adopted at a regular meeting of the Redwood Coast Energy Authority, County of Humboldt, State of 
California, held on the 26th day of February, 2026, by the following vote: 
  

AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSENT: 

 ABSTENTIONS:    

            
    Clerk of the Board, Redwood Coast Energy Authority  

56



Records Retention Policy Revision, 02-26-26  Page 3 of 3 

 
APPENDIX A 

 
REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
UPDATED RECORDS RETENTION POLICY 

 
 

57



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

58



 

Last revised: 2026-02-20   
 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
RECORDS RETENTION POLICY 

 
1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines for retention and eventual disposition (archival 
transfer or destruction) of Redwood Coast Energy Authority (RCEA) records in a manner 
consistent with record management principles set forth by the California Secretary of State 
pursuant to California Government Code §12236 and other applicable state and federal laws 
and regulations.  
 
2. Statement of Policy 
 
Numerous state and federal provisions mandate minimum retention times for different types of 
public records. In addition, the California Secretary of State’s Local Government Records 
Management Guidelines states that “Effective Records Management ensures that records are 
kept only as long as they have some administrative, fiscal or legal value. When records no 
longer fulfill the value for which they were created, they should be destroyed." Accordingly, to 
satisfy statutory minimum retention requirements while maintaining effective records 
management, RCEA hereby adopts this policy and the records retention schedule provided in 
Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein (“Records Retention Schedule”).  
 
The Records Retention Schedule reflects applicable law and RCEA’s records management 
needs to the greatest extent possible. Legal reference citations in the Schedule are intended as 
guidance reference to allow staff to make informed decisions about record management.  
 
For purposes of this policy, a record is any writing or recording pertaining to RCEA’s business, 
prepared, owned, used or retained by RCEA in the normal course of business, regardless of 
whether the writing is in paper, electronic, or other form. 
 
3. Records Retention and Disposition 
 

a. Retention 
 
Except where otherwise provided in this policy or in state or federal law or regulation, RCEA 
shall retain all records in accordance with the time period specified in the Records Retention 
Schedule.  If specific records are not listed in Exhibit A, RCEA shall follow the retention time 
period required under applicable law or regulation.  If any retention period listed in the 
Records Retention Schedule changes due to amendments in law or regulation, RCEA will 
retain those records pursuant to the law as amended without the need for formal revision of 
the Records Retention Schedule. This schedule reflects RCEA’s needs as best as possible.  
 
Unless an original is required pursuant to this Policy, to a contract provision, or required by 
law, RCEA may destroy physical copies of records or duplicate electronic copies of records 
and keep an electronic copy as a permanent record, provided the retained electronic record 

59



 

Last revised: 2026-02-20   
 

accurately and legibly reproduces the original thereof in all details and the electronic copy 
does not permit additions, deletions or changes to the original document images. 
 
b. Disposition. 

 
The Board Clerk is authorized to destroy identified records after expiration of the retention 
time period specified in the Records Retention Schedule only upon the written approval and 
signature of the Executive Director and RCEA General Counsel. 
 
c. Exceptions.  
 
Records shall be held longer than the time period specified in the Records Retention Policy 
under the following circumstances: 
 

1) Records under a “legal hold” that are the subject of pending litigation, judicial 
proceeding, administrative proceeding, judicial or administrative subpoena or order, 
or records reasonably related thereto, shall be retained for the duration of the 
underlying proceeding or legal cause.    
 

2) Transitory writings, the retention of which is not necessary for the discharge of an 
RCEA officer or employee’s official duties, may be disposed of when they have 
fulfilled the brief, limited purpose for which they were created, and are not subject to 
the retention periods attached. Such writings not retained in the ordinary course of 
business include preliminary drafts, notes, preliminary calculations, non-substantive 
follow-up communications or reminders, and ephemeral electronic communications 
such as texts and chats. 
 

3) Program records created for or in conjunction with an RCEA project or program may 
be required to be retained for periods longer than listed in Exhibit A as specified in 
grant agreements or program-specific regulations.  In the case that retention periods 
for program records are different than the schedule listed in Exhibit A, the program 
records will be retained for the period which is greatest. 

 
4) Records may be retained longer than the retention period specified in the Records 

Retention Schedule due to the ongoing and justifiable need by RCEA staff in 
performance of job duties upon the written approval of the Executive Director.    

  
This policy has been adopted by Resolution No. XXX of the Board of Directors of the Redwood 
Coast Energy Authority.  
 
 

60



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

1 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Accidents/Damage to Agency 
Property Administration Risk management administration CCP 337.15 10 years 

Accident/Illness Reports Administration 

Not a public record 
Employee Medical Records & 
Employee Exposure Records --
includes Material Safety Data 
Sheets (MSDS) 

8 CCR 3204 
Length of employment plus 
30 years 

Accounts Payable Finance 
Invoices, purchase requisitions, 
purchasing reviews, account 
postings with supporting documents 

CCP 337 Until audited + 4 years 

Accounts Receivable Finance 
Invoices, copies of checks, journals, 
account postings with supporting 
documents, customer billing records 

26 CFR 31.6001-
1(e)(2) Until audited + 4 years 

Agenda / Agenda Packets / 
Staff Reports Administration   Current Year + 2 years 

Audit Hearing or Review Finance 
Documentation created and or 
received in connection with an audit 
hearing or review 

 Permanent 

Audit Reports Finance 
Audited Financial Statements, 
Independent auditor’s reports; 
funder or grantee audit reports. 

 Permanent 

61



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

2 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Bank Account 
Reconciliations Finance Bank statements, canceled checks, 

reconciliation reports 
26 CFR 31.6001-
1(e)(2) Audit + 5 years 

Bonds – Account 
Statements/Administration Finance 

Authorization/public hearing 
records/prospectus/proposals/ 
certificates/notices (transcripts)/ 
registers/statements. 

CCP 337.5 Closed/Completed +10 years 

Bonds – Paid/Cancelled Finance Paid or cancelled bonds; warrant 
certificates; interest coupons GC 53921 Closed/Completed + 2 years 

Brochures/ 
Publications Administration   Supersede + 2 years 

Budget, Annual Finance Annual operating budget approved 
by Legislative Body  Permanent 

Cal-OSHA Administration 

Personnel-Logs, Supplementary 
Record, Annual Summary (Federal 
& State-Cal OSHA), Workplace 
Violent Incident Logs 

LC 6410; 8 CCR 
14307; OMB 1220-
0029; 29 CFR 1904.4; Closed + 5 years 

Checks Finance 
Check stubs, ACH and Wire 
approval confirmations, canceled 
and voided checks 

CCP 337 Until audited + 5 years 

Claims, Damage Administration Paid/Denied GC 25105.5 Closed + 5 years 

62



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

3 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Committee Applications - 
Appointed Administration 

Applications, resumes, additional 
application materials for appointed 
committee members  Termination + 7 years 

Committee Applications – 
Unappointed Administration 

Applications, resumes, additional 
application materials of 
unappointed committee applicants  Recruitment Close + 4 years 

Community Choice Energy – 
Customer Database 
Information All Customer lists, data reports, 

program data, account balances 
CPUC Decision 12-
08-045 

Permanent – Excepting 
Personal identifiable 
information, which shall be 
retained for only so long as 
reasonably necessary or 
authorized per CPUC 
Decision 12-08-045. 

Community Choice Energy – 
Customer Data Requests All 

Cost comparisons, bill analysis, 
usage history, billing history, 
including ad hoc requests 

 5 years 

Complaints/Requests Administration 

Various files, not related to specific 
lawsuits involving the Agency and 
not otherwise specifically covered 
by the retention schedule. 

 Current Year + 2 years. 

Contracts (excluding Capital 
Improvements) Finance 

Original contracts and agreements 
and back-up materials. Including 
certificates of insurance. 

CCP 317, 318, 319, 
337; CCP 337.2; B&P 
7042.5 Terminated + 5 years 

63



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

4 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Contracts (including Capital 
Improvements, 
infrastructure,) 

Finance 
Original contracts and agreements 
and back-up materials. Including 
certificates of insurance. 

 Permanent 

Correspondence Administration 

General correspondence, including 
letters and e-mail; Various files, not 
otherwise specifically covered by 
the retention schedule. 

 
Current Year + 2 years 
If not attached to agreement 
or project file 

Deeds, Real Property, 
Easements Finance File with recorded documents; 

originals may not be destroyed.  Permanent 

Deferred Compensation 
Reports Finance Records of employer and employee 

payroll contributions 
29 CFR 1627.3; 26 
CFR 16001-1 Terminated + 5 years 

Deposits, Receipts Finance Copies of checks, deposit receipts CCP 337 Until audited + 4 years 

Economic Interest Statements 
- Form 700 (original, GC 
87200 filers and Conflict of 
Interest Code filers) 

Administration 

GC 87200 and Conflict of Interest 
Code filer statements. After 2 years 
on file, originals may be scanned to 
an electronic format and originals 
discarded. 

GC 81009(e), (g) Leaving office + 7 years 

64



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

5 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Employee Files Administration 

Includes rate of pay, personnel data, 
release authorizations; 
certifications; reassignments; 
outside employment; 
commendations, disciplinary 
actions; terminations; evaluations-
pre-employee medicals; (ID’s) 
Payroll - wage rates, job 
classifications, unemployment 
claims, garnishments 

GC 12946; 29 CFR 
1627.3 

Length of employment + 7 
years 
If discrimination charges have 
been filed records must be 
kept until disposition of the 
charges 

Employee, Medical Files Administration Includes medical records; exposure 
records, etc. 

29 CFR 1910.1020; 8 
CCR 3204 

Length of employment + 30 
years 

Employee, Recruitment Administration 

Applications, resumes, alternate 
lists/logs, ethnicity disclosures, 
examination materials, examination 
answer sheets, job bulletins. 
Eligibility; electronic database, 
reference checks 

GC 12946; 
29 CFR 1602 et seq. 
29 CFR 1607; 
29 CFR 1627.3 

Closed + 4 years 
If discrimination charges have 
been filed records must be 
kept until disposition of the 
charges 

Employee, Reports Administration Employee statistics, benefit activity, 
liability loss  Current Year + 2 years 

65



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

6 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Employee Rights - General Administration 
May include arbitration, grievances, 
sexual harassment and Civil Rights, 
complaints, disciplinary actions. 

GC 12946 
29 CFR 1602.31 

Length of employment + 4 
years. 
If discrimination charges have 
been filed records must be 
kept until disposition of the 
charges. 

Employment Eligibility 
Verification (I-9 Forms) Administration 

Federal Immigration and 
Nationality Act; Immigration 
Reform/Control Act 1986 

8 USC 1324a (b)(3) 
Pub. Law 99-603 

Length of employment + 1 
year or 3 years after hire 
whichever is longer 

Employment - Surveys and 
Studies Administration Includes classification, wage rates GC 12946; 29 CFR 

516.6 
Current year + 4 years 

Employment - Training 
Records, Non-Safety Administration 

Volunteer program training - class 
training materials, internships. 
Paperwork documenting internal 
and external training 

GC 12946 Length of employment + 7 
years 

Employment - Vehicle 
Mileage Reimbursement 
Rates 

Administration Annual mileage reimbursement 
rates  Superseded + 2 years 

66



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

7 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Federal and State Tax 
Records Finance 

Payroll tax remittance receipts, 
quarterly tax returns and Forms 
1096, 1099, W-4, W-2, DE 1, DE 4, 
DE 9, CDTFA-501-EU/EC, etc. 

29 USC 436;26 CFR 
31.6001.1-4; 26 CFR 
31.6001-1(e); 29 CFR 
516.5-516.6 R&TC 
19530 

Audited + 4 years after file 
date 

Fixed Assets 
Inventory 

Finance 
Document or worksheet that 
includes purchase date, description, 
and cost 26 CFR 301 65-1(E) Until audited + 4 years 

Fixed Assets 
Surplus Property Finance 

Auction advertisements; disposal 
receipts and backup documents 
such as sealed bid sales of 
equipment and estimated values. 
Sold vehicle titles, maintenance 
receipts, warranty. 

GC 25653 Until audited + 4 years 

Grants Finance Grant applications, contracts, 
invoices, project reports. 

24 CFR 570.502 
24 CFR 85.42 

Until completed + 5 years 
Unless otherwise specified by 
the grantor 

Hazardous Materials - 
Hazardous Waste Disposal Administration 

Documents regarding handling and 
disposal of hazardous waste. 
[Permanent retention of 
environmentally sensitive materials 
is recommended] 

CAL OSHA Current + 10 years 

67



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

8 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Hazardous Materials - 
Permits, Hazardous Materials 
Storage 

Infrastructure 
[Permanent retention of 
environmentally sensitive materials 
is recommended.] 

 Current + 2 years 

Information Services – 
Inventory Information 
Systems 

Administration 
Hardware/Software Inventory logs; 
systems manuals and network 
configuration maps and plans 

 Superseded + 2 years 

Information Services – 
Program Files and Directories Administration Backups  

Annual – Current year + 2 
years 
Monthly – Current Year + 1 
year 
Daily and Weekly– Current 
year + 6 months 

Joint Powers Agreement Administration Joint Powers Agreement, agency 
formation documents.  Permanent 

Lawsuits/Small Claims Administration Case files  Until settled or adjudicated + 
5 years 

Legal Advertising Administration 
Legal notices for public hearings, 
publication of ordinances, public 
projects bids documents, etc. 

CCP 343, 349 et seq. Current Year + 4 years 

68



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

9 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Maintenance/Repair Records Administration 
Equipment Repair Records, 
Equipment Service and 
Maintenance Manuals 

 Current year + 2 years 

Minutes Administration Minutes of Board meetings.  Permanent 

Non-Disclosure Agreements Administration/Fi
nance NDA with vendor  Permanent 

Ordinance Administration   Permanent 

Payroll 
Deduction/Authorizations 

Administration Legal notices, 457(b) forms 29 CFR 516.5-516.6 Audit + 7 years 

Payroll summary Administration Labor costs by employee 29 CFR 516.5(a) Audit + 4 years 

Payroll, timecards/sheets Administration Signed by Employee 29 CFR 516.2 Audit + 7 years 

Personnel Rules and 
Regulations Administration Including employee handbook  Superseded + 2 years 

Petitions, documents and 
other materials Administration Submitted to legislative bodies  Date submitted + 2 years 

69



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

10 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Policies, Administrative Administration 
All policies and procedures, 
directives rendered by the Agency 
not assigned a resolution number 

 Superseded + 2 years. 

Policy, Board/Proclamations Administration 
Policies, directives rendered by 
Board of Directors not assigned a 
resolution or ordinance number 

 Superseded + 2 years 

Press Releases Administration Related to Agency 
actions/activities.  Current Year + 2 years 

Public Records Request Administration Requests from the public to inspect 
or copy public documents  Completed + 2 years 

Purchasing 
Bids, RFQ’s, RFP’s Finance 

Requests for Qualifications; 
Requests for Proposals regarding 
goods and services 

CCP 337 
Successful - Audit + 5 years 
Unsuccessful - Current year + 
2 years 

RCEA Insurance, 
Liability/Property 

Administration May include liability, property, 
Certificates of Participation  Permanent 

RCEA Insurance, Risk 
Management Reports 

Administration 
Federal OSHA Forms; Loss 
Analysis Report; Safety Reports; 
Actuarial Studies 

29 CFR 1904.44; 
OMB 1220-0029 

Current + 5 years (Federal) 

70



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

11 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Real Property Acquisition/ 
Disposition Administration 

Supporting documents regarding 
RCEA selling or leasing real 
property  

Sale Date + 10 years or Lease 
Termination Date + 10 years 

Real Property Descriptions Administration 

Final reports, studies, plans, 
designs, as-builts, appraisals, 
engineering and environmental 
reports, etc. made at RCEA’s 
direction for real property owned by 
RCEA 

 Permanent 

Real Property Investigations Administration 

Reports and studies made at 
RCEA’s direction for investigations 
of real property not owned by 
RCEA, for example, appraisals, 
engineering and environmental 
analyses or reports, etc. 

 Completed + 2 years 

Recordings – audio/video Administration When used for minute preparation  Current year + 3 months 

Recordings - routine video 
monitoring Administration Routine video monitoring including 

building security systems GC 26202.6 1 year 

Recordings - telephone, and 
radio communications Administration Routine daily taping/recording of 

telephone communications GC 26202.6 100 days 

71



EXHIBIT “A” 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY 
 

Legal Reference Abbreviations 
 
CCP  Code of Civil Procedure (California)  GC  Government Code (California) PC  Penal Code (California)  
CCR  California Code of Regulations   IRC  Internal Revenue Code   R&TC Revenue & Taxation Code (California) 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations    IRS  Internal Revenue Service  USC  United States Code 
LC  Labor Code (California)  
 
 

12 
 

Type of Record Category Description or Example of 
Record Legal Reference Minimum Retention Period 

Records Management 
Disposition Certification Administration Documentation of final disposition 

of records  Permanent 

Records Retention Schedules Administration  CCP 343 Superseded + 4 years 

Resolutions Administration Vital records - originals may never 
be destroyed. Image immediately.  Permanent 

Workers Compensation Files Administration 
Work-injury claims (including 
denied claims); claim files, reports, 
etc. 

CCR 14311; 15400.2; 
CA Labor Code 110-
139.6 

Permanent 

 

72



 
 

Page 1 of 5 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 6.7 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Kristy Siino, Human Resources Manager 
Eileen Verbeck, Deputy Executive Director 

Subject Racial Justice Plan Progress Update 

Background 
In June 2020, amid the resurgence of national and global discussion on racial justice, the RCEA Board of 
Directors adopted a resolution on racial justice. At that time, an ad hoc board subcommittee was 
assembled to work with staff to address the commitments with the resolution. In October 2022, the Board 
adopted a Racial Justice Plan.1 This report is to update the Board and public on progress made in the 
last year in implementing the Racial Justice Plan. 

Summary 
Internal Operations 
1. Equity actions in job descriptions, staff work plans, and regular staff trainings:  

a) RCEA collaborated with Jessica Pettit in early 2025 to facilitate an in-person, 1-day, all-staff 
training.  
 

b) All current job descriptions were updated to include equity action items, and all new job 
descriptions include these items. 
 

c) HR staff continue to actively explore facilitator options for all-staff training events. 

2. Diversity, equity and inclusion in hiring and promotion:  
a) All staff participating in RCEA hiring committees receive training on implicit bias. The training 

includes how to overcome unconscious bias when interviewing and hiring. 
 

 
1 RCEA’s Racial Justice Plan 
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2024/12/Racial-Justice-Plan.pdf  

73

https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2024/12/Racial-Justice-Plan.pdf
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2024/12/Racial-Justice-Plan.pdf
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2024/12/Racial-Justice-Plan.pdf


 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

b) HR Staff met with multiple departments at CalPoly Humboldt, the Northern California Indian 

Development Council, and the California Training Panel to create connections for future 

employment partnerships.   

c) RCEA continues to utilize blind recruitment and application screening.   

d) All employment candidates are presented with at least one interview question about diversity, 
equity, and inclusion.   

As a California government agency, RCEA is restricted by Proposition 209 regarding affirmative action in 
hiring or contracting, and cannot explicitly favor any groups based on race, sex, color, ethnicity, or 
national origin above another. In 2020, Proposition 16, which would have repealed the ban on affirmative 
action, was defeated. This prohibition constrains the options that RCEA has to promote policies 
to benefit historically underrepresented groups.    

External Partnerships and Programs 
1. Tribal Engagement:  

a) After welcoming the Yurok Tribe and the Blue Lake Rancheria on the Board of Directors. Staff 
have continued discussions with other local Tribes interested in joining the RCEA Board.  
 

b) RCEA leadership has contacted the Tribal Chairmen’s Association to gauge interest in enhanced 
participation with RCEA.   
 

c) RCEA partnered with four Tribal Nations (Blue Lake Rancheria, Karuk, Hoopa, and Yurok) and 
Schatz Energy Research Center on the Tribal Energy Resilience and Sovereignty project. The 
TERAS project aims to increase reliability and resiliency for the Tribal Nations by developing 
microgrids. The project serves vulnerable and historically under-resourced populations, in a fire-
prone region, while simultaneously pushing microgrid innovation and tribal energy 
sovereignty. Although federal funding for TERAS has been paused, RCEA continues to engage 
with the project partners to identify a path forward for the project.  
 

d) RCEA continued participation in the Redwood Region Climate and Community Resilience Hub 
(CORE Hub) to help transition our region’s built and natural systems to become both 
decarbonized and resilient to help solve the climate emergency. Now hosted and led by the 
Humboldt Area Foundation, one of CORE Hub’s central objectives is to prioritize equity, ensuring 
benefits accrue to underrepresented, historically and currently marginalized communities first and 
to the greatest extent.  
 

e) RCEA has met with Wiyot Tribe staff and leadership to collaborate on Microgrid and community 
energy planning.   

2. Diversity, equity and inclusion in program selection design and implementation:  
a) After conducting community outreach to understand how other organizations are supporting 

inclusion in program development, staff was advised that RCEA needs to understand the 

74



 
 

Page 3 of 5 
 

demographics of who RCEA’s programs have been serving so that we can determine who has 
been left out. Staff implemented a demographics surveys of program recipients including a pilot 
survey for net energy metering customers who receive an annual payout for their excess 
electricity generation. The response to the demographic surveys was very limited. Staff ended the 
survey early due to lack of response.   

b) Staff have tabled at multiple DHHS events, including in Tribal Communities to let residents know 
about our services and how to access them as well as distribute no-cost energy efficiency kits.     

c) RCEA administers the Northern Rural Energy Network (NREN) across 17 Counties in Northern 
California and implement services in Humboldt County. Staff have designed the Residential 
Equity Program (Efficiency Kits, Energy Assessments, Education) under 
NREN to target residential customers that have typically not been reached by energy efficiency 
programs including disadvantaged, underserved, tribal members, low-income residents, and 
others meeting the CPUC definition of Hard-to-Reach (HTR). Staff designed the Residential 
Equity program with a target of 70% of served customers qualifying as HTR.   

d) Staff have designed the Residential Whole House Program (Rebates) under NREN to 
target disadvantaged, underserved, tribal members, low-income residents, and others meeting 
the CPUC definition of Hard-to-Reach (HTR).    

e) Staff are collecting demographic information for participation in NREN programs to 
determine disadvantaged, underserved, tribal membership, and other HTR qualifications. Staff 
are reviewing collected demographic data to inform program design and outreach with the 
intention of increasing participation by these targeted customers.  

f) The CPUC Environmental & Social Justice Action Plan https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/news-and-
updates/newsroom/environmental-and-social-justice-action-plan is being used as a resource for 
the design of NREN programs.  

 

3. Energy Justice in power procurement and energy resource development:  
a) RCEA strives to increase the diversity of suppliers with whom RCEA contracts and from whom 

RCEA makes purchases, per the requirements of the CPUC’s Supplier Diversity program and the 
Board adopted Racial Justice Plan. Annually, RCEA submits tracking information on progress 
and strategies to increase supplier diversity in the forthcoming year. Also, the following supplier 
diversity language is included in all RCEA’s power solicitations:  

 
SUPPLIER DIVERSITY AND LABOR PRACTICES  
Consistent with the California Public Utilities Code and California Public Utilities 
Commission policy objectives, RCEA collects information regarding supplier diversity and 
labor practices from project developers and their subcontractors regarding past, current 
and/or planned efforts and policies. Pursuant to Public Utilities Code §§ 8281-8286 
(through which the CPUC requires RCEA and its commission-regulated subsidiaries and 
affiliates to submit annual detailed and verifiable plans for increasing women-owned, 
minority-owned, disabled veteran-owned and LGBT-owned business enterprises' 
procurement in all categories), respondents that execute a contract with RCEA will be 
required to complete a supplier diversity questionnaire at the time of execution, and/or 

75

https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/news-and-updates/newsroom/environmental-and-social-justice-action-plan
https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/news-and-updates/newsroom/environmental-and-social-justice-action-plan


 
 

Page 4 of 5 
 

periodically at later dates as specified by RCEA. Respondents that are women, minority, 
LGBT, and disabled veteran-owned businesses are encouraged to apply for certification 
by the CPUC’s Supplier Diversity Clearinghouse Program 
http://www.thesupplierclearinghouse.com/. This certification is voluntary and will not be 
used as a criterion for evaluation. As required by law in California, RCEA as a public 
agency does not give preferential treatment based on race, sex, color, ethnicity, or 
national origin; providing such information as part of the offer package will not impact the 
selection process or good standing of executed contracts.  
 

b) The following prompts to which developers are required to respond are included in RCEA’s power 
solicitations. The answers to these are evaluated in the context of the ‘Location 
& Community Benefit’ scoring criterion, which represents a portion of possible points an offer can 
receive, usually 10%. Some of the questions are not directly related to racial justice but could be 
if the project is located within or otherwise benefits a disadvantaged or underserved community.  
 

i. Describe any societal, health, economic, water saving, or environmental benefits 
the project provides the community in which it is located beyond the climate 
benefits of renewable energy, including benefits to disadvantaged or underserved 
groups.  

ii. Describe any community benefit agreements that you have or will enter 
into committing the project to providing the benefits listed above.  

iii. Have you conducted outreach to the communities around the project location? If 
yes or outreach is planned in the future, please describe the outreach effort, 
including methods, languages in which materials have been made available, 
nature and volume of community response, and any changes to the project that 
have been made in response to community concerns.  
 

c) RCEA completes a survey each year tracking the number of women, minority, and disabled 
veteran employees and consultants that contribute to RCEA’s Renewable Portfolio 
Standard procurement and reports the results to the CPUC, which aggregates the information 
from all power providers to track the equity metrics associated with California’s RPS Program.  
 

4. Collaboration with CalCCA Environmental Justice and Equity Committee, and other 
external equity organizations:  
a) Staff have continued participation in the CalCCA Environmental Justice and Equity Committee, 

which is a forum for CCAs to learn from each other and share best practices on equity work and 
programming.  
 

b) In addition to the CalCCA Equity Committee, RCEA is a member of the Equity Metrics Working 
Group of the California Energy Efficiency Coordinating Committee (CAEECC). CAEECC is a 
forum for stakeholders to discuss energy efficiency matters under the purview of the CPUC. The 
purpose of the working group is to identify and define metrics to track progress of CPUC-
authorized programs that provide energy efficiency services to hard-to-reach or underserved 
customers and disadvantaged communities to further environmental and social justice. Specific 
equity and community engagement indicators and metrics have been adopted into tracking and 
design of Public Purpose Program (PPP) energy efficiency programs as a result.   
 

c) RCEA staff presented at the 2025 CalREN Forum titled Equitable Electrification in Action.  

76



 
 

Page 5 of 5 
 

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
Goal 1.4.8 – Develop Programs that Foster Social Equity.  

Financial Impact 
Budgeted staff costs 

Staff Recommendation 
Accept RCEA Racial Justice Plan progress report. 

Attachments 
None. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

77



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

78



 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 6.8 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Lori Taketa, Clerk of the Board 

Subject Community Advisory Committee At-Large Member Appointments 

Background 
RCEA‘s Board established the Community Advisory Committee (CAC) to support RCEA public 
engagement efforts and provide decision-making support and input. CAC members helped educate 
Humboldt County residents about community choice aggregation and gathered community input during 
the Community Choice Energy (CCE) program’s launch period. Staff routinely ask the CAC for input on 
issues such as energy efficiency kit contents and potential uses for the Sandrini Battery Storage Project’s 
Community Benefits Fund. 

CAC applicants and appointed members must commit to supporting RCEA’s mission and to align their 
advice with the long-term success of the agency. The CAC is a Brown Act, California open meeting law 
compliant body. CAC members are subject to all applicable conflict of interest laws. Appointees must 
complete a Fair Political Practices Commission Statement of Economic Interest, a public document 
disclosing the member’s personal financial interests. 

Each Board Director may nominate a CAC member to serve a 2-year term. The County may nominate up 
to three CAC members. Two at-large seats are filled through an open application process every two 
years. Current at-large incumbents Colin Fiske and Pliny McCovey decided to end their CAC service at 
the end of this 2-year term.  

Summary 
Vice Chair Sarah Schaefer and Director Scott Bauer serve as Board liaison and alternate liaison to the 
CAC. Both volunteered to serve on an ad-hoc at-large application review committee and read through 
the application submitted by the February 13 deadline. 

Carol Schmitt was the sole applicant for the two at-large CAC vacancies. Ms. Schmitt was employed by 
the California Energy Commission supervising a team that successfully applied for $290 million in federal 
grants and launched the HEEHRA home electrification and appliance rebates program. She has over 25 
years of experience in clean energy workforce development and building and grid decarbonization 
market development. Ms. Schmitt stated that she “would like to achieve more grid resiliency for all 
communities along the North Coast, expand community microgrids, support gas decommissioning, and 
deploy offshore wind faster.” 

79



 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

Should Carol Schmitt be appointed to fill an at-large seat on the CAC, five committee vacancies will 
remain. 

Equity Impacts 
CAC members have opportunities to further RCEA goals that benefit underserved population segments; 
promote racially-diverse inclusion in energy infrastructure or policy decision making; access to energy, 
energy efficiency services and freedom from pollution. Staff recommend considering these goals as well 
as Committee member diversity and inclusion when appointing members to fill these vacancies. 

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
The CAC’s work supports RCEA’s public engagement efforts and provides decision-making support and 
input to the Board for the implementation of the agency’s strategic plan goals. 

Financial Impact 
CAC member appointments do not affect the adopted RCEA budget. 

Staff Recommendation 
Appoint Carol Schmitt to a Community Advisory Committee at-large seat for a two-year term ending on 
March 31, 2028. 

Attachments 
None. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80



 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 6.9 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Elizabeth Burks, Executive Director 

Subject Notice of Humboldt Bay Municipal Water District’s Withdrawal from the Redwood 
Coast Energy Authority Joint Powers Agreement 

Summary 
As reported to the Board last month, the Board of Directors of the Humboldt Bay Municipal Water District 
voted to withdraw from the Redwood Coast Energy Authority Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) by a 
unanimous vote at its January 8, 2026, meeting. Section 5.6 Withdrawal of RCEA’s JPA states: 

Members may withdraw at any time by providing written notice from the governing body 
of such Member to the Board; provided, that no Member may withdraw if withdrawal 
would adversely affect a bond or other indebtedness issued by the RCEA, except upon a 
two-thirds (2/3) vote of the full Board. Withdrawal shall be effective upon receipt by the 
Board of said notice or upon said vote of the Board if required. 

RCEA has not issued a bond or other debt instrument, therefore a vote of RCEA’s Board is not required 
to finalize HBMWD’s withdrawal. A certified copy of the January Water District meeting minutes, reflecting 
HBMWD Board motion #26-006 approving the Water District’s withdrawal from RCEA, was received at 
RCEA offices on February 17, 2026. 

Background 
The Humboldt Bay Municipal Water District joined the Redwood Coast Energy Authority in 2007, due to 
the strong water-energy nexus in regional issues as well as HBMWD’s role as a local power generator 
with its Ruth Lake hydroelectric facility.  

The Water District is refocusing efforts on its core operations and mission and decided to withdraw from 
both RCEA and Redwood Region Economic Development Commission membership last month. While 
RCEA and RREDC participation promote engagement and collaboration on general business 
development and broader economic issues, the HBMWD Board decided that participation in these JPAs 
did not fully align with engaging in industry related activities that are directly related to the purposes and 
operations of a water utility. 

 

81



 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Equity Impacts 
None. The Water District’s withdrawal from the RCEA JPA does not affect HBMWD customers’ ability to 
benefit from RCEA customer programs. The Water District’s customers continue to be represented in 
RCEA decision making by Board members of other Humboldt County jurisdictions. 

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
The Water District’s withdrawal from RCEA membership will not negatively impact the agencies’ ability to 
work together on RCEA’s regional planning and coordination, distributed energy resources development, 
energy consumption reduction, and renewable energy generation and grid resilience goals. 

Financial Impact 
HBMWD withdrawal from the RCEA Joint Powers Agreement does not affect RCEA’s annual budget. 

Staff Recommendation 
Receive Humboldt Bay Municipal Water District’s notice of withdrawal from the Redwood Coast Energy 
Authority Joint Powers Agreement. 

Attachments 
1. Certified minutes of January 8, 2026, regular meeting of the Humboldt Bay Municipal Water 

District Board of Directors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

82



83



84



85



86



87



88



 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 6.10 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Patricia Terry, Senior Portfolio Manger 
Lexie Perez, Senior Contracts and Grants Manager 

Subject Updates to NREN Memorandum of Agreement 

Background 
In November 2024, the Board approved RCEA entering into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with 
the Northern Rural Energy Network (NREN) partners – Sierra Business Council, Lake Area Planning 
Council and Mendocino Council of Governments (collectively, “Governing Partners”) – which outlines a 
governance structure for NREN and tasks the Governing Partners with the development and approval of 
NREN’s annual strategy and portfolio plan and portfolio-level budget. The Governing Partners, including 
RCEA’s Executive Director on behalf of RCEA, have the authority to make changes to the Bylaws as 
deemed necessary, but any material changes to the MOA are approved by RCEA’s Board of Directors as 
the NREN Lead Administrator. 
 
NREN’s administrative consultant, Frontier Energy, with their subcontractor, Blue Point Planning, have 
participated in recent annual strategy and portfolio planning and advised clarifying and better defining the 
roles included in the Bylaws and MOA. Based on their guidance, staff drafted the following revisions to 
the MOA: 

• Change terminology from “RuralREN North” to either “Northern Rural Energy Network” or 
“NREN.”  

• Refinements to the definition of the Lead Administrator.  
• Change terminology from “Implementing Agencies” to “Program Teams.”  
• Change of RCEA signatory to Elizabeth Burks, Executive Director.  

Summary  
The Governing Partners have reviewed and approved the suggested revisions to the NREN Bylaws and 
NREN MOA. RCEA staff recommend the Board approve the updates to the MOA.  

Equity Impacts 
RENs in general, and the NREN in particular, are designed to reach customers that otherwise are not 
being reached by existing ratepayer-funded programs. The NREN residential needs assessment will 
ensure that hard-to-reach, disinvested, disadvantaged, and underserved rural residential customers 

89



 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

receive the support they need from NREN’s energy programs and are empowered to better manage their 
energy use and cost through increased awareness, support resources, a trained workforce and access to 
financing to improve their homes and businesses. 
 
Approval of the MOA helps to further refine NREN’s governance and operations which allow for 
streamlining of NREN’s activities to achieve its equity goals. 

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
NREN’s purpose and primary functions contribute to the strategic goals in Chapter 2 of RCEA’s strategic 
plan, particularly section 2.2, Energy Efficiency and Conservation. NREN’s Equity, Resource Acquisition, 
and Market Support programs are designed to meet the following goals:  

2.2.1 Maximize the Efficiency of Buildings 

2.2.2 Support Electrification 

2.2.3 Increase Equipment Efficiency through Market Transformation 

Approval of the MOA helps to further refine NREN’s governance and operations which allow for 
streamlining of NREN’s activities to achieve RCEA’s strategic goals as outlined in the REpower plan. 

Financial Impact 
Any adjustments to RCEA staff resourcing resulting from the planned implementation of the revised Lead 
Administrator role will be reflected in the annual NREN budgets. Corresponding adjustments will be 
reflected in RCEA’s future fiscal year budget. 

Staff Recommendation 
Approve the Amended and Restated Memorandum of Agreement between Lake Area Planning Council, 
the Mendocino Council of Governments, the Redwood Coast Energy Authority, and Sierra Business 
Council for the Northern California Rural Regional Energy Network and authorize the Executive Director 
to execute the Agreement, Attachment 1. 

Attachments 
1. Amended and Restated NREN Memorandum of Agreement 

 

90



   

 

Page 1 of 12 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

BY AND BETWEEN 

LAKE AREA PLANNING COUNCIL, THE MENDOCINO COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS, 

THE REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY, AND SIERRA BUSINESS COUNCIL 

FOR 

THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA RURAL REGIONAL ENERGY NETWORK  

 

This Amended and Restated Memorandum of Agreement by and Between Lake Area Planning Council, 

the Mendocino Council of Governments, the Redwood Coast Energy Authority, and Sierra Business 

Council for the Northern California Rural Regional Energy Network (“MOA”) is entered into and made 

effective as of ___________________, 2026 (“Effective Date”) by and among the following parties (each 

referred to separately herein as a “NREN Partner,” or “Partner” and collectively as the “NREN Partners,” 

or “Partners”):  

Lake Area Planning Council (“Lake APC”): Lake APC is a California joint powers authority with 

member agencies consisting of the Cities of Lakeport and Clearlake and the County of Lake. Lake 

APC is the Regional Transportation Planning Agency created with authority to plan for and suggest 

solutions to common problems, assist in the preparation of proposals by utilizing planning talents and 

general plans of the various governmental agencies located within the County and of planning and 

technical experts in various other fields. Lake APC represents the Lake County region in NREN. 

Mendocino Council of Governments (“MCOG”): MCOG is a California joint powers authority 

formed in 1972 with member agencies consisting of the Cities of Fort Bragg, Point Arena, Ukiah and 

Willits, and the County of Mendocino. Its purpose is to assist local governments in planning to 

address common needs, cooperating for mutual benefit, and coordinating for sound regional, 

community, and intercommunity development. MCOG is the Regional Transportation Planning 

Agency for the Mendocino County region. MCOG represents the Mendocino County region in the 

NREN. 

Redwood Coast Energy Authority (“RCEA”): Founded in 2003 as a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) 

located in Humboldt County.  RCEA’s purpose is to develop and implement sustainable energy 

initiatives that reduce energy demand, increase energy efficiency, and advance the use of clean, 

efficient, and renewable resources available in the region. RCEA is also a Community Choice 

Aggregator (“CCA”) for Humboldt County. RCEA represents the Humboldt County region in NREN. 

Sierra Business Council (“SBC”): SBC is a 501(c)(3) non-profit organization whose purpose is to 

pioneer and demonstrate innovative approaches and solutions to increase community vitality, 

economic prosperity, environmental quality, and social fairness in the Sierra Nevada. SBC is an 

experienced energy program implementer and has been working with PG&E implementing the Sierra 

Nevada Energy Watch over the last 15 years. SBC represents the service area Alpine, Amador, Butte, 

Calaveras, El Dorado, Lassen, Mariposa, Nevada, Placer, Plumas, Sierra, Sutter, Tuolumne and Yuba 

Counties in NREN. 

91



   

 

Page 2 of 12 
 

BACKGROUND RECITALS AND SHARED GOALS 

A. The California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) issued Decision D.24-09-031, effective 

September 26, 2024, that approved the Northern California Rural Regional Energy Network 

(“Northern Rural Energy Network” or “NREN”) to deliver energy efficiency programs to 

underserved rural customers located within the jurisdictions of the Partners’ collective territories 

(“Approved Decision”).1 The Approved Decision specifies a budget for the remainder of 2024 

through 2027 sourced from Pacific Gas and Electric Company (“PG&E”), who is responsible for 

collecting the energy efficiency ratepayer funds and is the only investor-owned utility with territory in 

the NREN region. These funds will be used for the coordination of regional energy efficiency 

programs and strategy; and increase awareness of and access to conservation, efficiency, and 

renewable opportunities within the NREN region. 

        

B. The Partners’ primary role in regard to NREN is to cooperatively develop, administer, and 

successfully implement the Energy Efficiency Portfolio programs as defined in the Approved 

Decision and the Revised Business Plan approved by the CPUC on June 12, 2025, through Resolution 

E-5400. Additionally, the Partners seek to jointly prepare and submit, on behalf of the Partners and 

NREN, applications to the CPUC for future NREN funding and other potential opportunities for 

sustainability and energy efficiency activities. 

  

C. The Approved Decision designates RCEA as the lead program administrator for NREN. In this 

capacity, RCEA, on behalf of the Partners, will coordinate planning activities for NREN, act as the 

fiscal administrator, and enter into certain agreements such as a funding agreement with PG&E, 

program implementer agreements, and evaluator agreements. Pursuant to the Approved Decision, the 

CPUC designation of the lead program administrator may be amended only with CPUC approval. 

 

D. The Partners commit to an effective delivery of NREN energy efficiency programs to the residential, 

commercial, and public sector and local workforce in the NREN region, the details of which are set 

forth in this MOA. 

 

E. The Partners intend that upon receipt of funds from PG&E or other funding sources for NREN 

program activities, RCEA will reimburse the Partners, in amounts not to exceed those stated in the 

annual portfolio-level budgets (as described in the Bylaws) approved by the Governing Partners, for 

allowable costs incurred for the express purpose of performing NREN program activities and 

administration. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions recited herein and made 

a material part hereof, the Partners amend and restate the Memorandum of Agreement executed on 

December 12, 2024, as follows: 

1. The Bylaws. The Partners shall adopt bylaws to establish the governing structure and operational 

rules for NREN (the “Bylaws”).  The Bylaws are intended to go into effect concurrently with the 

 
1 Decision Modifying Rural Regional Energy Network Approved in Decision 23-06-055 (D.24-09-031), effective 
September 26, 2024. 

92



   

 

Page 3 of 12 
 

Effective Date of this MOA, and are attached hereto as Exhibit A. The Bylaws may be amended only 

upon approval by unanimous vote from the Governing Partners. Upon any amendment to the Bylaws, 

the Lead Administrator shall update Exhibit A and distribute the updated Bylaws to all Partners.  The 

Bylaws may not be used to modify or amend any requirements in the MOA. In the event of any 

inconsistencies between the MOA and the Bylaws, the MOA shall control. 

2. Governing Partners.  

a. Defined. NREN shall be governed by a committee comprised of one staff representative from 

each of the Partners (the “NREN Governing Partners” or “Governing Partners”). The NREN 

Governing Partners’ structure, composition and duties shall be further described in the Bylaws. 

Quorum and voting requirements may be changed only by a unanimous vote of the Governing 

Partners membership and must be consistent with the Approved Decision where applicable. 

 

b. Membership. Each Partner shall appoint a primary staff representative to the Governing 

Partners and may appoint an alternative representative to participate in Governing Partner 

meetings in the absence of the primary representative from that Partner. However, while 

primary and alternative representatives from the same Partner may participate in discussion in 

the same meeting, the alternative representative may not conduct business, such as voting or 

making motions, in Governing Partner meetings if the primary representative is present. 

c. Quorum, Voting. To conduct Governing Partners’ business or take action, a minimum of three 

fourths of the Governing Partners must be present.  Each Governing Partner holds one vote 

equally weighted with the votes of the other Governing Partners. Action may be taken only on 

agendized items, unless otherwise allowed in this MOA.  

d. Ethical Conduct, Conflicts of Interest. Representatives of the Governing Partners must comply 

with all California laws pertaining to conflicts of interest and ethical conduct. Conflict of 

interest laws generally prohibit a representative of a Governing Partner from making or 

participating in the making of any decision in which they have a financial interest. Failure to 

adhere to conflict of interest laws can expose the representative of the Governing Partner to 

civil or criminal penalties, jail time, and/or removal from the Governing Partners.  

Conflict of interest laws provide the minimum standards to which the Governing Partners are 

required to comply. As representatives entrusted with the fiscal oversight of rate-payer funds, 

Governing Partners are held to high standards of ethical conduct in order to best maintain the 

public’s trust and confidence in the Partner organization and in NREN. Governing Partners 

shall undergo California Assembly Bill 1234 ethics training for local government officials 

every two years, receive their first training no later than six months from the first day of service 

as a representative of the NREN Governing Partner. Each Governing Partner representative and 

alternate must complete annual FPPC Form 700 Statements of Economic Interest, which must 

be filed with the RCEA Board Clerk annually, when assuming the position, and when leaving. 

3. Lead Administrator.  

a. Defined. The NREN Lead Administrator will be a Partner who is also public agency acting as 

93



   

 

Page 4 of 12 
 

the administrative and regulatory responsible party to the CPUC for the administration of 

NREN. The roles and responsibilities of the NREN Lead Administrator will be performed by 

the Administrative Lead and Portfolio Lead as defined in the Bylaws. 

 

b. Designated. RCEA shall serve as the Lead Administrator for NREN, unless and until the Lead 

Administrator is replaced in accordance with the process set out in the Bylaws and the 

replacement is approved by the CPUC. Compliance with the Approved Decision shall guide all 

actions of the Lead Administrator. As Lead Administrator, RCEA acknowledges the potential 

for a conflict of interest that could arise while also assuming an Implementing Agency 

responsibility, and will implement best practices to avoid acting in a manner that improperly 

favors RCEA.  

   

c. General Responsibilities. The Lead Administrator shall act as the fiscal lead, purchasing and 

contracting manager, and primary regulatory contact for NREN. RCEA’s Executive Director 

shall have the authority to take actions and execute agreements on behalf of RCEA as the 

NREN Lead Administrator following the approval of such actions and agreements as may be 

required by this MOA and the Bylaws, and in accordance with the RCEA procurement policy. 

The Lead Administrator shall undertake and/or complete the following activities under 

oversight of the Governing Partners as described in the Bylaws: 

 

i. Report to the CPUC on monthly, quarterly, and annual basis. 

ii. Prepare and file a revised Business Plan as authorized and directed by any CPUC 

decision, and with unanimous consent by the Governing Partners. 

iii. Manage NREN administrative, marketing, and evaluation, measurement, and verification 

(EM&V) activities and associated budgets. 

iv. Coordinate with CPUC Energy Division staff and filing required regulatory submissions, 

data requests, and reports to the CPUC. 

v. Establish, manage, oversee, and administer procurement and contracts for NREN 

Portfolio implementation and enterprise-level business administration. The Lead 

Administrator shall have sole authority to contract with vendors and consultants on 

NREN’s behalf. 

vi. Execute contracts and submit invoices to CPUC-assigned fiscal agent (PG&E) for release 

of NREN funds. 

vii. Contract for and supervise legal, regulatory, and legislative representation of NREN. 

viii. Develop NREN’s application to the CPUC for each Energy Efficiency funding cycle and 

submit the application to the Governing Partners for approval prior to submitting to the 

CPUC. 

d. Additional Duties. RCEA shall be responsible for additional specific duties as described in the 

Bylaws. 

94



   

 

Page 5 of 12 
 

 

e. CPUC Compliance. The NREN Partners recognize that the Lead Administrator is solely 

accountable to the CPUC for compliance with the CPUC Approved Decision and applicable 

laws, regulatory decisions, and regulations. 

  

4. Program Teams. NREN programs will be implemented by Program Teams made up of  NREN 

Partner staff and other implementers (each, an “Implementing Agency,” collectively, “Implementing 

Agencies”). The Lead Administrator will enter into separate agreements with each Implementing 

Agency to address the specific program requirements (“Implementer Agreements”). High level 

responsibilities for Program Teams and Implementing Agencies shall be described in the Bylaws and 

program-specific detail shall be included in each Implementing Agreement. When acting as an 

Implementing Agency, the Lead Administrator shall be subject to, and shall adhere to, the same 

general program implementation requirements as all other Implementation Agencies, under the 

oversight of the Governing Partners.  

5. Program Activities. NREN program activities are those set forth in the Approved Decision and 

Revised Business Plan.  

The Partners shall work cooperatively to implement NREN Programs, as defined in the Bylaws and 

comply with CPUC requirements. The Partners will perform all tasks and deliverables and shall 

comply with all applicable laws, policies, and regulations in carrying out NREN program activities 

and other duties hereunder. 

6. Budget.  The Approved Decision sets forth the annual NREN Program budget, by year, the maximum 

expenditure under this MOA for NREN Program activities and administration. RCEA will reimburse 

the Partners, in amounts not to exceed those stated in Annual Portfolio-level Budget, for allowable 

costs incurred for the express purpose of performing NREN program activities. All reimbursements 

are subject to receipt of sufficient funds from the CPUC and/or Fiscal Agent.   

7. NREN Advisory Committees. The Governing Partners may establish such advisory committees as 

deemed appropriate to assist the Governing Partners in its implementation of NREN. Advisory 

committees shall be established in accordance with procedural requirements contained in the Bylaws.    

8. Termination.  

a. RCEA may terminate this MOA for convenience, provided that RCEA gives one year’s written 

notice prior to the date of termination.  In the event that RCEA provides notice to terminate this 

MOA for convenience, RCEA and the Partners agree to work together in good faith to assign 

RCEA’s responsibilities to another local government or joint powers authority. RCEA and the 

Partners shall follow the CPUC’s process for proposing a change to the Lead Administrator, in 

which case this MOA would be amended to remove RCEA and name the new Lead 

Administrator. In the event the Partners are unable to identify and agree on another agency to 

serve as a lead, or if the CPUC does not approve of a new Lead Administrator, this MOA shall 

be terminated. 

 

95



   

 

Page 6 of 12 
 

b. The MOA may be terminated if the NREN funding is discontinued by an order, decision, or 

resolution of the CPUC.  

 

9. Breach. 

a. If any Partner fails to perform a material obligation under the MOA and/or Bylaws, RCEA will 

notify the Partner of the breach and provide 30 days to cure.  

 

b. In the event that there is a disagreement as to the allegation of a material breach, the Partners 

agree to enter into good faith negotiations via the dispute resolution process in the Bylaws in 

order to resolve the disagreement. 

 

c. If the Partner is found to be in breach and fails to cure any breach of this MOA within 30 days 

of receipt of a notice of breach from RCEA, then RCEA may serve written notice to the Partner 

that RCEA intends to terminate this MOA with the breaching Partner and thereafter, if the 

material breach is not timely and reasonably cured, terminate this MOA with the breaching 

Partner.  

 

d. The remaining Partners agree to work together in good faith to assign the breaching Partner’s 

responsibilities to another Partner or agency, in which case this MOA would be amended.  Such 

good faith efforts shall also include working with the CPUC in order to identify another agency. 

 

e. In the event the Partners are unable to identify and agree on another Partner or agency to serve 

as the replacement Partner, or if the CPUC does not approve of a new Partner, the obligations 

and monies for carrying out program activities for NREN not fulfilled by the removed Partner 

may be used by RCEA, in its sole discretion, to carry out program activities for the NREN 

region in the removed Partner’s region.   

 

10. Withdrawal. Lake APC, MCOG, or SBC may withdraw from this MOA without cause by providing 

180 days’ notice to RCEA and the Governing Partners.  The remaining Partners agree that obligations 

and monies for carrying out program activities for NREN not fulfilled by the withdrawing Partner 

may be used by RCEA, in its reasonable discretion, to carry out program activities for the NREN 

region in the withdrawing Partner’s region. In the event a Partner provides notice to withdraw from 

this MOA, the remaining Partners agree to work together in good faith to assign that Partner’s 

responsibilities to another Partner or agency, in which case this MOA would be amended.  Such good 

faith efforts shall also include working with the CPUC in order to identify another agency.  In the 

event the Partners are unable to identify and agree on another Partner or agency to serve as the 

replacement Partner, or if the CPUC does not approve of a new Partner, this MOA shall be amended 

to remove the withdrawing Partner and reassign duties among the existing Partners. 

11. Change of Lead Administrator. The Lead Administrator named in this MOA may be changed only 

through the process established in the Bylaws. Any Lead Administrator change made by the 

Governing Partners must be made in a manner consistent with the Approved Decision and is effective 

only upon final approval by the CPUC. 

12. Dispute Resolution. The Bylaws shall establish a dispute resolution process to address any allegation 

of a material breach by a Partner or Lead Administrator, or any material disagreement by the Partners.  

13. Hold Harmless and Indemnity. Each Partner shall indemnify and hold harmless each other Partner, 

96



   

 

Page 7 of 12 
 

and their respective officials, directors, agents, and employees from and against any and all demands, 

causes of action, claims, costs, expenses, and liability for any loss, damage, or injury caused by the 

negligence or willful misconduct of the indemnifying Partner, or its officers, employees, or agents, in 

the indemnifying Partner’s performance under this MOA. The obligations of the indemnifying Partner 

under this section shall not apply to any claim, cost or liability caused by the negligence or willful 

misconduct of any other Partner. Under no circumstances shall the indemnifying Partner be liable to 

any other Partner or any other person or entity for consequential or special damages, or for any 

damages based on loss of use, revenue, profits, or business opportunities arising from or in any way 

relating to performance of the indemnifying Partner under this MOA. 

14. Indemnification by Contractors and Subcontractors. Additionally, each Partner shall require all 

third party contractors and subcontractors performing NREN program activities to indemnify, defend, 

and hold harmless each Partner and their respective officials, directors, agents, employees from and 

against any and all claims, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, liability, loss, damage or 

injury, in law or equity, to property or persons, including wrongful death, in any manner arising out of 

or incident to any alleged acts, omissions, or willful misconduct of such indemnifying contractor or 

subcontractor, its officials, officers, employees, agents, consultants and contractors, arising out of or 

in connection with the performance of NREN program activities, including without limitation the 

payment of all consequential damages and attorneys’ fees and other related costs and expenses. 

15. Use of Terms. All terms used in this MOA containing initial capitalization are defined in this MOA, 

the Approved Decision, as modified by subsequent CPUC rulings. If any definitions conflict, the 

order of precedence shall be: the CPUC Approved Decision, as modified by subsequent rulings, and 

this MOA.    

16. Responsibility for Additional Cost and Expenses. This MOA does not bind any Partner to the 

incurring of additional expenses or costs that are not specified in this MOA or the Lead 

Administrator’s individual contracts with Implementing Agencies. 

17. No Third-Party Beneficiary.  This MOA is only for the benefit of the Partners and not for the 

benefit of any third party. 

18. Exhibits.  In the event of an inconsistency between this MOA and the Exhibits as attached hereto, the 

MOA shall control.   

19. Use of Partners’ Name.  Individual Partners must receive approval from any other Partner prior to 

using the other Partner’s name or logo. 

20. Amendments. This MOA may be amended only by unanimous vote of the Governing Partners and a 

written instrument executed by authorized representatives from each of the Partners in the same 

manner as this MOA.   

21. Effective Date, Term. This MOA shall begin and become effective on (“Effective Date”) the date of 

the last party signing below and restated for reference in the preamble. This MOA will remain in 

effect until terminated by unanimous vote of the Governing Partners.   

22. Confidentiality. 

97



   

 

Page 8 of 12 
 

a. Common Interest. The Partners share common legal and/or policy interests from their joint 

participation in NREN, the implementation of which will benefit from discussions and 

collaboration among respective counsel relating to common legal interests affecting the 

Partners. The Partners wish to preserve, to the maximum extent possible, any applicable 

privilege or protection (including, but not limited to, the attorney-client privilege and the work 

product doctrine as well as the official information privilege) and any other protections 

accorded confidential or proprietary information that they may have relating to the Confidential 

Information shared.    

b. Confidential Information. For purposes of this MOA, “Confidential Information” is specifically 

defined as legal, policy and commercial information provided by one Partner to one or more 

other Partners and designated as “Confidential,” that the disclosing Partner has not made public 

and does not intend to make available to the public, including but not limited to the following: 

written communications; documents; factual and legal analyses, summaries, and memoranda; 

contracts; operating data; opinions; legal strategies; interview reports and reports of experts, 

consultants or investigators; notes, reports, or recordings, in any form, of joint meetings 

between counsel, their representatives and employees, and of any meetings between counsel, 

the Partners, their representatives and employees with consulting experts or support service 

providers.  

c. Use of Confidential Information. The Partners shall keep all Confidential Information 

confidential. If Confidential Information is required to be disclosed by act of law or judicial or 

other governmental action, the duty to maintain confidentiality of such information shall remain 

to the extent the disclosure is not subject to the law or specific disclosure demand. As needed to 

preserve privilege, the Lead Administrator may require members to execute confidentiality 

and/or nondisclosure agreements to access confidential attorney communications and work 

product. 

d. Transmittal of Confidential Information. Transmittal of confidential information not exempt 

from the California Public Records Act shall only occur through a manner that preserves 

confidentiality, as recognized under the California Public Records Act. All Partners must 

adhere to such methods. 

e. Requests for Disclosure Pursuant to the California Public Records Act.  

i. Each Partner acknowledges that RCEA is a public agency subject to the requirements of 

the California Constitution, Article 1, Section 3 and the California Public Records Act 

(Government Code §§ 7920.000–7931.000). 

ii. Each Partner acknowledges that it may submit to or otherwise provide RCEA with access 

to materials that a Partner considers Confidential Information, which may or may not be 

exempt from public disclosure under applicable California law. 

iii. Where any third-party (the “Requestor”) not otherwise authorized to access Confidential 

Information under this Agreement makes a demand or request to RCEA for access to 

Confidential Information (the “Request”), RCEA will promptly notify the Partners of the 

98



   

 

Page 9 of 12 
 

Request before responding to the Requestor and indicate its preliminary analysis of 

whether the records requested are subject to or exempt from disclosure under the 

California Public Records Act. If the information demanded or requested affects more 

than one Partner, then the affected Partners shall cooperate in their response, including 

engaging joint counsel if deemed advisable, and share such costs. In the event any Partner 

disagrees with RCEA’s preliminary analysis, such Partner shall be solely responsible for 

taking whatever legal steps such Partner deems necessary to prevent release of 

information to the Requestor (including the release of such information by RCEA). Such 

Partner is responsible for all costs associated with pursuit of any legal steps, including the 

pursuit of any legal remedies, subject to any sharing of costs in the case more than one 

Partner is affected (e.g. retaining joint counsel). 

iv. Each Partner understands and acknowledges that the California Public Records Act 

compels RCEA to respond to Requests within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of a 

Request (the “RCEA Deadline”). Where RCEA has met its obligation to timely notify the 

Partners as set forth in subsection 3 above and a Partner fails to notify RCEA that it will 

seek a protective order or other legal remedy to bar the disclosure of information that the 

Partner considers Confidential Information prior to RCEA Deadline, RCEA may, without 

liability hereunder, disclose the Confidential Information that is necessary to be disclosed 

in response to the Request. 

f. Exceptions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, “Confidential Information” shall exclude (and a 

receiving Partner shall not be under any obligation to maintain in confidence) any information 

(or any portion thereof) disclosed by any Partner to the extent that such information:  

i. Is in the public domain at the time of disclosure by the disclosing Partner; 

ii. At the time of or following disclosure, becomes generally known or available through no 

act or omission on the part of any receiving Partner; 

iii. Is known, or becomes known, to the receiving Partner from a third-party source that is 

not under an obligation to the disclosing Partner to maintain confidentiality; 

iv. Is independently developed by a Partner without violating any of its obligations under 

this Agreement or any other agreement between the Partners; 

v. Is permitted to be disclosed by a formal written agreement executed by and between the 

receiving Partner(s) and the disclosing Partner; 

vi. Was in the possession of the receiving Partner prior to disclosure by the disclosing 

Partner; or 

vii. Is required to be disclosed by law or regulation; provided that, to the extent practicable 

and legally permissible; the disclosing Partner is given prompt notice of such required 

disclosure so that the disclosing may seek an injunction or other protective order. 

g. Labeling Confidential Information. The Parties shall identify any Confidential Information 

99



   

 

Page 10 of 12 
 

provided in tangible or electronic form pursuant to this Agreement as “confidential.” If the 

disclosure is oral, the Confidential Information shall be identified as confidential at the time of 

disclosure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties shall treat all disclosures so identified as 

Confidential Information, whether the confidential status is indicated orally or in writing or by 

a context in which the disclosing Partner reasonably communicated, or which the Parties should 

reasonably have understood that the disclosure should be treated as confidential, and whether or 

not the specific word “confidential” is used.  

h. Disclosures. In the event of an unauthorized disclosure or loss of Confidential Information, the 

disclosing Partner shall notify the other Partner immediately when such disclosure or loss 

comes to its attention.  

i. Returning and Deleting Confidential Information. In the event that a Partner withdraws from 

this MOA or the MOA is terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, all Partners shall 

promptly return all Confidential Information received and return or destroy any copies or 

summaries thereof or reports based thereon to the Partners who delivered the Confidential 

Information. Partners’ obligations arising under this Section shall continue for a period of 

thirty-six (36) months following the termination of this MOA.  

23. Intellectual Property Rights. Nothing contained in this Agreement will be construed to grant or 

imply any right to any Partner with respect to any intellectual property of any other Partner (whether 

or not copyrighted or patented), including any uses related thereto, and all Confidential Information is 

the sole property of the disclosing Partner. The analysis and work product hereunder are to be 

prepared for the exclusive use of the Partners and their designated agents. Furthermore, such work 

products may not be reproduced or used for any other purpose without the express written consent of 

the Parties. 

24. Notices. Any and all notices required to be given pursuant to the terms of this MOA shall be in 

writing and either served personally or sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the 

respective addresses set forth below.  Notice shall be effective upon actual receipt or refusal as shown 

on the receipt obtained pursuant to the foregoing. 

Sierra Business Council 

Steven Frisch 

President 

PO Box 2428 Truckee, CA 96160 

(530) 582-4800 

sfrisch@sierrabusiness.org 

Redwood Coast Energy Authority 

Elizabeth Burks 

Executive Director 

633 3rd Street, Eureka, CA 95501 

(707) 269-1700 

bburks@redwoodenergy.org 

 

Lake Area Planning Council 

Lisa Davey-Bates 

Executive Director 

525 S. Main St Suite G 

Ukiah, CA 95482 

707-234-3314 

ldaveybates@dbcteam.net 

Mendocino Council of Governments 

Nephele Barrett 

Executive Director 

525 S. Main St., Ste B 

Ukiah, CA 95482 

707-463-1859 

barrettn@dow-associates.com 

100



   

 

Page 11 of 12 
 

 

25. Authority.  Each Partner represents and warrants that the person signing this MOA has legal 

authority to sign this MOA and bind that party. 

26. Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed by the Parties in one or more counterparts using 

verified electronic signature or signature transmitted in PDF, each of which shall be an original, but 

all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument, and when so executed and delivered shall 

be treated by the Parties and given the same effect as an original. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, having been duly authorized, have executed this Amended 

and Restated Memorandum of Agreement on the date below, to be effective on the Effective Date stated 

above. 

(Signatures on following page) 

  

101



   

 

Page 12 of 12 
 

 

Redwood Coast Energy Authority  

Signature:      Date:     

     Elizabeth Burks, Executive Director 

 

Sierra Business Council 

Signature:      Date:     

     Steven Frisch, President 

 

Lake Area Planning Council 

Signature:      Date:     

     Lisa Davey-Bates, Executive Director 

 

Mendocino Council of Governments 

Signature:      Date:     

     Nephele Barrett, Executive Director 

 

102



 
 

Page 1 of 5 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 8.1 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Richard Engel, director of power resources 

Subject Sandrini Battery Storage Community Benefits Fund 
 

Staff seek guidance from the Board on how best to use or invest community benefits funds being 
provided by an energy project developer per terms of their contract with RCEA. 

Background 
Public entities, including community choice aggregators (CCAs), sometimes require a contribution to a 
community benefit fund as a condition of awarding contracts. Benefits might be aimed at the community 
impacted by the development of a project, or at the community served by the public entity, or both. 
Alternatively, public agencies may weigh offers to provide such funds when scoring competing project 
offers. To date, RCEA has researched how other CCAs have secured community benefits and has used 
a variety of its own approaches to ensure energy projects for which RCEA contracts offer community 
benefits beyond the clean energy generated. 

• Community benefits are used as a scoring criterion in RCEA’s requests for offers. For example, 
RCEA’s most recent request for offers for renewable power supply allocated 10 out of a possible 
100 points to “location and community benefits.” However, the benefits offered are often broad 
and speculative in nature and resulting contracts typically do not bind the project developer to 
deliver these benefits. 

• In some instances, RCEA has introduced a request for community benefits funding at the 
negotiation stage of a project already short-listed for contracting. As one example, developer 
Ormat agreed in the binding terms of the contract for their Tierra Buena energy storage project to 
provide funding for creation of clean energy workforce curriculum. This curriculum was made 
available to educators in both Sutter County where the project was developed and locally in 
Humboldt. This curriculum focused on identifying the skills and knowledge needed to find 
employment in the clean energy field, and what pathways a worker might take to gaining these 
skills and knowledge. 

Summary 
Staff seek the Board’s guidance on a new instance of community benefits funds. In 2024, RCEA entered 
into an energy storage service agreement with renewable energy developer EDP Renewables (EDPR) 

103



 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

for their Sandrini Battery Energy Storage System located in Kern County, CA. This project came online in 
January 2026 and is co-located with the Sandrini solar project that has been delivering clean energy to 
RCEA since late 2024. During contract negotiations for the battery project, RCEA staff proposed a 
Community Investment Fund be provided by EDPR. This was captured in the terms of the agreement as 
follows: 

Seller [EDPR] agrees to fund a “Community Investment Fund” (“CI Fund”) through a one-time 
payment by Seller of two hundred and fifty thousand dollars ($250,000). Within sixty (60) days 
after the Commercial Operation Date [which occurred January 28], Seller will deposit the funds in 
a distinct and separate account established and maintained at a bank or financial institution 
selected by Buyer [RCEA] that is reasonably acceptable to Seller. 

The CI Fund will be administered by Buyer for the direct benefit of residents of Humboldt County 
where Buyer serves its customers and/or Kern County where the Project is to be located, and 
subject to mutual agreement by the Parties, including agreement on how the funds will be 
allocated between the two counties. The CI Fund will be allocated towards activities related to 
workforce development, education, or other community investments. Notwithstanding any 
provision to the contrary, the CI Fund shall not be allocated in a manner that is inconsistent with 
the applicable provisions of law pertaining to conflicts of interest, including the California Political 
Reform Act (Gov. Code §§ 87100 et seq.) and California Government Code Section 1090. 

Community Advisory Committee Input 
Staff engaged the Community Advisory Committee (CAC) on this topic at their January 2026 meeting, 
requesting input on the following questions related to this fund: 

• How should the funds be directed? Should we seek to expend the funds within the next fiscal 
year? Alternatively, should they be deposited in an endowment with only the earnings expended 
over the long term, or should they be expended for near-term benefits? A hypothetical 4% 
earnings rate on $250,000 would yield $10,000 per year.  

• How should the benefits from the funds be distributed in RCEA’s Humboldt County service area 
and/or the energy storage project’s host community of Kern County? Should both communities 
receive a portion of the funds? 

• What kinds of project(s) or program(s) should the funds support? As an example, the Social 
Impact Partnership operated by the San Francisco Public Utilities Commission and its 
CleanPowerSF CCA1 has four program areas: 

o Job exposure, training, and internships 
o Small business support 
o Public education 
o Environment and community health 

 

1 https://www.sfpuc.gov/construction-contracts/contract-opportunities-payments/social-impact-
partnership-program 

104

https://www.sfpuc.gov/construction-contracts/contract-opportunities-payments/social-impact-partnership-program
https://www.sfpuc.gov/construction-contracts/contract-opportunities-payments/social-impact-partnership-program


 
 

Page 3 of 5 
 

Projects performed under San Francisco’s program may be performed either in the community impacted 
by the energy project being developed, or within the CCA’s San Francisco service area.  

CAC members were in agreement that creating an endowment and using the earnings is preferred over 
a one-time expenditure of the principal, particularly if the endowment could be added to over time with 
funds from other sources. They expressed support for dividing the funds between Humboldt and Kern 
Counties, but overall there was more interest in how the funds could be used locally. The CAC members 
had many ideas on how to use the endowment earnings, with educational uses getting the most 
expressions of support. Specific ideas discussed included: 

• Using funds to educate elected officials and other decision-makers about clean energy 
technologies and provide accurate information about benefits of these projects and how potential 
risks can be mitigated with the hopes of improving receptiveness to clean energy projects as they 
come forward.  

• Providing vocational training at high school level and college scholarships focusing on clean 
energy workforce development 

• Using funds to benefit the local workforce, who miss out on clean energy jobs when projects such 
as Sandrini are developed elsewhere 

• Using funds to advance equity by adding income-qualified incentives on top of the incentives 
already offered by RCEA such as energy efficient product rebates 

For Discussion 
Staff seeks the Board’s guidance on how best to administer the Sandrini funds and will return to the 
Board at a future meeting with a formal proposal for Board review and approval. Specifically, staff seeks 
input on the following: 

1. How the funds will be divided between Humboldt County and Kern County. Staff seeks input on 
the ratio of funds that will be retained for the benefit of Humboldt County residents and those that 
should be directed towards Kern County communities. Given the CAC’s preference for directing 
most funds to Humboldt County, and the relatively small annual yield of a fund this size, staff 
propose that a one-time lump sum be provided for the benefit of communities within Kern County, 
specifically tribal or other underserved communities that are often underrepresented in clean 
energy projects. One potential recipient could be the Owens Valley Career Development Center2 
which is a Native American organization operating under a consortium of Sovereign Nations that 
promotes self-sufficiency through education, community enrichment, and cultural empowerment. 
Benefits of making a one-time contribution are that it allows the receiving entity to determine how 
funds could best benefit members of their communities as well as reducing the administrative 
burden for RCEA staff.   

2. Appropriate uses of the funds retained for use in Humboldt County, including: 
a. Building an endowment versus spending the full amount 
b. Disbursement to parties (e.g. non-profit groups, RCEA member agencies, educational 

institutions, individuals) through a vetted and transparent process  

 
2 Owens Valley Career Development Center - https://www.ovcdc.com/  

105

https://www.ovcdc.com/
https://www.ovcdc.com/


 
 

Page 4 of 5 
 

c. Direct use by RCEA for customer program incentives, assistance for vulnerable 
customers, etc.  

Note the CAC had a preference to establish an endowment but acknowledged the funding was limited 
and without additional inputs an endowment with just the Sandrini funds could have limited impact. 
However the funds are used, staff will look for streamlined processing so that the administrative burden 
remains low and is an appropriate level of effort given the potential benefits of the program.  

3. Potential partners or advisors with expertise in relevant areas such as education and workforce 
development. 

Equity Impacts 
Depending on how a community investment fund is directed, it could offer equity benefits such as 
workforce development or public health benefits for vulnerable communities or populations. Strategy 
1.4.8 from RCEA’s strategic plan makes clear that focusing the fund on social equity would be consistent 
with RCEA’s strategic plan. 

RCEA’s Racial Justice Plan3 states that “RCEA will continue to include project location and community 
benefit in its evaluation criteria for power solicitations, in an effort to contract for projects that benefit 
racially diverse communities and to avoid projects that are detrimental to those communities.” 

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
A community benefits fund could potentially support many elements of RCEA’s Strategic Plan. Strategies 
that are potentially most aligned with such a fund are: 

• 1.1.3 Support Energy-Sector Workforce Development. Work with other local entities to provide 
training and continuing education that develops and maintains a qualified local workforce 
available to implement energy efficiency upgrades, renewable energy projects, and advanced-
vehicle technology deployment. 

• 1.3.3 Develop Job Development Incentives. Collaborate with local economic development 
entities to identify funding opportunities for developing jobs in the field of energy conservation, 
efficiency, and renewable sources. 

• 1.3.5 Develop Local Energy Investment Programs. Work with local economic development 
entities and financial institutions to develop programs and resources that facilitate local 
community investment in and/or ownership of energy efficiency and renewable energy projects. 

• 1.4.8 Develop Programs That Foster Social Equity. Identify, fund, and establish new programs 
that address the energy needs of the least advantaged and underserved members of our 
community.   

 

3  RCEA’s Racial Justice Plan - https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2024/12/Racial-
Justice-Plan.pdf 

106

https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2024/12/Racial-Justice-Plan.pdf
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2024/12/Racial-Justice-Plan.pdf
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2024/12/Racial-Justice-Plan.pdf


 
 

Page 5 of 5 
 

• 1.4.9 Embrace Public Health and Environmental Quality as Key Objectives of Energy 
Planning. Seek to maximize public health and environmental benefits and minimize negative 
impacts in selecting, planning, and implementing energy policies, programs, and projects. 

• 4.1.3 Act as Community Liaison to Renewable Energy Developers. Using RCEA’s position as 
a wholesale power purchaser, work with developers on proactive strategies to reduce and 
mitigate the environmental and community impacts of potential energy projects. Ensure that local 
projects are developed in such a way that prioritizes community benefits.    

Financial Impact 
The $250,000 community investment fund from EDPR is meant to be a pass-through that will not benefit 
or impact RCEA financially, apart from the cost of staff time needed to administer the funds. Staff time 
needs could be significant depending on how the funds are allocated. 

Staff Recommendation 
Provide feedback and give direction to staff to:  

1. Engage with EDP Rewables to achieve agreement in principle on how funds will be expended 
and  

2. Develop a formal proposal for Board approval at a future meeting of a community benefits 
endowment. 

Attachments 
None 

107



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

108



 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 9.1 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by 
Lori Biondini, Business Planning and Finance Director,  
Richard Engel, Power Resources Director,  
Beth Burks, Executive Director 

Subject CCE Program Cost of Service and Rate Setting 

Summary 
The Board will receive a presentation from NewGen Strategies & Solutions (NewGen), the consultant 
hired to prepare cost of service rate design services, discussing their work so far.  

Staff proposes incorporating cost of service rate setting into upcoming strategic planning efforts and 
implementing an interim rate setting plan.  

Background 
In 2024, RCEA staff became concerned with issues around setting retail electricity rates stemming from 
new case law that established California Community Choice Aggregators (CCAs) as subject to 
Proposition 26 which provides that “any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind imposed by a local 
government” is a tax and subject to voter approval, unless it is payment for a “benefit, privilege, service, 
or product,” and the rates charged capture no more than the costs of the provided service.  An adequate 
rate study that establishes a factual basis of cost of service would support this exception, prompting staff 
to prepare a solicitation for such a study. A rate-setting approach that diverges from the current practice 
of closely following Pacific Gas & Electric Company rates may also better serve RCEA’s customers. 
 

In July 2025, RCEA hired NewGen to complete a cost-of-service analysis and rate design with the scope 
of services divided into five tasks. NewGen has completed the first three tasks, including determining 
RCEA’s revenue requirements and resulting cost of service to determine an equitable allocation of the 
revenue requirements to RCEA’s customer classes. NewGen will present these results and, along with 
staff, will discuss how to approach the final two tasks, rate strategy and design and an implementation 
plan.  
 
 Originally, the goal was to implement new rates based on the results of the study by July 1, 2026. 
However, upon further consideration RCEA staff is recommending that we first have a deeper 

109



 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

conversation with the Board and our community about transitioning to cost of service and what they 
would want to see as part of our rate structure.  
 
Questions for the Board to consider:  

• How might our procurement choices influence rates? Think of goals such as local power, 
carbon free energy, and no nuclear energy. How do these influence affordability and how do 
we balance competing goals?  

• How much funding to reserve for programs and capital improvements? Are these items high 
priorities for our community? If so, how do we balance affordability?  

• Should we plan for additional capital improvements/investments that benefit RCEA’s 
customers such as microgrids and electric vehicle charging infrastructure?  

• Should we have different products available at different price points in addition to our current 
base REpower and 100% renewable REpower+ options? To address affordability, should we 
consider introducing a lower cost rate option that is minimally compliant with State renewable 
energy policy? Should low-income customers be automatically enrolled in such a rate? If so, 
how do we address equity if the lower cost products have correspondingly lower renewable 
content in their portfolio?  

• How might customers value having the lowest bill possible vs having bill stability from month 
to month and year to year? 
 

To answer these and other questions staff suggests aligning the cost-of-service implementation plan our 
with efforts to update RCEA’s strategic plan (RePower Humboldt) in this coming fiscal year. This would 
allow the Board, Staff and community to address rate setting in a way that gives clarity to the options and 
trade-offs and update our energy priorities as part of this process.  
 
Holding off on implementing cost of service rates, means that RCEA must be prepared to take action if 
our current method of rate setting (a set 0.5% discount from PG&E rates) will result in diminished 
financial reserves below our financial reserve policy’s target level. 
 
Our financial Reserve Policy states: 
 

“RCEA shall maintain a minimum reserve target equal to 120 days of total operating expenses 
(including power supply expenses and are reduced for any discrete Board approved capital-spending 
allocations or externally funded customer programs), with a goal of increasing the reserve to maximum 
target of 180 days total operating expenses.” 
 
As an interim rate setting strategy staff recommends the following: 

1. Closely track RCEA’s Fund balance (all assets minus liabilities, including cash balances) and 
revenue and power cost projections. RCEA currently has approximately 210 days of unrestricted 
cash on hand which is beyond the high-end of the reserve target. At each monthly Risk 
Management Team meeting staff track and discuss revenue and power cost projections and 
potential impacts to days of cash on hand.   

2. Take action. Once projections show that unrestricted cash on hand will fall below the 180-day 
target within the coming 30 days, staff will bring a recommended rate increase to the Board at the 

110



 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

next scheduled Board meeting. The recommended rate increase will be sufficient to maintain 
cash reserves within the Reserve Policy targets.   

3. After Board approval, staff will make rate adjustments as soon as feasible.  

Equity Impacts 
Equity impacts will remain at the heart of the decision-making process for rate setting. We do not take 
increases to rates lightly and also want to ensure that cleaner energy choices are available and 
accessible to all members of our community.  

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
Considering cost of service and interim rate setting options along with spending priorities is consistent 
with the following sections of the RePower Humboldt Strategic Plan:   

4.3.1 Provide Community Choice Energy Program Customer Rate Savings. Provide customer rates 
that are affordable and price-competitive with customers’ other electric supply options.  

4.3.2 Retain and/or Redirect Rate-Payer Dollars Back into Humboldt County. Work to maximize the 
amount of ratepayer dollars retained in Humboldt County when taking into consideration local power 
procurement, electricity rates, local program spending, and allocations toward building the reserve fund 
for RCEA’s Community Choice Energy program.  

Financial Impact 
The recommendation to implement an interim rate setting strategy could result in a decrease of financial 
reserves from their current levels but would maintain financial reserves within the targets set by the 
Reserve Policy. The longer-term plan to introduce cost of service rates will ensure that rate setting is 
always done with RCEA’s Reserve Policy as a main consideration.  

Staff Recommendation 
Direct staff to incorporate cost of service rate design considerations into future strategic planning efforts, 
and direct staff to implement the interim rate setting plan requiring staff to bring rate recommendations to 
the Board once projections show that unrestricted cash on hand will fall below the 180-day target within 
the coming 30 days.  

Attachments 
None  

111



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

112



 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 9.2 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Jocelyn Gwynn, Senior Power Resources Manager 

Subject California Community Power’s Hydrostor Willow Rock Procurement 

Summary 
Staff are seeking approval for RCEA to sign on to California Community Power’s (CC Power) agreement 
with Hydrostor to procure a 50 MW portion of their Willow Rock Advanced Compressed Air Energy 
Storage project on behalf of six-member community choice aggregators (CCAs). The contract was 
procured from CC Power’s 2024 Request for Proposals to replace the Goal Line Long-Duration Storage 
(LDS) project, which was terminated by the developer when they abandoned the project. The Willow 
Rock A-CAES project would contribute toward each CC Power member’s California Public Utilities 
Commission (CPUC) Mid-Term Reliability procurement requirements, specifically for long-duration 
energy storage capacity. RCEA’s expected share of the project is 6.2% of the 50 MW, or 3.1 MW, with a 
maximum step-up obligation of an additional 25% of RCEA’s share, or 3.875 MW total. The step-up 
commitment is to insure against CC Power defaulting on the purchase agreement in the event another 
member defaults. 

Project Details 
The Willow Rock project is a 500 MW  advanced compressed air energy storage system that utilizes air 
compression technology to store energy. The project will be located in Rosamond, Kern County, CA and 
is expected to reach commercial operation by the end of 2030. 

To store potential energy,  advanced compressed air energy storage projects compress ambient 
atmospheric air which is stored in large underground caverns underneath a water reservoir. During the 
compression process, excess heat from the compression of air is captured through heat exchangers for 
later use during the discharge phase. To dispatch in response to certain market price signals, the above 
ground water reservoir is allowed to flood the cavern, driving the compressed air to the surface to spin 
turbines, generating electricity. Expansion and pressure reduction of the air as it is released through the 
turbines causes the air temperature to drop, which can reduce the process efficiency. The heat 
exchangers release the stored thermal energy to pre-heat the air, increasing efficiency without the use of 
natural gas burners used for this heating in other compressed air energy storage systems. 

The Willow Rock project has obtained full site control, signed an interconnection agreement with 
Southern California Edison, and received approval from the California Energy Commission for its 
environmental permit application. The project has also obtained full capacity deliverability status enabling 

113



 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

it to provide resource adequacy (RA) capacity and secured a Conditional Loan Guarantee from the 
Department of Energy, which is intended to support the project’s financing.  

Hydrostor intends to sign a project labor agreement ensuring prevailing wage and use of apprenticeship 
programs during construction of Willow Rock. Hydrostor expects the project will create between 275 and 
750 temporary jobs during the construction phase and about 40 permanent jobs during the operational 
phase. In addition, Hydrostor has dedicated funds to local community engagement programs in Kern 
County and intends to use domestic manufacturers where possible. 

Background 
About CC Power 
CC Power is a joint powers authority that formed in 2020 for the purpose of conducting joint procurement 
activities on behalf of its nine member CCAs. RCEA is currently participating in three other CC Power 
procurement contracts: Tumbleweed Long Duration Storage, Fish Lake Geothermal, and the Ormat 
Geothermal Portfolio. The Tumbleweed Long Duration Storage is under construction and on schedule to 
achieve commercial operation in June 2026, and will meet the remainder of RCEA’s Long Duration 
Storage procurement requirement under the CPUC’s Mid-Term Reliability mandate. 

Contract Structure 
As with prior CC Power joint procurements, there are three basic agreements to which CC Power is a 
party. The joint contracting structure limits the liability of participating members while providing the 
necessary security to finance the project's construction and operation. Summaries of each agreement 
are below. 

Resource Adequacy and TB4 (RA+TB4) Agreement: This is the purchase contract between CC Power 
and the seller, which requires the seller to manage the facility’s participation in the CAISO market while 
conveying 1) the RA attributes to CC Power participating members, and 2) a portion of the energy 
arbitrage settlement revenues, which are captured when the facility charges during low energy price 
hours and discharges during high price hours. The energy settlement revenues will come from the four 
most economic discharging hours net of the cost of their associated charging hours (TB4 = top and 
bottom four hours). RCEA’s share of the energy revenues will be proportional to its 6.2% entitlement 
share of the project. The RA+TB4 Agreement is administered by CC Power and governs project 
development, operational requirements, compensation, volume, term length, and other key terms. 

Buyer Liability Pass Through Agreement (BLPTA): This contract would be signed by CC Power, the 
seller, and RCEA, and mirrors the liability the CCA would hold if executing a purchase agreement with 
the seller directly. Through the BLPTA, each participating CCA guarantees CC Power’s payment 
obligations relative to their share of the project. In exchange, the seller agrees to release CC Power from 
liability and limit recovery of damages from each CCA proportional to their respective share of capacity in 
the purchase contract. In this case, CC Power and the seller would execute six BLPTAs, one with each 
participating CCA.  

Project Participation Share Agreement (PPSA): this contract is between CC Power and all participating 
CCAs and requires each CCA to fund its share of CC Power’s payment obligations to the seller under the 

114



 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

purchase contract. The PPSA also addresses how participating CCAs will (1) share the energy 
settlement revenues, (2) direct CC Power’s actions under the purchase agreement, and (3) step up their 
share of the project to cover any member default to avoid a CC Power default under the purchase 
agreement. 

Equity Impacts 
This procurement is mainly being conducted for grid reliability and compliance purposes, but the project 
labor agreement and apprenticeship programs that Hydrostor intends to administer may benefit 
underserved and low-income groups. Also, the addition of energy storage resources could reduce run 
time of thermal power plants, thereby decreasing air quality impacts to surrounding communities. 

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 
Energy storage projects support integration of intermittent renewable generation on the grid, and 
therefore contribute to the following RCEA Strategic Plan goals: 

• 4.1.2 Minimize Greenhouse Gas Emissions Associated with RCEA’s CCE Program. 
• 4.1.4 Maximize Renewable Energy Content of RCEA’s CCE Program. 

Financial Impact 
Current modeling performed by CC Power staff and consultants show that the Willow Rock contract has 
a positive net present value for CC Power members, meaning it is expected to cost less than the 
forecasted value it would provide in the form of RA capacity. The capacity payments under the purchase 
agreement will be offset by the energy settlement revenues under the TB4 structure. This procurement 
will be accounted for in RCEA’s budget starting in FY 2030-2031 when the Willow Rock project is 
expected to commence commercial operations. 

Staff Recommendation 
Approve Resolution 2026-3 Authorizing Participation in California Community Power’s Procurement of 
Hydrostor’s Willow Rock Advanced Compressed Air Energy Storage Project. 

Attachments 
1. Resolution 2026-3 
2. Willow Rock RA+TB4 Agreement (redacted) Buyer Liability Passthrough Agreement as Exhibit L1 
3. Willow Rock Project Participation Share Agreement2 

 
1 Willow Rock Resource Adequacy and TB4 Agreement - https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-
content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf  
2 Willow Rock Project Participation Share Agreement - https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-
content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf#page=120  

115

https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf#page=120
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf#page=120
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf#page=120
https://redwoodenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/850/2026/02/260226-Board-Mtg-Supplemental-Materials.pdf#page=120


 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

116



 
 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2026-3 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

OF THE REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY  
AUTHORIZING PARTICIPATION  

IN CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY POWER’S PROCUREMENT  
OF HYDROSTOR’S WILLOW ROCK ADVANCED COMPRESSED AIR  

ENERGY STORAGE PROJECT 
 
 
WHEREAS, in August 2024, California Community Power (“CC Power”) issued a Request for 
Proposals for Renewable Generation and Capacity Resources on behalf of RCEA and its other 
member CCAs (“RFP”); and  
 
WHEREAS, the Willow Rock Advanced Compressed Air Energy Storage project (“Project”) was 
submitted into CC Power’s RFP by GEM A-CAES LLC (“Seller”) and subsequently approved for 
shortlisting by the Board RFO subcommittee; and 
 
WHEREAS, Seller is a project company owned by Hydrostor; and 
 
WHEREAS, under the RA + TB4 Agreement (“Purchase Agreement”), Seller will provide CC Power 
participating members including RCEA with resource adequacy and a portion of the energy 
settlement revenues in exchange for a fixed price over the term, thereby generating value for 
RCEA’s power portfolio and contributing to RCEA’s compliance with state procurement mandates; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, under the Buyer Liability Pass Through Agreement (“BLPTA”), RCEA and the other 
participating members jointly assume liability for and guarantee CC Power’s obligations to Seller 
under the Purchase Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, under the Project Participation Share Agreement (“PPSA”), RCEA and other 
participating CCAs agree to terms associated with payment obligations, revenue sharing, 
entitlement share step-up, and governance structure of the Purchase Agreement. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Directors of the Redwood Coast Energy Authority resolves as 
follows:  
 
1. Redwood Coast Energy Authority’s participation in the CC Power Willow Rock procurement as 

set forth in the Purchase Agreement, attached hereto as Appendix A, is hereby approved.  

2. The RCEA Executive Director is authorized to execute the BLPTA and PPSA substantially in the 
form attached hereto as Exhibit L of Appendix A and Appendix B, respectively, on behalf of 
RCEA. 

3. The RCEA Executive Director, in consultation with legal counsel, is authorized to approve any 
needed future amendment to the Purchase Agreement, BLPTA or PPSA, so long as the term, 
volume, and price are not changed and the amendment does not fundamentally change the 
business terms of the Agreement or measurably increase risk exposure for RCEA. 

 
 

117



 
 2 

 
Adopted this 26th day of February 2026.  
 
 
 
_____________________________________         
Michael Gerace      Lori Taketa 
Chairperson of the Board of Directors    Clerk of the Board, RCEA 
 
 
 
 
 

CLERK’S CERTIFICATE 
 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2026-3 
passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Redwood Coast Energy Authority, County of 
Humboldt, State of California, held on the 26th day of February 2026, by the following vote: 
 
 

AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  

 
  
 
              
      Clerk of the Board, Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
         
 

 

118



 
 3 

 
Appendix A: Willow Rock RA+TB4 Agreement with 

Buyer Liability Pass Through Agreement as Exhibit L 
 

119



 
 4 

Appendix B: Willow Rock Project Participation Share Agreement 

120



 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

Staff Report 
Agenda Item # 9.3 

Information 
Agenda Date February 26, 2026 

To Board of Directors 

Prepared by Beth Burks, Executive Director & Brytann Busick, Community Strategies Manager 

Subject Humboldt Bay Harbor District Waterfront Facility Improvement Program Grant 
Contracting Opportunity 

Background 
RCEA Involvement in Offshore Wind 

Since 2017, RCEA has been a leader in exploring offshore wind as a renewable resource that could play 
a key role in meeting RCEA and state goals for renewable and carbon-free power. During the March 
2025 Board of Directors meeting, directors indicated support for continued RCEA's involvement in 
offshore wind development, specifically supporting Humboldt port development and joint public outreach.  

Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation, and Conservation District- Waterfront Facility Improvement 
Program Grant: California Energy Commission 

The Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District (Harbor District) is developing the 
Humboldt Bay Offshore Wind Heavy Lift Marine Terminal Project to support west coast offshore wind 
energy development. Most Project components are currently at a 15% design level, and there is existing 
federal funding that will advance these components to 30% design. To further advance this design effort, 
the Harbor District has been awarded funding from the California Energy Commission (CEC) for the 
Humboldt Bay Offshore Wind Heavy Lift Marine Terminal - Advanced Design and Public Engagement 
Project.  This funding  includes tasks that will (1) support the Terminal Project’s advanced design, (2) 
conduct community, stakeholder and Tribal engagement, and (3) conduct supplemental environmental 
studies that are critical to permit and complete California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
documentation for the Terminal Project. 

The overall goal of the project is to advance the design of the Terminal Project, which will serve as a key 
staging and vertical integration site for wind turbine generators. Specific objectives include: 

• Conduct community engagement to maximize the Terminal Project’s community benefits and 
avoid or minimize impacts. 

• Conduct special studies that have been recommended by agencies, stakeholders and tribes 
and are required for final development of the Terminal Project. 

• Advance Terminal Project design towards final design and ultimately construction.  

Redwood Coast Energy Authority leadership was approached by the Harbor District about the 

121



 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

opportunity to contract to perform outreach and community engagement services that are part of the 
Humboldt Bay Offshore Wind Heavy Lift Marine Terminal - Advanced Design and Public Engagement 
Project. These services focus on conducting outreach, facilitating experiential education tours and focus 
groups, and distributing stipends to participants of community advisory meetings. See attached DRAFT 
Scope of Work for more details about the proposed RCEA scope.    

RCEA Staff drafted the attached scope of work in collaboration with the Harbor District and are now 
seeking Board approval to enter into a subrecipient agreement. The scope of work is expected to start in 
March 2026 and will be completed by August 1, 2027.  

Summary  
RCEA staff participated in preliminary conversations with the Harbor District about the scope of this task 
and found mission-aligned opportunities to educate the community about the development of the Heavy 
Lift Marine Terminal project and its relation to the development of local offshore wind. Participating as a 
subrecipient in this grant will allow RCEA to provide and amplify access to reliable information about the 
Heavy Lift Marine Terminal Project and its relation to offshore wind and to advocate for honest, 
meaningful community-based communications.  
 
The Harbor District is working on adding the required CEC flow-down provisions to the agreement 
template. Pending Board approval of RCEA participation as a his subrecipient agreement, staff will 
coordinate with Harbor District staff to populate the professional services agreement template (attached 
here) with the final scope of work for a budget of $550,000.  
 

Equity Impacts 
This scope of work will allow RCEA to engage the broader Humboldt County community in the Waterfront 
Facility Improvement Program and consideration of local offshore wind via representative research, 
including a countywide survey and focus groups, Madaket boat tours, and stipends to support time and 
effort related to advisory committee participation. This will allow for a greater and more representative 
participation and feedback.  

Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan 

RCEA has several strategic goals and strategies (See sections 4.1.9 Power Resources: Offshore Wind) 
related to the development of offshore wind. These policies generally focus on local offshore wind 
development. Additionally, goal 4.1.5: Ensure Diversity in Local Sources, supports the development of a 
diverse, locally produced renewable electricity supply that is price-competitive in the California power 
market and that can be generated in a way that minimizes adverse environmental and community 
impacts. The proposed scope supports the development of the port as a key resource that will help 
enable the development of local offshore wind resources. 

Financial Impact 

122



 
 

Page 3 of 3 
 

This $550,000 grant subrecipient agreement includes approximately $115,000 for Community Strategies 
and Finance staff to perform the services. The remaining grant funds will be pass through funds used to 
distribute stipends for community meeting participation, conduct outreach, and facilitate focus groups and 
experiential education tours. This grant subrecipient agreement does not require any match contribution, 
so the total agreement budget will cover all expenses associated with RCEA’s scope of work. Upon 
Board approval of this subrecipient agreement, the project funds will be added to the FY 25-26 mid-year 
budget adjustments and the FY 26-27 budget. 

Staff Recommendation 
Approve entering into a grant subrecipient agreement with the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreational and 
Conservation District to perform outreach and community engagement services for the Waterfront 
Facility Improvement Program grant and authorize the Executive Director to execute the Agreement once 
finalized and any associated documents necessary to secure the grant subaward. 

Attachments 
1. DRAFT RCEA Scope of Work, Waterfront Facility Improvement Program Grant: California Energy 

Commission 

2. HBHD Professional Services Agreement Template 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

123



 
 

This page 
intentionally 

left blank. 

124



EXHIBIT A 
Waterfront Facility Improvement Program Grant: California Energy Commission 

Scope of Work – Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

 

November 2025  1 of 4 Corresponding to CEC Grant OSW-25-005 
Offshore Wind Energy Waterfront 

 Facility Improvement Program 

OVERVIEW 
The following scope of work is for the Humboldt Bay Harbor District’s Waterfront Facility Improvement Program 
grant issued to the District by the California Energy Commission (CEC), with Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
(RCEA) as a vendor. The scope below was developed by RCEA (Consultant) in collaboration with the District.  
The scope below is based on the Grant Agreement scope between the District and the CEC.  As indicated in 
several locations below, Consultant has no budget and no scope/responsibilities for some of the tasks.  However, 
this contract scope between the District and Consultant retains those tasks in order to retain continuity between 
this agreement (Consultant Contract) and the agreement between the District and the CEC (Grant Agreement). 
The District seeks to retain identical task numbering between the two agreements to maximize the efficiency and 
speed of invoicing, billing, and reimbursements.   
 
 
SCOPE OF WORK 
 
I. TASK 1 GENERAL PROJECT TASKS 
Consultant has no budget or scope for this task, nor any subtasks under it. The District will be working with a 
separate Consultant on this task.  
 
II. TASK 2 ENGAGEMENT 
Consultant has no budget or scope for this task, nor any subtasks under it. The District will be working with a 
separate Consultant on this task. 

 
III. TASK 3 TRIBAL PARTICIPATION 
Consultant has no budget or scope for this task, nor any subtasks under it. The District will be working with a 
separate Consultant on this task. 

 
IV. TASK 4 COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION 

Subtask 4.1 Community Based Organization Participation 
The goal of this task is for the Consultant to facilitate the distribution of various forms of stipends to stakeholders 
and members of the general public. These may include direct payments for participation in advisory committee 
meetings, and tickets to guided boat tours that provide experiential education related to the Heavy Lift Marine 
Terminal project and its relationship to offshore wind. Consultant will be responsible for all administration of 
stipends, including establishing a fair selection process for determining who receives stipends, distributing the 
various forms of stipends, tracking issuance/receipt of stipends, and all related accounting and legal compliance 
associated with the distribution of stipends.   
 
Consultant Shall: 

1. Project kickoff 
a. Kickoff meeting with District staff 
b. Early in the project timeline, attend a regularly scheduled Board of Commissioners meeting to 

present the Consultant’s role, objectives, and expected outcomes.   
2. Document Contributions 

Contribute to the content of four distinct documents that are associated with community engagement.  
Consultant will serve as the primary author for the sections of the documents that focus primarily on the 
distribution of stipends. Consultant will also provide recommended edits and comments on other sections 

125



EXHIBIT A 
Waterfront Facility Improvement Program Grant: California Energy Commission 

Scope of Work – Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

 

November 2025  2 of 4 Corresponding to CEC Grant OSW-25-005 
Offshore Wind Energy Waterfront 

 Facility Improvement Program 

of the documents. Consultant will participate in up to two one-hour meetings for each document. The 
relevant community-related documents are: 

a. 1 – Community Engagement Commitments and Strategies for The Humboldt Bay Offshore Wind 
Heavy Lift Marine Terminal Project (a new section regarding stipends needs to be added to an 
existing document). 

b. 2 – Community Participation Plan – to be produced as part of this overall project, primarily 
authored by others under Task 2. Consultant will be the primary author for the Stipends chapter.   

c. 3 – Stakeholder Engagement Strategy – to be produced as part of this overall project, primarily 
authored by others under Task 2. Consultant will be the primary author for the Stipends chapter.   

d. 4 – Community Participation Report (documentation of community participation) – to be 
produced as part of this overall project, primarily authored by others under Task 2. This final 
summary document will outline the community participation processes that were implemented 
and community participation outcomes, including stipend-related activities. Consultant will be 
the primary author for the Stipends chapter.   

3. Stipend Selection & Distribution Plan  
a. Research and develop the initial “Stipend Selection and Distribution Plan,” outlining the types of 

stipends to be used and how stipends will be distributed. The plan must clearly establish a fair 
selection process for determining who receives stipends for involvement. The plan must also 
disclose planned administrative procedures, such as record-keeping, accounting, and legal 
compliance.  

b. Submit the initial stipend plan to The District for approval. The Plan and its associated budget 
may be modified as needed during the lifetime of the project, pending District approval.   

4. Stipend Distribution & Outreach 
Implement those portions of the above documents associated with stipends, including advertisement and 
distribution. This may include: 

a. Direct outreach to the general public to distribute stipends and provide basic education about 
the project. Extra effort will be invested in identifying and engaging with relevant under-
resourced communities. The consultant will explore contracting with a third-party vendor to 
conduct representative research via surveys, listening sessions, or focus groups to better 
understand baseline knowledge, perceptions, concerns, and attributes, among other learnings, 
associated with the Humboldt Bay Offshore Wind Heavy Lift Marine Terminal Project. Such 
insights will inform information shared on Madaket Cruises and in all other public outreach 
related to this project.  

i. Other opportunities for direct outreach to the public may include: 
1. Tabling at public events 
2. Speaking before elected bodies (such as City Council) 
3. Radio, print, and digital advertising 
4. Other proposed means, pending District approval. 

b. Distributing various forms of stipends, such as: 
i. Direct cash payments and/or gift cards for participation in advisory committee meetings 

to compensate committee members for their time, with potential awarding of “Super 
Stipends.” 

ii. Tickets to guided boat tours for community members, student groups, or community-
based organizations that provide experiential education related to the Heavy Lift Marine 
Terminal project and its relationship to offshore wind.  

126



EXHIBIT A 
Waterfront Facility Improvement Program Grant: California Energy Commission 

Scope of Work – Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

 

November 2025  3 of 4 Corresponding to CEC Grant OSW-25-005 
Offshore Wind Energy Waterfront 

 Facility Improvement Program 

iii. Covering tuition for education and/or training opportunities, such as “Climate Stewards 
Offshore Wind Ambassador Training” or “UMass Offshore Wind Professional Certificate 
– Online”. 

iv. Compensation to speakers, panelists, or other expert guests who travel to Humboldt Bay 
to assist with community engagement/education.   

v. Formal recognition, including certificates, awards, or public acknowledgment for 
contributions. 

vi. Covering childcare or meals to encourage/facilitate participation. 
vii. Micro-grants to partner agencies or other relevant organizations to support and facilitate 

community engagement. 
viii. Other forms of stipends as determined by the Consultant and approved by the District.     

5. Stipend Administration 
a. Documenting the fair selection process used to determine stipend recipients; 
b. Documentation and record-keeping associated with the distribution of all forms of stipends, 

including issuance, receipts, accounting, legal compliance, etc. 
6. Community Benefits Evaluation 

Assist the District with evaluating options associated with Community Benefits: 
a. Participate in up to three meetings with the District regarding Community Benefits.   
b. Contribute to a Technical Memo Describing Strategies for Community Benefits. 

7. Project close-out 
a. Project Close-out Brief Report 
b. Attend a regularly scheduled Board of Commissioners meeting to present outcomes.   

   
Consultant Deliverables: 

• Introductory presentation to District Board (4.1-1b) 
• Draft and final “Stipends” sections (chapters) of the following three documents that will be primarily 

authored by others: 
o Community Engagement Commitments and Strategies for The Humboldt Bay Offshore Wind 

Heavy Lift Marine Terminal Project (4.1-2a) 
o Community Participation Plan (4.1-2b) 
o Stakeholder Engagement Strategy (4.1-2c) 
o Community Participation Report (4.1-2d) 

• Recommended edits and comments on the other (non-stipend-related) sections of each of the four 
documents above. 

• Draft and final “Stipend Selection and Distribution Plan.” (4.1-3b) 
• Receipts, accounting, and/or other form(s) of record keeping that clearly document how stipends have 

been distributed.  (4.1-5a; 4.1-5b) 
• Contribution to a Technical Memo Describing Strategies for Community Benefits (document will be 

primarily authored by others). (4.1-6b) 
• Conclusion presentation to District Board.   

 
 

V. TASK 5 STUDIES AND PLANNING 
Consultant has no budget or scope for this task, nor any subtasks under it. The District will be working with a 
separate Consultant on this task. 
 
VI. TASK 6 DESIGN AND MITIGATION PLANNING 

127



EXHIBIT A 
Waterfront Facility Improvement Program Grant: California Energy Commission 

Scope of Work – Redwood Coast Energy Authority 
Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District 

 

November 2025  4 of 4 Corresponding to CEC Grant OSW-25-005 
Offshore Wind Energy Waterfront 

 Facility Improvement Program 

Consultant has no budget or scope for this task, nor any subtasks under it. The District will be working with a 
separate Consultant on this task. 
 
VII. PROJECT SCHEDULE 

The above scope of work shall be completed by August 1, 2027.  
 
 
 

128



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 1 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

Purchase Order No.__________________________ 

 

HUMBOLDT BAY HARBOR, RECREATION AND CONSERVATION DISTRICT  

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH  

___________________________ FOR   

___________________________________ 

 

This Agreement is made on __________________, between the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and 

Conservation District, a Special District of the State of California (referred to as "District"), and 

__________________, a ____________________ (referred to as “Consultant”). 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the District desires professional services to assist in certain work described briefly as 

__________________________________________________ referred to herein as the “Services” or “Project”.  

 

WHEREAS, Consultant has demonstrated competence, experience and qualifications adequate to 

perform said professional Services, and the District desires to retain Consultant for such Services. 

 

1. Scope of Services:  Consultant agrees to perform services as set out in Exhibit A, “Scope of Work and 

Compensation” attached hereto and incorporated herein, and duly authorized by issuance of Purchase Order 

No. set out above.  No purchase orders are issued without a valid Agreement.  

 

2. Standards of Performance: 

A.  Standard of Care. The standard of care for all professional services performed or furnished by Consultant 

under this Agreement will be the care and skill ordinarily used by members of the subject profession 

practicing under similar circumstances at the same time and in the same locality.  

B. Accuracy of Services. District shall not be responsible for discovering deficiencies in the technical accuracy 

of Consultant’s Services. Consultant shall correct any such deficiencies in technical accuracy without 

additional compensation except to the extent such corrective action is directly attributable to deficiencies in 

District-furnished information. However, District shall be responsible for, and Consultant may rely upon, 

the accuracy and completeness of all requirements, programs, instructions, reports, data, and other 

information furnished by District to Consultant pursuant to this Agreement. Consultant may use such 

requirements, programs, instructions, reports, data, and information in performing or furnishing services 

under this Agreement. 

C. Special Conditions.  Consultant shall comply with all additional terms set forth in Exhibit B “Special 

Conditions,” if any are so required:  ______  Special Conditions; ________ No Special Conditions. 

3. Compensation for Services, Payment:   

A.  Compensation. District shall pay Consultant as set forth in Exhibit A, not to exceed $_________. 

B. Preparation and Submittal of Invoices. Consultant shall prepare and submit its invoices to District no 

more than once per month and no later than the 15th day of each month.   

C. Payments. All reasonable efforts will be made by District to pay undisputed invoices within 30 days of 

receipt.   If District contests an invoice, District may withhold that portion so contested and pay the 

undisputed portion.  

129



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 2 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

D. Withholding Of Payment. The District may withhold all or any portion of the funds provided for by this 

Agreement in the event that the Consultant has materially violated, or threatens to materially violate, any 

term, provision, or condition of this Agreement; or the Consultant fails to maintain reasonable progress 

toward completion of the Services or any component thereof. 

4. Commencement, Completion:   

A. Commencement. Services of Consultant shall commence upon full execution of this Agreement by all 

parties, and the Agreement shall remain in full force until _________________.  No work, services, 

material or equipment shall be performed or furnished under this Agreement until the District has 

delivered a fully executed Agreement to the Consultant.  A signed Agreement is considered notice to 

proceed.  

B. Time for Completion. Consultant shall complete Services as set forth in Exhibit A. If District authorizes 

changes in the scope, extent, or character of the Services, then the time for completion of Consultant’s 

services, and the rates and amounts of Consultant’s compensation, shall be adjusted equitably. If 

Consultant fails, through its own fault, to complete the performance required in this Agreement within the 

time set forth,  then District shall be entitled to the recovery of proximate damages resulting from such 

failure.  

C. Suspension and Termination. 

1) Suspension. At any time and for any reason, the District may temporarily suspend the Services upon 

five days’ written notice to Consultant. In such event, Consultant shall perform no additional Services 

under this Agreement until the District has provided written notice to Consultant to re-commence 

Services. 

2) Termination. The obligation to provide Services under this Agreement may be terminated for cause by 

either party upon 30 days written notice in the event of substantial failure by the other party to perform 

in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating party. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, this Agreement will not terminate under this paragraph if the party receiving such notice 

begins, within seven days of receipt of such notice, to correct its substantial failure to perform and 

proceeds diligently to cure such failure within no more than 30 days of receipt thereof; provided, 

however, that if and to the extent such substantial failure cannot be reasonably cured within such 30 day 

period, and if such party has diligently attempted to cure the same and thereafter continues diligently to 

cure the same, then the cure period provided for herein shall extend up to, but in no case more than, 60 

days after the date of receipt of the notice. 

3) Project Suspension or Abandonment. The District may for any reason and at any time suspend 

indefinitely the Services and/or abandon the Project, or any part thereof, upon written notice to 

Consultant.  

D. Payments Upon Termination. In the event of any termination under this Section 4, Consultant will be 

entitled to invoice the District and to receive payment for all acceptable services performed or furnished and 

all reimbursable expenses incurred through the effective date of termination. 

E. Delivery of Project Materials to District. Prior to the effective date of termination, the Consultant will 

deliver to District all data and originals of all plans, drawings, specifications, reports, computer programs, 

operating manuals, notes, and other written or graphic work and other materials for which District has 

compensated Consultant, and all such material shall become the property of the District upon delivery. 

 

130



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 3 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

5. Independent Contractor: Consultant, in performing Services, shall act as an independent contractor and shall 

have control of his work and the manner in which it is performed.  He/she shall be free to contract for similar 

services to be performed for others while under contract with the District.  Consultant is not to be considered 

an agent or employee of the District.  Consultant agrees to furnish at his/her own expense all tools, 

equipment, services, labor and materials necessary to complete all requirements of this Agreement.   

 

6. Insurance:  Consultant shall maintain insurance throughout the duration of this Agreement, and provide 

Certificates of Insurance as specified below.  All insurance carriers shall be admitted in the state of California 

and with an A.M. Best’s rating of A- or better and a minimum financial size VII.   

 

A.  Commercial General Liability (CGL): Insurance Services Office Form CG 00 01 covering CGL on an 

“occurrence” basis, including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily injury and 

personal & advertising injury with limits no less than $2,000,000 per occurrence. If a general aggregate 

limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this project/location (ISO CG 25 

03 05 09 or 25 04 05 09) or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit. 

 

B.  Automobile Liability: ISO Form Number CA 00 01 covering any auto (Code 1), or if Contractor has no 

owned autos, covering hired, (Code 8) and non-owned autos (Code 9), with limit no less than $1,000,000 

per accident for bodily injury and property damage. 

 

C.  Workers’ Compensation: as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, and Employer’s 

Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury or disease. 

 

D. Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions): Insurance appropriate to the Contractor’s profession, with 

limit no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence or claim, $2,000,000 aggregate. (If applicable – see footnote 

next page) If the contractor maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown 

above, the Entity requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or higher limits maintained by 

the contractor. 

 

F.  General Conditions Pertaining to Insurance:   

 

1) Consultant shall have its insurer endorse the third party general liability coverage to include as 

additional insureds the District, its officials, employees, volunteers and agents, using standard ISO 

endorsement CG 20 10. The additional insured coverage under Consultant’s policy shall be provided 

on a primary, non-contributing basis in relation to any other insurance or self- insurance available to 

the District. Consultant’s policy shall not seek contribution from the District’s insurance or self-

insurance and shall be at least as broad as ISO form CG 20 01 04 13. 

 

2) It is a requirement under this Agreement that any available insurance proceeds broader than or in 

excess of the specified minimum insurance coverage and/or limits required in this Section 8 shall be 

available to the District as an additional insured. Furthermore, the requirements for coverage and 

limits shall be (1) the minimum coverage and limits specified in this Agreement, or (2) the broader 

coverage and maximum limits of coverage of any insurance policy or proceeds available to the named 

insured, whichever is greater. 

 

3) All self-insured retentions (SIR) must be disclosed to the District for approval and shall not reduce 

the limits of liability. Policies containing any SIR shall provide or be endorsed to provide that the SIR 

may be satisfied by either the named insured or the District. 

 

4) The District reserves the right to obtain a full certified copy of any insurance policy and any 

endorsement. Failure to exercise this right shall not constitute a waiver of the District’s right. 

131



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 4 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

 

5) Certificates shall contain a statement that the policy will not be cancelled except after thirty (30) days 

prior written notice to the District. 

 

6) Consultant agrees to waive subrogation rights against the District regardless of the applicability of 

any insurance proceeds, and to require that all subcontractors and sub-subcontractors do likewise. 

 

7) Proof of compliance with these insurance requirements, consisting of certificates of insurance 

evidencing all required coverages and an additional insured endorsement to Consultant’s general 

liability policy, shall be delivered to the District at or prior to the execution of the Agreement. 

  

8) All coverage types and limits required are subject to approval, modification and additional 

requirements by the District, as the need arises.  Consultant shall not make any reductions in scope of 

coverage (e.g. elimination of contractual liability or reduction of discovery period) that may affect the 

District’s protection without the District’s prior written consent. 

 

9) The District reserves the right at any time during the term of the Agreement to change the amounts 

and types of insurance required by giving the Consultant ninety (90) days advance written notice of 

such change.  If such change results in substantial additional cost to the Consultant, the District will 

negotiate additional compensation proportional to the increased benefit to the District. 

 

10) In the event Consultant fails to obtain or maintain completed operations coverage as required by this 

Agreement, the District at its sole discretion may purchase the coverage required and the cost will be 

paid by Consultant. 

 

7. Indemnity:  When the law establishes a professional standard of care for Consultant’s services, to the fullest 

extent permitted by law, Consultant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless District and any and all of its 

boards (including, boards, commissions, committees and task forces), officials, employees and agents 

(collectively, “Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all losses, liabilities, damages, costs and 

expenses, including attorney’s fees and costs to the extent same are caused in whole or in part by any 

negligent or wrongful act, error or omission of Consultant, its officers, agents, employees or sub-contractors 

or any entity or individual for which Consultant shall bear legal liability in the performance of professional 

services under this Agreement. 

 

Other than in the performance of professional services and to the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant 

shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless District, and any all of the Indemnified Parties from and against 

any liability (including liability for claims, suits, actions, arbitration proceedings, administrative proceedings, 

regulatory proceedings, losses, expenses or costs of any kind, whether actual, alleged or threatened, including 

attorneys fees and costs, court costs, interest, defense costs, and expert witness fees), where the same arise out 

of, are a consequence of, or are in any way attributable to, in whole or in part, the performance of this 

Agreement by Consultant or by any individual or entity for which Consultant is legally liable, including but 

not limited to officers, agents, employees or sub-contractors of Consultant. 

 

Consultant’s responsibility for defense and indemnity obligations shall survive the termination or completion 

of this Agreement for the full period of time allowed by law. 

 

The defense and indemnification obligations of the Agreement are undertaken in addition to, and shall not in 

any way be limited by, the insurance obligations contained in this Agreement. 

  
 

8. Subcontracting:  No services covered by the Agreement shall be subcontracted without the prior written 

132



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 5 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

consent of the District.  In the event subcontracting is approved, the following shall apply: 

 

A. Consultant shall include in all subcontracts and require of all subcontractors all insurance and indemnity 

requirements and provisions of the Agreement that are applicable to any subcontractor’s scope of work. 

Subcontractor’s responsibility for defense and indemnity obligations shall survive the termination or 

completion of this Agreement for the full period of time allowed by law. 

  

B. Each subcontractor shall be obligated to Consultant and the District in the same manner and to the same 

extent as Consultant is obligated to the District under this Agreement. If hiring a sub-subcontractor to 

perform any Services, the subcontractor shall include in the sub-subcontract all provisions of this 

Agreement including all insurance and indemnity provisions that are applicable to said sub-

subcontractor’s scope of work.  

 

C. Consultant shall furnish a copy of the Agreement’s insurance and indemnity provisions to any 

subcontractor upon request. Upon request from the District, Consultant shall provide insurance 

certificates and endorsements of its subcontractors. 

 

9. Document Submission and Title to Documents: Consultant agrees that all data, plans, drawings, 

specifications, reports, computer programs, operating manuals, notes, and other written or graphic work 

produced in the performance of this Agreement is considered work made for hire and shall be the property of 

the District upon delivery.  District may disclose, disseminate and use in whole or in part, any final form data 

and information received, collected, and developed under this Agreement. 

 

10. Permits and Licenses:  Prior to execution of the Agreement, the Consultant shall obtain and maintain 

throughout the Agreement period all licenses and permits required by law including but not limited to a valid 

business license from the agency having jurisdiction over the area where work is to be performed, and to 

submit a copy of all such licenses and permits to the District prior to performing any work. 

 

11. Modification, Amendment: No amendment or variation of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid unless 

made in writing, signed by the parties and approved as required. No oral understanding or Agreement not 

incorporated in the Agreement is binding on any of the parties.  

 

12. Assignment. This Agreement is not assignable by the Consultant, either in whole or in part. 

 

13. Audit of Records. Consultant shall maintain complete and accurate records of all payrolls, expenditures, 

disbursements and other cost items charged to the District or establishing the basis for an invoice, for a 

minimum of four years from the date of final payment to Consultant.  All such records shall be clearly 

identifiable.  Consultant shall allow District representatives to inspect, examine, copy and audit such records 

during regular business hours upon 24 hours’ notice. 

 

14. Designated Representatives. With the execution of this Agreement, Consultant and District shall designate 

specific individuals to act as Consultant’s and District’s representatives with respect to the services to be 

performed or furnished by Consultant and responsibilities of District under this Agreement. Such individuals 

shall have authority to transmit instructions, receive information, and implement the contract on behalf of 

each respective party. 

 

15. Governing Law:  This Agreement and performance hereunder and all suits and special proceedings shall be 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California.  In any action or proceeding that may be 

brought from or connected in anyway to this Agreement, the laws of the State of California shall be applicable 

and shall govern to the exclusion of the law any other forum.  Venue shall be fixed in Humboldt County.   

 

133



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 6 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

16. Disputes. District and Consultant agree to negotiate all disputes between them in good faith for a period of 30 

days from the date of notice prior to invoking any procedures of this Agreement, or exercising their rights 

under law. Prior to court action, the parties agree to pursue mediation as a means to settle any dispute. 

 

17. Entire Agreement. This Agreement together with the exhibits identified below constitutes the entire 

Agreement between District and Consultant for the Services and supersedes all prior written or oral 

understandings. 

 

18. Nondiscrimination. During the performance of this Agreement, Consultant and its subcontractors shall not 

unlawfully discriminate against, harass, or allow harassment against any employee or applicant for 

employment because of sex, race, religion, color, national origin, ancestry, disability, sexual orientation, 

medical condition, marital status, age (over 40), or denial of family-care leave, medical-care leave, or 

pregnancy-disability leave.  Consultant and its subcontractors shall ensure that the evaluation and treatment of 

their employees and applicants for employment are free of such discrimination and harassment. 

 

19. Notices. Any notice required under this Agreement will be in writing, addressed to the appropriate party at its 

address on the signature page and given personally, by facsimile, by registered or certified mail postage 

prepaid, or by a commercial courier service. All notices shall be effective upon the date of receipt. 

 

20. Severability. Any provision or part of the Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under any laws or 

regulations shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon 

District and Consultant, who agree that the Agreement shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or 

part thereof with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention 

of the stricken provision. 

 

21. Survival. All express representations, waivers, indemnifications, and limitations of liability included in this 

Agreement will survive its completion or termination for any reason. 

 

22. Timeliness. Time is of the essence in this Agreement.  Consultant shall proceed with and complete the 

Services in an expeditious manner. 

 

23. Waiver. Neither the acceptance of Consultant’s work nor the payment thereof shall constitute a waiver of any 

provisions of this Agreement. A waiver of any breach shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor shall 

it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Agreement. 

 

 

24. Exhibits Included.  The following Exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated into this Agreement: 

 

Exhibit A:  Scope of Work and Compensation 

Exhibit B: Special Conditions 

  

In the event of conflict between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and those within any Exhibit 

hereto, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prevail over any Exhibit hereto. 

 

25. Attorney’s Fees:  Should any litigation or arbitration be commenced between the parties hereto concerning 

this Agreement, or the rights and duties of any party in relation thereto, the party prevailing in such litigation 

or arbitration shall be entitled, in addition to such other relief as may be granted, to a reasonable sum as and 

for attorney’s fees in such litigation or arbitration. 

 

134



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 7 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the person executing this Agreement on behalf of Consultant warrants and 

represents that he/she has the authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of Consultant and has the authority to 

bind Consultant to the performance of its obligations hereunder.  
 

 

 

DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVES: 

 

DISTRICT:        CONSULTANT: 

 

Name:  _______________________________  Name:  _______________________________ 

       

Title:    _______________________________  Title:    _______________________________ 

  

 Phone: _______________________________                Phone: _______________________________ 

 

Email:________________________________   Email:________________________________ 

 

 

 

(Signatures on following page) 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

135



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 8 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

Executed in Eureka, California on ____________________________________________________(date) 

 

DISTRICT:      

                  

By: ___________________________________ 

 

Signature:_______________________________ 

   

Executive Director    

        

Date: __________________________________ 

       

                                 

      

  

 

 

 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSULTANT: 

 

Firm Name:_____________________________ 

 

By:____________________________________          
 

Signature:_______________________________  
 

Title: __________________________________ 

 

Date: __________________________________  

 

Address: _______________________________  

 

_______________________________________ 

 

_______________________________________ 

 

Email: _________________________________ 

 

State License #:   _________________________ 

 

Employer Tax ID#: _______________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

136



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 9 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK AND COMPENSATION 

 

 
 

137



 

____________________________________ 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT                                                                                                            Page 10 of 10 
Template: 10-30-18 

 

EXHIBIT B 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

  
  
 
 

138


	1.0 - 260226 Agenda
	Meeting Information
	Meeting Reports and Comments
	How to Participate
	Accessibility

	Open Session (Call to Order)
	1. Roll Call | Remote Director Participation
	1.1. Brown Act Teleconference Participation Rules

	2. Ceremonial Item
	2.1. Proclamation Honoring 15 Years of Dedicated Service by Humboldt Bay Municipal Water District Director Sheri Woo

	3. Reports from Member Entities
	4. Oral & Written Communications
	5. Staff Reports
	5.1. Executive Directors’ Report

	6. Consent Calendar
	7. Items Removed from Consent Calendar
	8. Old Business
	8.1. Sandrini Battery Storage Community Benefits Fund

	9. New Business
	9.1. Rate Adjustment Cost of Service Rate Design Study Update and Rate Adjustment Consideration
	9.2. California Community Power’s Hydrostor Willow Rock Energy Storage Service Agreement
	9.3. Harbor District Waterfront Facility Improvement Program Grant Contracting Opportunity

	10. Future Agenda Items
	11. Adjournment

	Next Regular Meeting

	1.1 - 1 Teleconference Participation Rules1
	Information
	Background
	Summary
	Staff Recommendation
	Required Distribution Information
	The Revised Ralph M. Brown Act
	Redwood Coast Energy Authority List of Physical Meeting Locations


	5.1 - 1 Executive Director Report1
	Information
	Summary
	RCEA Updates
	CADEMO Offshore Wind Project Roundtable Participation
	Call Log Summary
	Community Activity Summary
	Supporting our Community Program Marketing Initiative
	Upcoming Conferences


	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	5.1 - 2 February 2026 BOD Report1
	6.1 - 260122 Board Mtg Draft Minutes
	Attendance
	Present
	None Absent
	Staff and Others Present

	Open Session
	Board Appointments
	1.
	2.
	2.1. Election of Officers and Community Advisory Committee Liaison Appointments
	2.2. Board Finance Committee Member Assignment

	Reports from Member Entities
	Oral & Written Communications
	Consent Calendar
	3.
	4.
	5.
	5.2. Approve Disbursement Reports for October and November 2025, and Financial Reports for this Fiscal Year Through November 2025.
	5.3. Receive Federal Activity Report.
	5.4. Approve the 2026 RCEA Board of Directors Meeting Calendar.
	5.5. Provide Suggestions for This and Future Policy Platform Updates, and  Accept 2026 RCEA Policy Platform.

	Staff Reports
	6.
	7.


	Begin Community Choice Energy (CCE) Business
	CCE Business Consent Calendar
	8.

	Old CCE Business
	9.
	10.
	10.1. Power Charge Indifference Adjustment Update (Information only)
	10.2. Energy Risk Management Semi-Annual Report


	End of CCE Business | Resume RCEA General Business
	Old Business
	11.
	12.
	12.1. Community Advisory Committee (CAC) Member Appointments and Recruitment
	New Business
	13.
	13.1. Presentation on Northern Rural Energy Network (NREN) 2028-31 Business Plan
	13.2. Baker Tilly Engagement for Redwood Coast Airport Microgrid and Electric Vehicle Charging Station Tax Credits
	13.3. PG&E Local Government Partnership Contract to Provide Energy Efficiency Services Change Order
	13.4. Discuss Regional Climate Action Plan Implementation

	Future Agenda Items
	Closed Session
	14.
	15.
	15.1. Real Property Negotiations Pursuant to Government Code § 54956.8 in re: APN 001-135-007:   RCEA negotiator: Executive Director; Owner’s negotiating party: Wells Commercial: Under  negotiation: price and terms.
	15.2. Conference with Legal Counsel: Deciding whether to initiate litigation, pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4).
	15.3. Public Employee Performance Evaluation, pursuant to Government Code § 54957: Executive Director.
	15.4. Conference with Labor Negotiator, pursuant to Government Code § 54956.7. RCEA designated representative, Board Chair; Unrepresented employee, Executive Director.



	6.2 - 1 Financial Reports Staff Report
	Information
	Summary
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	6.2 - 2 Dec 2025 Disbursements
	6.2 - 3 Dec 2025 P&L Budget v Actual
	6.2 - 4 Dec 2025 Balance Sheet
	6.3 - 1 Monthly Federal Report - February
	Information
	Summary
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	6.3 - 2 LEAN Fed Report Att - February1
	Summary
	LEAN Federal Advocacy Highlights
	Congressional Actions
	Administrative Actions
	Judicial Actions
	Funding Opportunities

	6.4 - 1 Exec Dir Contract Renewal Amend No.1
	6.4 - 2 Amend No 1 Employ Agmt E. Burks
	Approved as to form:

	6.5 - 1 633 3rd St Lease
	Information
	Summary
	Equity Impacts
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	6.5 - 2 Amendment_633 3rd Street_Redacted
	6.6 - 1 Records Retention Policy Update
	Information
	Background
	Summary
	Equity Impacts
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	6.6 - 2 Records Resolution 2026-2
	RESOLUTION NO. 2026-2
	A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	OF THE REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY

	6.6 - 3 Records Retention Policy
	REDWOOD COAST ENERGY AUTHORITY RECORDS RETENTION POLICY
	1. Purpose
	2. Statement of Policy
	3. Records Retention and Disposition
	a. Retention
	b. Disposition.
	c. Exceptions.



	6.6 - 4 Records Retention Schedule
	6.7 - Racial Justice Plan Progress Report
	Information
	Background
	Summary
	Internal Operations
	1. Equity actions in job descriptions, staff work plans, and regular staff trainings:
	2. Diversity, equity and inclusion in hiring and promotion:

	External Partnerships and Programs
	1. Tribal Engagement:
	2. Diversity, equity and inclusion in program selection design and implementation:
	3. Energy Justice in power procurement and energy resource development:
	4. Collaboration with CalCCA Environmental Justice and Equity Committee, and other external equity organizations:


	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	6.8 - 1 CAC At-Large Appointments
	Information
	Background
	Summary
	Equity Impacts
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	6.9 - 1 HBMWD RCEA Withdrawal
	Information
	Summary
	Background
	Equity Impacts
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	6.9 - 2 26.01.08 HBMWD Minutes
	6.10 - 1 NREN MOA staff report
	Information
	Background
	Summary
	Equity Impacts
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	6.10 - 2 NREN Amended and Restated MOA
	8.1 - 1 Sandrini fund staff report
	Information
	Background
	Summary
	Community Advisory Committee Input
	For Discussion

	Equity Impacts
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	9.1 Cost of Service and Rate Planning
	Information
	Summary
	Background
	Equity Impacts
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	9.2 - 1 CCP Hydrostor Willow Rock Procurement
	Information
	Summary
	Project Details

	Background
	About CC Power
	Contract Structure

	Equity Impacts
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	9.2 - 2 Willow Rock Resolution 2026-3
	9.3 - 1 WFIP Grant- Harbor District
	Information
	Background
	Summary
	Equity Impacts
	Alignment with RCEA’s Strategic Plan
	RCEA has several strategic goals and strategies (See sections 4.1.9 Power Resources: Offshore Wind) related to the development of offshore wind. These policies generally focus on local offshore wind development. Additionally, goal 4.1.5: Ensure Divers...
	Financial Impact
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachments

	9.3 - 2 HBHD-WFIP-Contract-Scope-RCEA
	I. TASK 1 GENERAL PROJECT TASKS
	II. TASK 2 Engagement
	III. TASK 3 Tribal Participation
	IV. TASK 4 Community Participation
	Subtask 4.1 Community Based Organization Participation

	V. TASK 5 Studies and Planning
	VI. TASK 6 Design and Mitigation Planning
	VII. Project Schedule

	9.3 - 3 HBHD Professional Services Template



